CIRCUIT DYNAMICS UNDERLYING CONTROL OF DOPAMINE NEURON ACTIVITY BY THE NUCLEUS REUNIENS OF THE MIDLINE THALAMUS

by

Eric Christopher Zimmerman

B.S., Neurobiology, University of Washington, 2010

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

the Kenneth P. Dietrich School of Arts and Sciences in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2017

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

Kenneth P. Dietrich School of Arts and Sciences

This dissertation was presented

by

Eric Christopher Zimmerman

It was defended on

July 27th, 2017

and approved by

Christoph Kellendonk, PhD

Anthony Grace, PhD

Susan Sesack, PhD

Robert Sweet, MD

David Volk, MD, PhD

Dissertation Advisor: Susanne Ahmari, MD, PhD

CIRCUIT DYNAMICS UNDERLYING CONTROL OF DOPAMINE NEURON ACTIVITY BY THE NUCLEUS REUNIENS OF THE MIDLINE THALAMUS

Eric Christopher Zimmerman, B.S.

University of Pittsburgh, 2017

Copyright © by Eric Christopher Zimmerman

2017

CIRCUIT DYNAMICS UNDERLYING CONTROL OF DOPAMINE NEURON ACTIVITY BY THE NUCLEUS REUNIENS OF THE MIDLINE THALAMUS

Eric Christopher Zimmerman, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2017

The circuitry mediating top-down control of dopamine (DA) neurons in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) is exceedingly complex. Characterizing these networks will be critical to our understanding of fundamental behaviors, such as motivation and reward processing, as well as several disease states. Previous work suggests that the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) exerts a profound influence on VTA DA neuron firing. Recently, our group reported that inhibition of the infralimbic subdivision of the medial prefrontal cortex (ilPFC) increases the proportion of VTA DA neurons that are spontaneously active (i.e., "population activity") and that this effect depends on activity in the ventral subiculum of the hippocampus (vSub). However, there is no direct projection from the mPFC to the vSub. Anatomical evidence suggests that communication between the two structures is mediated by the nucleus reuniens of the midline thalamus (RE). The work presented in this dissertation aims to determine if RE controls VTA DA neuron firing and to describe the circuits underlying ilPFC-RE communication. In Chapter 2, we present findings demonstrating that RE can drive VTA DA neuron firing by engaging vSub. In addition, we show that ilPFC opposes this effect, likely via input to RE in the form of feedforward inhibition from TRN. In Chapter 3, we present findings that characterize the diverse array of RE neuron firing patterns in an intact preparation and describe the circuit dynamics underlying projections from ilPFC to RE. These studies suggest that ilPFC exerts control of RE neuron firing pattern through direct, monosynaptic connections

and via the thalamic reticular nucleus (TRN). Overall, the studies described in this dissertation reveal a novel role for a corticothalamic circuit including the ilPFC, RE, and vSub in controlling VTA DA neuron firing and confirm that corticothalamic input from ilPFC to RE can modulate RE neuron firing pattern in nuanced and complex ways. In addition, these findings provide a plausible circuit basis for various behavioral phenomena observed in schizophrenia, and could help inform the development of novel treatments.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES viii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS ix
PREFACE xi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS xii
1.0 GENERAL INTRODUCTION 1
1.1 SYSTEMS NEUROSCIENCE AND TRANSLATIONAL PSYCHIATRY
1.2 THE DOPAMINE SYSTEM: INTRINSIC PROPERTIES AND AFFERENT REGULATION
1.3 THE THALAMUS: GENERAL CONCEPTS AND THE NUCLEUS REUNIENS
1.4 THE CIRCUITRY OF SCHIZOPHRENIA: INVOLVEMENT OF DOPAMINE, HIPPOCAMPUS, AND THALAMUS16
1.5 PURPOSE OF STUDIES 21
2.0 THE NUCLEUS REUNIENS OF THE MIDLINE THALAMUS GATES PREFRONTAL-HIPPOCAMPAL MODULATION OF VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPAMINE NEURON ACTIVITY
2.1 INTRODUCTION
2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 24
2.3 RESULTS
2.4 DISCUSSION
3.0 PREFRONTAL INPUTS TO THE NUCLEUS REUNIENS OF THE MIDLINE THALAMUS MODULATE FIRING PATTERN VIA PARALELL CORTICOTHALAMIC PATHWAYS
3.1 INTRODUCTION
3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 45

3.3 RESULTS
3.4 DISCUSSION
4.0 GENERAL DISCUSSION
4.1 SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 74
4.2 CONTROL OF DOPAMINE NEURON FIRING BY DISTRIBUTED NETWORKS
4.3 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORTICOTHALAMIC COMMUNICATION IN NUCLEUS REUNIENS AND THALAMUS IN GENERAL
4.4 TECHNICAL CONSIDERATIONS AND LIMITATIONS
4.5 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF SCHIZOPHRENIA 87
BIBLIOGRAPHY

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1: Afferent control of dopamine neuron firing
Figure 1-2: Anatomically defined pathways of cortico-thalamo-hippocampal communication in
the rodent
Figure 2-1: Activation of RE produced an enhancement of VTA DA neuron population activity.
Figure 2-2: Activation of RE increased amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion
Figure 2-3: Enhanced VTA DA neuron population activity following RE activation was prevented
by inhibition of vSub
Figure 2-4: Enhanced VTA DA neuron population activity following ilPFC inactivation was
prevented by inhibition of RE
Figure 3-1: Baseline firing properties of RE neurons
Figure 3-2: Inhibition of ilPFC reduces burst firing in RE neurons
Figure 3-3: Electrical Stimulation of ilPFC induces burst firing and attenuates tonic firing in RE
neurons
Figure 3-4: TRN inhibition decreases the number of spontaneously active RE neurons
Figure 3-5: Histological validation of viral vector expression in ilPFC and RE
Figure 3-6: Inhibition of ilPFC terminals in RE enhances burst firing in RE neurons
Figure 4-1: Proposed circuit model for corticothalamic modulation of VTA DA neuron population
activity

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BOLD: blood-oxygen-level dependent

CBV: cerebral blood volume

CNO: clozapine-n-oxide

CS-: unpaired conditioned stimulus

CT-TC: a direct, monosynaptic projection from a cortical area onto thalamic cells (not TRN)

CT-TRN: a direct, monosynaptic projection from a cortical area onto TRN cells

DA: dopamine

DAT: presynaptic dopamine transporter

dCA1: dorsal CA1

DREADDs: designer receptors exclusively activated by designer drugs

DLPFC: dorsolateral prefrontal cortex

ilPFC: infralimbic prefrontal cortex

IPSPs: inhibitory postsynaptic potentials

LGN: lateral geniculate nucleus

MAM: methylazoxymethanol acetate

MD: mediodorsal thalamic nucleus

MGN: medial geniculate nucleus

mPFC: medial prefrontal cortex

NAc: nucleus accumbens

plPFC: prelimbic prefrontal cortex

PPTg: Pedunculopontine tegmentum

PV: parvalbumin

rCBF: regional cerebral blood flow

RE: nucleus reuniens

SLM: stratum lacunosum-moleculare

TC-TRN: a direct, monosynaptic projection from a thalamic area onto TRN cells

TRN: thalamic reticular nucleus

TRN-TC: a direct, monosynaptic projection from TRN onto thalamic cells

VBM: ventrobasal thalamic nucleus

vCA1: ventral CA1

vHipp: ventral hippocampus

VP: ventral pallidum

VPL/VPM: ventral posterolateral and ventral posteromedial thalamic nuclei

vSub: ventral subiculum

VTA: ventral tegmental area

ZI: zona incerta

PREFACE

The work presented herein is based on multiple manuscripts that are published or in preparation.

Chapter 2 is a modified version of:

Zimmerman EC, Grace AA (2016) The Nucleus Reuniens of the Midline Thalamus Gates Prefrontal-Hippocampal Modulation of Ventral Tegmental Area Dopamine Neuron Activity. J Neurosci 36:8977–8984.

Chapter 3 is a modified version of:

Zimmerman EC, Grace AA (2017) Prefrontal inputs to the nucleus reuniens of the midline thalamus modulate firing pattern via parallel corticothalamic pathways. *In submission*.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank my thesis mentor, Tony Grace. Throughout my time in the Pitt-CMU MSTP, Tony has been incredibly supportive, encouraging and kind. He has given me the freedom to choose my own projects and the patience to let me fail at them. It was a privilege to work with him, and I am proud and humbled to join his incredibly successful group of lab alumni.

I would also like to wholeheartedly thank the present and past members of my thesis committee: Susanne Ahmari, Bita Moghaddam, Susan Sesack, Rob Sweet, and David Volk. Not only did they generously give of their time and energy to learn my project and attend my committee meetings, they each contributed critical knowledge and expertise outside of these meetings – I could not have completed my thesis without their help. I would especially like to thank Christoph Kellendonk for generously traveling to Pittsburgh and giving of his time and energy to serve on my committee for my defense. Thank you also to my MSTP career advisor, Nathan Urban, for his invaluable advice and support.

The specific experiments in this dissertation would not have been possible without key input from individuals here and outside of the University of Pittsburgh, including Holly Moore, Robert Vertes, Elena Vazey, Pat Card, Karina Steren, Fabio Ferrarelli, Judith Pratt, John Lisman, John Huguenard, and Rob Kass. In addition, Joan Blaney, Patti Argenzio, Lisa Summe, Manjit Singh, Phuong Pham, and Justin Markuss each offered critical administrative support.

Of course, my success in graduate school would not have been possible without the training, camaraderie, and friendship of my present and past colleagues in the Grace lab. I would

especially like to thank Yijuan Du, Pauline Belujon, Katy Gill and Niki MacMurdo for the incredible amount of training and expertise they have passed on over the years. Their patience with me and devotion to my success from day one have been tremendous.

Josh Sturm, Annie Liu, Camilla Sturm, and Kaveh Ardalan deserve special recognition. My closest friends, they are able not only to problem solve and help with my work, but also to be truly empathic and know when and how to help me relax and unwind. They have anchored me at each and every step of my journey without fail and I am so incredibly grateful.

My parents, Carol Ann and Daniel Zimmerman, and my brother, Nathan, have been unfailingly, unconditionally, and uncompromisingly loving and supportive throughout my time in graduate school. They kept me grounded by reminding me of my capabilities when I needed it and celebrating my successes more heartily than I would sometimes allow myself.

To my wife, Carey Rieser: you more than anyone have been a source of strength, determination and comfort. I am so fortunate to be able to count on your help when I am doubtful, stressed, or worried, and to share with you my joyful, excited, and triumphant moments. I love you, and I am honored and proud to be your husband.

1.0 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 SYSTEMS NEUROSCIENCE AND TRANSLATIONAL PSYCHIATRY

Systems neuroscience approaches the study of the brain with the goal of describing large-scale functional interactions among broadly distributed networks. A fundamental motif of these interactions is the interplay between cortical and subcortical structures. While cortical areas are necessary for the most sophisticated functions of the mammalian brain, it is becoming clear that subcortical structures offer a critical contribution. The dopamine (DA) system of the ventral midbrain has received much attention in this regard. DA neurons send widespread, but anatomically and functionally discreet, projections throughout the brain. These neurons are incorporated into diverse networks comprised of other cortical and subcortical structures that underlie myriad complex behaviors.

The DA system is also heavily implicated in several disease states, one of the most prominent of which is schizophrenia. The efficacy of antipsychotic medications used to treat schizophrenia depends on their antagonism of DA receptors. However, the usefulness of these medications is greatly diminished by their side effect profile, relatively low effectiveness, and problems with adherence, highlighting a need for mechanistically novel treatments. To this end, a large body of work from our group and others has focused on characterizing the firing properties of DA neurons and the afferent regions controlling their output using rodents. Rodents provide a rich toolbox of circuit-based techniques that allow for measurement and manipulation of neural activity with great spatial and temporal precision. The translational value of rodent work lies in the ability to provide detailed information about circuits that might be applicable to higher species, and to "model" the possible ways in which disrupted circuit dynamics could underlie pathology in humans. The goal of the present work was to gain a better understanding of large-scale functional interactions involving the DA system and how these may be disrupted in schizophrenia. Here we investigate the control of DA neuron activity by a cortico-thalamo-hippocampal network centered on the nucleus reuniens of the midline thalamus (RE). In addition, we explore how cortical input modulates firing properties of RE neurons. Our findings help to explain how previously identified circuit alterations in schizophrenia could lead to symptoms and may inform the development of novel treatments.

1.2 THE DOPAMINE SYSTEM: INTRINSIC PROPERTIES AND AFFERENT REGULATION

1.2.1 *Firing Pattern in Dopamine Neurons of the Rodent Ventral Midbrain.* The majority of DA neurons of the mammalian ventral midbrain are divided into the A8, A9, and A10 cell groups (Yetnikoff et al., 2014). In rodents, the more medial A10 group occupies the ventral tegmental area (VTA), while the more lateral A9 group occupies the substantia nigra pars compacta (SN). In primates, the VTA has regressed and is largely replaced by the limbic-related dorsal tier of the SN. The motor-related functions of the SN in primate are preserved in its ventral tier (Haber and Calzavara, 2009; Haber, 2014). From this point forward we will focus on the intrinsic properties and afferent connections of DA neurons in the rodent VTA (A10), many of which are preserved in the primate brain (Fabre et al., 1983; Schultz, 2007).

The firing patterns of DA neurons can be classified into one of three categories: 1) inactive, 2) tonic, and 3) burst (Fig. 1-1). In the rodent VTA under baseline conditions approximately 50%



Figure 1-1: Afferent control of dopamine neuron firing.

In awake and anesthetized rats, approximately half of mesencephalic VTA DA neurons are firing spontaneously and exhibit two primary firing patterns: tonic firing and burst firing. Tonic firing is driven by intracellular pacemaker potentials. Burst firing is driven by glutamatergic input from the PPTg. It is critical to note that DA neurons that are not spontaneously active cannot fire bursts. Thus, the functional output of the DA system is primarily determined by the proportion of VTA DA neurons that are spontaneously active (i.e. population activity). Population activity is controlled by a circuit involving the vSub, NAc, and VP. Pharmacological excitation of vSub, via NAc and VP, leads to disinhibition of VTA DA neurons, increased population activity, and enhanced DA release in NAc.

of DA neurons are inactive, i.e. firing no action potentials (Freeman and Bunney, 1987). Inactive DA neurons are held in a prolonged hyperpolarized state by a constant barrage of inhibitory postsynaptic potentials (IPSPs) arising from the ventral pallidum (VP; Grace and Bunney, 1985), which fires at a consistent, high firing rate in the baseline state (Maslowski-Cobuzzi and Napier, 1994). Those DA neurons receiving relatively less VP input at any given time can fire in either tonic or burst mode. The tonic mode is defined by the presence of single spikes fired at 2-10 hz with irregular interspike intervals (Grace and Bunney, 1984a), and is driven by a pacemaker potential with contributions from a diverse complement of ion channel conductances (Grace and Onn, 1989). The burst mode is defined by the presence of a series of 2-10 action potentials fired in quick succession, typically exhibiting a 40-80 msec (i.e ~25 hz firing rate) interspike interval (Grace and Bunney, 1984b). Bursting is driven by glutamatergic afferent input and is considered to be the behaviorally-relevant output of the DA system, because DA neurons fire bursts at very short latency when an organism is presented with a salient stimulus (Schultz, 2007; Brischoux et al., 2009; Ungless et al., 2010; Grace, 2016).

The firing pattern of DA neurons determines the nature of DA release in efferent targets of the VTA. These downstream regions include the reward-related nucleus accumbens (NAc) and ventral striatum, the associative striatum, and the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), along with the amygdala, ventral hippocampus (vHipp), and subthalamic nucleus, among many others (Sesack and Grace, 2010; Beier et al., 2015). The magnitude of tonic firing in the VTA is determined by the proportion of spikes fired in tonic mode, as well as the proportion of DA neurons that are spontaneously active. These two parameters of tonic firing set the extrasynaptic levels of DA in target regions (~10nM range at baseline in the striatum), which changes over the course of minutes to hours and is regulated by enzymatic degradation (Floresco et al., 2003). In contrast, phasic bouts

of burst firing can raise the intrasynaptic concentration of DA to the low-mM range (Garris and Wightman, 1994), which is quickly attenuated and prevented from reaching the extrasynaptic space by the presynaptic dopamine transporter (DAT; Floresco et al., 2003). It is important to note that the level of expression of DAT varies across brain areas in mammals (Garris and Wightman, 1994; Sesack et al., 1998). Tonic and burst firing, by virtue of having dramatically different effects on the DA tone of VTA output regions, also modulate the function of these regions in different ways. Taking the striatum as an example, tonic firing is likely to affect a wider area of tissue that includes extrasynaptic targets, whereas phasic bursts might impact a more restricted population of postsynaptic neurons. DA tone can also differentially modulate the integration of inputs to the NAc (Goto and Grace, 2005). Therefore, DA neuron firing pattern is a primary determinant of the manner in which DA influences signaling in downstream structures.

1.2.2 Afferent Control of Firing Pattern. The firing pattern of DA neurons is heavily impacted by afferent input from a variety of brain regions (Fig. 1-1). Burst firing in VTA DA neurons is induced by depolarization: stimulation of glutamatergic inputs or direct application of glutamate in vivo both enhance bursting (Grace and Bunney, 1984b; Chergui et al., 1994; Floresco et al., 2003). The primary region that drives burst firing is the pedunculopontine tegmentum (PPTg), which sends monosynaptic glutamatergic and acetylcholinergic projections to the VTA (Lokwan et al., 1999; Floresco et al., 2003; Pan and Hyland, 2005). The PPTg receives diverse afferent input and acts as nexus for behavioral-relevant signals from the mPFC, amygdala, and sensory areas (Mori et al., 2016). In addition, the laterodorsal tegmentum (LDTg) has been identified as a region that gates burst firing, likely via projections onto intrinsic VTA GABAergic neurons or by altering cholinergic signaling within the VTA (Lodge and Grace, 2006a).

Although burst firing can be driven in DA neurons by glutamate application, it has been shown that glutamate promotes bursting by binding specifically to NMDA receptors: bursting is prevented by iontophoretic application of AP-5, but not CNQX (Overton and Clark, 1992; Chergui et al., 1993). At hyperpolarized membrane potentials ionic conductance in NMDA receptors is prevented by a membrane potential-dependent Mg2+ block (McBain and Mayer, 1994). This tethers the burst firing propensity of DA neurons to their membrane potential, allowing for modulation by inhibitory inputs. Previous studies have shown that while electrical stimulation of PTTg was sufficient to drive bursting in DA neurons, simultaneous reduction of VP activity during stimulation led to a multiplicative increase in bursting (Lodge and Grace, 2006b). Therefore, inhibitory input from the VP, through control of VTA DA neuron membrane potential, determines the amplitude of the burst firing-dependent, phasic DA signal. Said differently, DA neurons that are not spontaneously active cannot burst. Critically, this enables VP to set the gain of phasic DA system output by controlling the number of spontaneously active DA neurons.

The central role of VP in controlling DA neuron firing makes it critical to understand the afferent circuitry regulating tonic DA tone upstream of VP. To quantify the tonic output of the VTA, our group uses an electrophysiological protocol that measures the number of spontaneously active neurons encountered in a predetermined series of vertical passes through the VTA with a glass recording electrode. This method shows high inter-subject reliability and provides an estimate of the proportion of DA neurons that are spontaneously active, which we call "population activity." Population activity serves as a quantitative readout of the gain of the DA system, based on the mechanisms described above. Several studies from our group and others have demonstrated that VTA DA neuron population activity is regulated by a circuit involving the ventral subiculum of the hippocampus (vSub), the NAc, and the VP (For review see Grace, 2016). Stimulation of

vSub drives feedforward inhibition from NAc onto VP, enhancing VTA DA neuron population activity and DA release in the NAc (Floresco et al., 2003). The control of population activity by this circuitry has been well-characterized and implicated in a wide variety of behavioral paradigms (Lodge and Grace, 2007; Chang and Grace, 2014; Belujon et al., 2016; Grace, 2016).

Recent findings suggest that additional areas are involved in the control of VTA DA neuron population activity. Previous studies have shown that manipulations of the mPFC, comprised of the infralimbic (iIPFC), prelimbic (pIPFC), and anterior cingulate (ACC) subdivisions in rodents, can modulate DA tone in the striatum (Karreman and Moghaddam, 1996; Finlay and Zigmond, 1997; Jackson et al., 2001). However, the circuit mechanisms underlying this modulation have not been fully described. mPFC neurons send monosynaptic projections to the VTA, but these fibers preferentially target DA neurons and long-range GABAergic projection neurons that then project back to cortex, and do not collateralize to striatum (Loughlin and Fallon, 1984; Carr and Sesack, 2000a; 2000b). More recent findings characterizing how mPFC modulates VTA output are inconsistent and difficult to compare owing to differences in methodology (Moorman and Aston-Jones, 2010; Butts et al., 2011; Lodge, 2011; Jo et al., 2013; Ferenczi et al., 2016). However, our group has demonstrated that mPFC can control VTA DA neuron population activity (Patton et al., 2013; Moreines et al., 2017). We have shown that stimulation of the pIPFC has no effect on DA neuron firing, while inhibition moderately decreases population activity. In contrast, manipulation of ilPFC exerts bidirectional effects: stimulation of ilPFC decreases population activity in a BLAdependent manner, while inhibition of ilPFC enhances population activity in a vSub-dependent manner.

In summary, the studies reviewed here have elegantly dissected circuits controlling VTA DA neuron firing and therefore DA tone in VTA output regions. From these studies it is clear that

afferents to the VTA are critical in gating DA signaling across diverse temporal and behavioral scales. That said, the importance of many known afferents to the VTA have not been explored (Watabe-Uchida et al., 2012; Beier et al., 2015) and new regions that impact DA neuron firing are still being identified (Hikosaka, 2010; Barrot et al., 2012; Lecca et al., 2012; Moreines et al., 2017). Even more daunting is the task of describing regulation of VTA neuron firing as one component of large-scale networks (Ferenczi et al., 2016; Lohani et al., 2016; Decot et al., 2017). The present work offers a novel contribution to this effort. Based on our previous findings (Patton et al., 2013), we focus on the ilPFC specifically and describe a corticothalamic circuit that modulates VTA DA neuron population activity via the hippocampus.

1.3 THE THALAMUS: GENERAL CONCEPTS AND THE NUCLEUS REUNIENS

1.3.1 *Emerging Themes of Thalamic Function.* The thalamus has long been recognized for its role in relaying sensory information from the periphery to the neocortex (Bishop et al., 1962; Harrison and Warr, 1962; Guillery, 1967). The ascending visual pathway, comprised of retinal inputs to the lateral geniculate nucleus (LGN) and LGN inputs to V1, is a prototypical sensory circuit mediated by a thalamic relay (Sherman and Guillery, 2001; Wurtz, 2009). LGN is a prime example of a "first-order" thalamic nucleus, others of which include the medial geniculate nucleus (MGN) of the auditory system (Bartlett, 2013) and the ventral posterior nuclei (VPL/VPM) of the somatosensory system (Petersen, 2007). First-order thalamic nuclei receive the majority of their input from the periphery and engage in minimal processing of this information. In the case of the visual system, LGN cells exhibit receptive field properties that closely resemble those in the retina (Sherman, 1996), as would be expected of a relatively simple relay nucleus. First-order nuclei are well-studied and traditionally viewed as exemplars of thalamic function.

However, the thalamus is comprised of over 20 distinct subnuclei with diverse functions well beyond sensory relay from the periphery. Indeed, the participation of the thalamus in sophisticated information processing is becoming increasingly recognized (Sherman, 2016). In particular, a second category of thalamic nuclei termed "higher-order" nuclei have been shown to receive relatively little input from the periphery and instead appear to mediate information transfer between cortical areas (Mitchell et al., 2014; Saalmann, 2014). For example, inputs from the mediodorsal nucleus (MD) to the mPFC help to maintain sustained activity through the delay period of a spatial working memory task (Bolkan et al., 2017), while the pulvinar nucleus has been shown to be critical for modulating synchrony between cortical areas during attention in the delay period of a visuospatial attention task (Saalmann et al., 2012). These findings and others suggest that "transthalamic" connections between cortical areas mediated by higher-order thalamic nuclei could provide a gating function and additional pathways for information processing (Saalmann, 2014), which would make higher-order nuclei fundamentally distinct from first-order nuclei. Despite this, the properties of higher-order thalamic nuclei are much less-well characterized compared to first-order nuclei.

First-order and higher-order thalamic nuclei also differ in how their function is influenced by cortical input (Sherman, 2016). Cortical inputs to thalamus arise from layers 5/6 and consist of monosynaptic projections directly onto thalamic cells, as well as disynaptic feedforward-inhibitory projections via the thalamic reticular nucleus (TRN; see below). In first-order nuclei of sensory systems cortical input has been shown to primarily influence how information is relayed from the periphery, e.g. by shaping receptive fields (Eyding et al., 2003; Li and Ebner, 2007), enhancing sensory gain (Przybyszewski et al., 2000) and/or affecting attentional processes (Wimmer et al., 2015). In contrast, cortical inputs to higher-order nuclei likely provide not only a source of information to be conveyed to another cortical area, but also a modulatory influence on the transfer of that information (Saalmann, 2014). Therefore, cortical input to higher-order nuclei is likely to be different from cortical input to first-order nuclei in both function and circuit physiology. However, the physiology of cortical feedback to both first-order and higher-order thalamic nuclei is not well studied.

1.3.2 The Thalamic Reticular Nucleus and Thalamic Bursting. Inhibitory tone in the mammalian thalamus is provided primarily by afferent inputs, the most prominent of which is the TRN (Pinault, 2004; Halassa and Acsády, 2016). This is underscored by the fact that intrinsic GABAergic interneurons are absent in the rodent thalamus (except in LGN; Sherman, 2004) and are sparse in humans (Arcelli et al., 1997). Functionally, the TRN has traditionally been viewed as a low-resolution modulator of arousal and attention based on the "searchlight hypothesis" famously advanced by Francis Crick (Crick, 1984). However, the TRN is topographically organized based on cortical afferents and thalamic projection targets (Crabtree, 1992; Pinault, 2004), and recent studies have demonstrated that it is involved in the precise modulation of myriad awake behaviors and large-scale rhythmic interactions between disparate brain regions (Blumenfeld and McCormick, 2000; Halassa et al., 2014; Wimmer et al., 2015; Clemente-Perez et al., 2017). Critically, the cortex is a primary driver of TRN and the majority of cortical input to thalamus is via feedforward inhibition from TRN (Golshani et al., 2001; Paz et al., 2011). Despite the existence of monosynaptic corticothalamic projections, the predominance of TRN input is facilitated by the higher synaptic strength of the cortico-TRN synapse and the variable conduction velocity of corticothalamic axons (Swadlow and Weyand, 1987; Paz et al., 2011).

The primary influence of TRN on thalamic nuclei is on membrane potential and firing pattern. Specifically, TRN drives burst firing in thalamic neurons (Halassa et al., 2011). This effect is mediated by the dense, ubiquitous somatic and dendritic expression of T-type calcium channels (Cav3 family, CACNA1 gene) whose physiology in the thalamus has been well-characterized (Sherman and Guillery, 2001). These channels exhibit qualitatively similar kinetics to the voltagegated sodium channel: sufficient membrane depolarization opens the activation gate, permitting an inward calcium current (I_T) that leads to a propagating, all-or-none spike known as the "lowthreshold spike." However, a key distinguishing feature of these channels is that they inactivate upon even slight (~5mV) depolarization from rest. This makes the firing pattern of thalamic neurons heavily dependent on membrane potential. If a suprathreshold depolarization arrives at a thalamic neuron that is already slightly depolarized (e.g. -59mV), T-type calcium channels will be inactivated and therefore no low-threshold spike will occur, resulting in a tonic series of single action potentials. In contrast, if the same suprathreshold depolarization arrives at a thalamic neuron that is already slightly hyperpolarized (e.g. -70mV), T-type calcium channels will be deinactivated and the ensuing I_T current will generate a low-threshold spike, causing a burst of 2-9, high-frequency (>250 hz) action potentials. The amplitude of the low-threshold spike will also determine the number of spikes fired within any given burst (Zhan et al., 1999).

Thus, hyperpolarization in thalamic neurons enhances the propensity for burst firing, positioning the TRN as a key modulator of thalamic neuron firing pattern. However, the function of burst firing in the thalamus is not completely understood. Thalamic bursting has traditionally been associated with sleep or other unconscious states (Steriade et al., 1993) and theorized to play relatively little role in conscious brain function (Steriade, 2001). In sensory systems, bursting has been described as a "wake-up" call to cortex (Sherman, 2001a) based on the idea that in the awake

state, sensory stimuli driving burst firing in first-order thalamic nuclei likely engages cortical circuits more strongly than tonic firing. However, this conceptualization is only supported by a handful of studies (Swadlow and Gusev, 2001; Ortuño et al., 2014; Hu and Agmon, 2016). In addition, burst firing in higher-order thalamic relays is not well-studied (Ramcharan et al., 2005) and is likely to have a nuanced and multifaceted impact on cortical function. Indeed, the concept of a sensory "wake-up" call does not translate to the transfer of information between cortical areas mediated by higher-order nuclei.

1.3.3 *The Nucleus Reuniens*. Reciprocal communication between the mPFC and hippocampus has been shown to be critical for several domains of behavior (Vertes, 2006; Corcoran and Quirk, 2007; Ito et al., 2015; Spellman et al., 2015; Carreno et al., 2016; Eichenbaum, 2017). Monosynaptic projections from vSub, the primary output region of the hippocampus, terminate in the mPFC onto pyramidal neurons and interneurons (Gabbott et al., 2002; Hoover and Vertes, 2007). In contrast, reciprocal monosynaptic connections from mPFC to hippocampus are sparse (Vertes, 2003). The mPFC projects to the lateral entorhinal and perirhinal cortices, and a projection from dorsal ACC to CA1 and CA3 has recently been described (Rajasethupathy et al., 2015). However, it is likely that much of the information transfer from mPFC to hippocampus occurs through indirect, polysynaptic pathways.

One potential relay between the mPFC and hippocampus that has recently garnered increased attention is the RE (Fig. 1-2). RE is a higher-order thalamic nucleus whose dense, reciprocal connections with mPFC and hippocampus have been thoroughly described in anatomical tracing studies (Wouterlood et al., 1990; Vertes, 2002; McKenna and Vertes, 2004;

12



Figure 1-2: Anatomically defined pathways of cortico-thalamo-hippocampal communication in the rodent.

Anatomical tracing studies have demonstrated that RE is positioned to act as a primary relay between the mPFC, including pIPFC and iIPFC, and the hippocampus. Projections from RE to the hippocampus are excitatory (triangular arrowheads) and target dorsal and ventral CA1 and subiculum, with the densest projection being to the vHipp. Corticothalamic projections to thalamus give off en passant collaterals to TRN before continuing on to their thalamic targets. These projections are reciprocated by thalamocortical efferents that are organized in the same fashion. Note the larger synaptic strength of the cortico-TRN collaterals as compared to the cortico-RE synapses (demonstrated experimentally in other corticothalamic projections but not RE). TRN inputs to the thalamus are GABAergic (flat-headed arrowheads). Vertes et al., 2006; Çavdar et al., 2008; Hoover and Vertes, 2012; Xu and Südhof, 2013; Varela et al., 2014). RE sends a glutamatergic projection to the dorsal and ventral hippocampus that innervates the stratum lacunosum-moleculare (SLM) of CA1 and the molecular layer of vSub. This projection is the densest to the hippocampus from any thalamic nucleus and is biased towards the vHipp: ten times as many fibers from RE project to vHipp compared to dorsal hippocampus (Vertes et al., 2006). Fibers from RE also distribute throughout the mPFC, including projections to layers 1 and 5/6. In turn, RE receives reciprocal connections from vSub and mPFC, both of which also send collaterals to RE-projecting regions of TRN (Çavdar et al., 2008). Despite having relatively restricted efferent projections RE receives afferent input from several structures including the claustrum, lateral septum, preoptic area, and hypothalamus, as well as various brainstem nuclei including the VTA and dorsal raphe (McKenna and Vertes, 2004). The cortical and hippocampal connections of RE are roughly preserved in primates (See *"Technical Considerations and Limitations"*).

Behavioral studies have shown that RE is involved in a variety of behaviors known to require communication between mPFC and hippocampus, including spatial navigation (Davoodi et al., 2011; Cassel et al., 2013; Jankowski et al., 2014; Ito et al., 2015), working memory (Cholvin et al., 2013; Duan et al., 2015; Jin and Maren, 2015; Layfield et al., 2015; Linley et al., 2016; Prasad et al., 2017), fear learning (Xu and Südhof, 2013; Jin et al., 2015; Sierra et al., 2017; Vetere et al., 2017), and mood regulation (Kafetzopoulos et al., 2017). Recordings performed in awake, behaving animals have shown that RE contains head-direction cells (Jankowski et al., 2014) and can encode the intended direction of movement (Ito et al., 2015). In addition, lesion or transient inhibition of RE impairs performance on spatial working memory tasks (Cholvin et al., 2013; Layfield et al., 2015), e.g. delayed alternation (Hallock et al., 2016). In fear learning paradigms,

RE lesion or transient inhibition does not impair task acquisition, but affects the consolidation and retrieval of memories (Xu and Südhof, 2013; Jin et al., 2015; Vetere et al., 2017). Taken together, these findings suggest that RE facilitates information transfer from mPFC to hippocampus during ongoing behavior and during systems-level consolidation.

In contrast to the anatomical and behavioral studies outlined above, circuit-based electrophysiological studies of RE are sparse. The effects of manipulating RE neuron firing on target structures have been examined in a small number of studies. RE stimulation leads to excitatory responses in both hippocampus and cortex, and engages both pyramidal neurons and interneurons (Dolleman-Van der Weel et al., 1997; Di Prisco and Vertes, 2006; Morales et al., 2007; Dolleman-Van der Weel et al., 2016). Consistent with the effects of stimulation, RE inactivation reduces firing rates in mPFC and dorsal CA1 (dCA1) in awake animals (Ito et al., 2015; Hallock et al., 2016). In addition, RE has been shown to mediate various aspects of oscillatory communication between mPFC and hippocampus (Ito et al., 2015; Hallock et al., 2017; Roy et al., 2017). These studies are somewhat difficult to compare owing to methodological differences, but broadly suggest that RE is necessary for maintaining coherence and synchrony between mPFC and hippocampus across multiple frequency bands at rest and during task performance.

In summary, RE is a higher-order thalamic nucleus that is anatomically positioned to function as a relay between the mPFC and hippocampus. Similar to other higher-order thalamic nuclei, RE likely provides an additional node of information processing that integrates input from afferent structures to shape communication between two or more cortical areas. However, RE is likely to be distinct from other higher-order nuclei given the unique structure and function of the hippocampus compared to other areas of cortex. Several questions remain about RE. To date, no

studies have examined the impact of manipulating afferent inputs, including TRN, on RE neuron firing. Many of the behavioral studies of RE have not assessed the causal involvement of the circuits underlying the effects they report, including the impact of TRN. In addition, those studies that have assessed the causal involvement of RE in behavior using electrophysiological recordings and/or projection-specific manipulations have focused almost entirely on RE projections to the dorsal hippocampus (Duan et al., 2015; Ito et al., 2015; Hallock et al., 2016), despite the fact that projections from RE to the vHipp are denser and likely just as critical. Therefore, the studies described in this dissertation were designed to expand what is known about the function of RE projections to vHipp and dissect the circuit dynamics of corticothalamic inputs to RE.

1.4 THE CIRCUITRY OF SCHIZOPHRENIA: INVOLVEMENT OF DOPAMINE, HIPPOCAMPUS, AND THALAMUS

Schizophrenia is a prevalent, often life-long mental illness characterized by symptoms currently categorized as positive, negative and cognitive (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The disease is typically associated with the syndrome of psychosis, which most commonly presents with delusions and hallucinations (Kapur, 2003). However, the symptoms of schizophrenia are heterogeneous between patients, can change over the course of the illness, and are difficult to treat (Millan et al., 2016; Heilbronner et al., 2016b). Therefore, recent studies have focused on describing neurobiological phenomena associated with the diagnosis of schizophrenia, specific symptom dimensions, or specific behavioral alterations (Cuthbert and Insel, 2010; Bolkan et al., 2016). A major motivation for the studies in this dissertation was to describe circuit dynamics in rodent models that could potentially underlie neurobiological phenomena observed in patients. We

briefly review relevant clinical findings below, in order to provide a background for the design and implications of our studies.

1.4.1 *Dopamine*. Striatal hyperdopaminergia is the most widely recognized neurobiological feature of schizophrenia (Laruelle and Abi-Dargham, 1999; Howes et al., 2007; Howes and Kapur, 2009). Enhanced presynaptic DA function in the striatum, particularly in the associative striatum, is strongly associated with the psychotic symptoms of the disorder (Weinstein et al., 2017). The magnitude of DA release and severity of symptoms within a psychotic episode are correlated (Laruelle et al., 1999; Abi-Dargham et al., 2000) and drugs that induce DA release can worsen psychotic symptoms in schizophrenia patients (Janowsky et al., 1973). A hyperdopaminergic phenotype can also predict conversion to psychosis, as increased DA synthesis capacity is seen only in those ultra high-risk individuals who go on to develop the disease (Allen et al., 2012; Egerton et al., 2013). In addition, the efficacy of antipsychotic medications in treating psychotic symptoms depends on their affinity for DA receptors (Howes and Kapur, 2009). While these findings are compelling, there is little evidence for dysfunction of the DA system itself in schizophrenia (van Kammen et al., 1986; Grace, 2012a), suggesting that DA hyper-responsivity is the result of circuit dysfunction in other brain areas (Grace, 2016).

1.4.2 *The Hippocampus*. Hippocampal pathology is a well-established feature of schizophrenia (Bogerts et al., 1985; Heckers and Konradi, 2010; Konradi et al., 2011). The most consistent postmortem findings in patients are decreased GAD67 mRNA in CA2/CA3 (Benes et al., 2007) and decreased parvalbumin (PV)-positive interneuron number throughout the hippocampus (Benes and Berretta, 2001; Zhang and Reynolds, 2002; Do et al., 2015). Structural imaging studies report

decreased whole hippocampal volume with large (i.e. 0.4-0.8) effect size that is present in firstepisode patients and first-degree relatives, and worsens over the course of the disease (Chakos et al., 2005; Adriano et al., 2011). Reduced hippocampal volume has in many cases been shown to be more severe in the anterior hippocampus, but this finding is not entirely consistent across studies (Heckers and Konradi, 2010).

Functional imaging studies of the hippocampus in patients with schizophrenia report enhanced regional cerebral blood flow (rCBF) in whole hippocampus that is normalized by antipsychotic treatment (Medoff et al., 2001; Malaspina et al., 2004), as well as enhanced cerebral blood volume (CBV) that is greater in anterior hippocampus (Talati et al., 2014) and specific to CA1 (Schobel et al., 2013). In addition, reduced resting-state functional connectivity between the hippocampus and several areas in the default mode network has been reported (Zhou et al., 2008; but see McHugo et al., 2015). Intriguingly, reduced functional connectivity between the anterior hippocampus and the ACC/mPFC and thalamus has been reported in a sample of psychotic patients spanning diagnostic categories (Samudra et al., 2015). Finally, task-related functional imaging studies have reported negative coupling of prefrontal regions and the hippocampus during working memory and reduced engagement of the hippocampus during memory retrieval with a concomitant increased activation of cortical regions (Meyer-Lindenberg et al., 2005; Weiss et al., 2006; Rasetti et al., 2014). Taken together, these studies show that the hippocampus in schizophrenia is hyperactive, a phenomenon that is developmental in origin and that could represent a primary etiologic driver in the disease.

1.4.3 *The Thalamus* The thalamus has long been considered as a potential node of dysfunction in schizophrenia (McGhie and Chapman, 1961), but only recently has progress been made in

describing the neurobiology that may underlie this role. Specifically, the anterior, midline, and MD nuclei of the thalamus have garnered increased attention due to their interconnections with the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex across species (see *"Technical Considerations and Limitations"*). Initial postmortem studies in patients with schizophrenia reported a decrease in both size and cell number in the whole thalamus, as well as the anterior and MD nuclei specifically (Pakkenberg, 1990; Young et al., 2000). However, results from further studies proved inconsistent (Dorph-Petersen and Lewis, 2017). More consistent are structural imaging studies of the thalamus, the majority of which report reduced whole thalamus grey matter volume and volume reductions in the anterior, midline, and MD nuclei specifically (Pergola et al., 2015). These reductions are also seen in individuals at both clinical high risk and familial high risk for schizophrenia (Harrisberger et al., 2016; Pergola et al., 2017).

Unlike the hippocampus, studies of intrinsic, resting-state activity of the thalamus in schizophrenia patients are small in number and inconsistent, especially with respect to thalamic subnuclei (Théberge et al., 2002; Kühn and Gallinat, 2013). However, task-related functional imaging studies demonstrate increased thalamic activity in patients performing a sensorimotor gating task (Tregellas et al., 2007a) and in those reporting hallucinations (Silbersweig et al., 1995), as well as decreased thalamic activation during working memory and episodic memory tasks in MD and the anterior nuclei (Andrews et al., 2006; Minzenberg et al., 2009). In addition, differences in resting-state functional connectivity between thalamus and hippocampus/prefrontal cortex have been reported: patients with schizophrenia exhibit hyperconnectivity between anterior, midline, and MD nuclei and sensory cortices, but hypoconnectivity between these nuclei and prefrontal regions (Anticevic et al., 2014; Woodward and Heckers, 2016). This finding is present in clinical

high risk populations, first-episode subjects, and predicts conversion to psychosis (Woodward et al., 2012; Anticevic et al., 2015a).

Alterations in the structure and function of the TRN have also been described in patients with schizophrenia. Postmortem studies have demonstrated reduced SST mRNA expression and enhanced excitatory amino acid transporter mRNA expression in the TRN of patients with schizophrenia compared to controls (Smith et al., 2001; Burgess et al., 2016). A reduction in sleep spindles, rhythmic events characteristic of slow-wave sleep and driven primarily by TRN, has been consistently observed in patients with schizophrenia, including first-episode and non-medicated populations (Ferrarelli and Tononi, 2011; 2017). It should be noted that functional imaging studies of the TRN are lacking due to its small size and unusual shape. However, one functional imaging study reported decreased thalamic blood-oxygen-level dependent (BOLD) response to transcranial magnetic stimulation of cortex in patients, which implies less effective cortical feedback and TRN engagement (Guller et al., 2012).

In summary, these findings demonstrate that the diagnosis of schizophrenia and its associated symptoms are correlated with structural and functional alterations in several brain areas. While a hyperdopaminergic phenotype is the most well-established finding in the disease, DA neurons are incorporated into broad networks of dozens of interconnected brain regions. This and many other previous findings suggest that hyperdopaminergia in schizophrenia is simply one discrete, measurable outcome that is indicative of a brain-wide circuit dysfunction. This idea is also supported by the fact that negative and cognitive symptoms cannot be treated adequately with DA blockade (Lieberman et al., 2005; Crossley et al., 2010). Therefore, in the current work we examine upstream regions and circuits that are potentially involved in controlling DA system output, but could also drive pathophysiology on their own.

20

1.5 PURPOSE OF STUDIES

In this dissertation, we describe a series of studies that dissect the dynamics of the iIPFC-RE-vSub circuit and its impact on DA neuron firing in rodents. In Chapter 2, we investigate the role of RE in gating prefrontal-hippocmpal modulation of VTA DA neuron population activity. In Chapter 3, we describe how inputs from iIPFC modulate the firing pattern of RE neurons. Taken together, our findings provide a detailed circuit model that describes how disrupted corticothalamic communication in the limbic system could lead to DA system hyperactivity and behavioral deficits in psychiatric disease.

2.0 THE NUCLEUS REUNIENS OF THE MIDLINE THALAMUS GATES PREFRONTAL-HIPPOCAMPAL MODULATION OF VENTRAL TEGMENTAL AREA DOPAMINE NEURON ACTIVITY

2.1 INTRODUCTION

The afferent circuitry regulating the activity of dopamine (DA) neurons of the ventral midbrain, including the ventral tegmental area (VTA), is exceedingly complex (Sesack and Grace, 2010; Watabe-Uchida et al., 2012; Beier et al., 2015; Lerner et al., 2015). Although a number of regions project directly to the VTA, numerous studies have shown that there are complex multi-synaptic networks that potently impact DA neuron activity states (Floresco et al., 2003; Butts et al., 2011; Patton et al., 2013; Chang and Grace, 2014; Ferenczi et al., 2016). These circuits provide multiple sites of dynamic regulation and amplification of DA neuron output. Characterizing the mechanisms by which these afferent or "upstream" networks control DA neuron firing, and therefore DA tone in VTA output regions, will be fundamental to our understanding of complex behaviors such as motivation and reward processing, as well as several disease states.

We have previously characterized a circuit comprised of the ventral subiculum (vSub), nucleus accumbens (NAc), and ventral pallidum (VP), which potently influences DA system responsivity (Floresco et al., 2001; 2003; Lodge and Grace, 2007; Valenti et al., 2011). Stimulation of vSub, via NAc and VP, leads to disinhibition of VTA DA neurons, and an increase in the proportion of VTA DA neurons that are spontaneously active, i.e. "population activity." This effect is accompanied by DA release in the NAc (Floresco et al., 2003) and an increase in amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion (White et al., 2006), a behavioral correlate of DA system responsivity (Moore et al., 2001; Lodge and Grace, 2007; Gill et al., 2011; Valenti et al., 2011; Chang and Grace, 2013). Population activity is a key parameter of DA neuron firing, because DA neurons can only exhibit rapid, phasic, stimulus-driven burst firing (Grace and Bunney, 1984b) if they are

spontaneously active (Lodge and Grace, 2006b). Therefore, the vSub-NAc-VP circuit acts as a critical gain modulator of behaviorally-salient DA neuron outputs. In addition, this circuit controlling population activity has been shown to play essential roles in animal models of schizophrenia, depression, and drug abuse (Lodge and Grace, 2007; Chang and Grace, 2014; Belujon et al., 2016).

Hippocampal control of VTA DA neuron population activity is in turn potently modulated by the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC). Specifically, attenuation of activity in the infralimbic subdivision of the medial prefrontal cortex (ilPFC; but not the prelimbic subdivision) increases population activity, and this effect is dependent on the vSub (Patton et al., 2013). However, no direct projection exists between ilPFC and vSub (Laroche et al., 2000; Vertes, 2003). The nucleus reuniens of the midline thalamus (RE) forms an anatomical link between the mPFC and the hippocampus, sending a potent, glutamatergic projection to hippocampus (Herkenham, 1978; Vertes et al., 2006) that densely innervates the stratum lacunosum-moleculare of dorsal and ventral CA1, as well as the molecular layer of dorsal and ventral subiculum (Bokor et al., 2002; Vertes et al., 2006; Hoover and Vertes, 2012). Electrophysiological studies show that RE excites CA1 neurons (Dolleman-Van der Weel et al., 1997). Fibers from RE also distribute throughout layers 1 and 5/6 of the mPFC, including dense projections to ilPFC (Vertes et al., 2006). In turn, RE receives reciprocal connections from vSub and ilPFC, forming a functional network (McKenna and Vertes, 2004; Varela et al., 2014).

Given these rich interconnections between ilPFC, RE, and vSub, RE could play a role in the afferent control of VTA DA neuron activity. However, this possibility has not been evaluated experimentally. In the current study, we use in vivo, circuit-based electrophysiological and
behavioral approaches in rats to explore the role of RE in the descending cortical-subcortical circuitry governing VTA DA neuron firing.

2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals. All experiments were performed in accordance with the guidelines outlined in the USPHS Guide for Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of the University of Pittsburgh. All experiments were performed in adult (>PND 65) male Sprague Dawley rats (105 rats total; 300 g - 450 g).

Electrophysiology. Animals were anesthetized with an initial dose of chloral hydrate (Sigma; 400 mg/kg, i.p.) and were supplemented periodically (i.p.) to maintain suppression of the hindlimb withdrawal reflex. Rats were then placed in a stereotaxic frame (Kopf) and body temperature was maintained at 37°C with a temperature-controlled heating pad and rectal probe (Fintronics). In vivo, extracellular recordings were performed using single glass microelectrodes (WPI; impedance 6–8 MΩ) filled with a 2% Chicago Sky Blue (Sigma) solution in 2 M NaCl. This impedance ensures that we are able to clearly resolve the waveform from a single cell with a very high signal-to-noise ratio and without contamination from neighboring cells. Following a craniotomy, electrodes were lowered into the VTA in 9 sequential, vertical "tracks" at 0.2 mm intervals in a predetermined grid pattern in the x-y plane via hydraulic micropositioner (Kopf). Tracks began at the following coordinates from bregma/skull surface in mm: anteroposterior (AP) -5.3, mediolateral (ML) 0.6, dorsoventral (DV) -6.5 to -9, according to the Paxinos and Watson brain atlas (Paxinos and Watson, 2013), and sampled a block of tissue from AP: -5.3 to -5.7 and ML: 0.6 to 1.0, as previously described (Chang and Grace, 2014). Individual, putative DA neurons were recorded with open filter settings (low pass=10 Hz; high pass=16 kHz) enabling identification using well-established criteria, including 1) slow (2-10 Hz) irregular or bursting firing pattern, 2) long duration (>2.2 ms) biphasic action potential with initial segment-somatodendritic positive phase break, and 3) temporary inhibition of firing during tail or foot pinch (Grace and Bunney, 1983; Ungless and Grace, 2012). Three properties of identified DA neurons were measured: population activity, quantified as the average number of spontaneously active DA neurons per electrode track, i.e. "cells/track" (calculated for each rat), average firing rate, and percent of spikes occurring in bursts. Burst initiation was defined as the occurrence of two spikes with an interspike interval of 80 ms, and burst termination as the occurrence of an interspike interval of 160 ms, as previously described (Grace and Bunney, 1984b). Each neuron was recorded for at least 3 min, and given the typical ~4 hz firing rate of identified DA neurons (Grace and Bunney, 1983; Ungless and Grace, 2012), this resulted in ~720 spikes being included in the analysis of firing properties for each neuron.

Intracranial Infusions in Anesthetized Rats. Local infusions were performed in anesthetized animals immediately before VTA DA neuron recordings. Using the stereotaxic frame, a guide cannula (23 gauge) was placed above the ilPFC, RE, and/or vSub at the following coordinates from bregma/skull surface in mm: ilPFC (AP: +2.7, ML: 0.5, DV: -3.5), RE (AP: -2.2, ML: 2.3, DV: -7.2, 15° angle from vertical), vSub (AP: -5.5, ML: 4.8, DV: -7.1) according to the Paxinos and Watson brain atlas (Paxinos and Watson, 2013). Subsequently, an infusion cannula (33 gauge) was inserted into the guide cannula, extending 1 mm beyond the tip of the guide cannula. Pharmacological agents dissolved in Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline (dPBS; Sigma) or dPBS vehicle only were administered through the infusion cannula at a rate of 0.5 μ /min. The guide cannula was left in place for 3 min following infusions to allow for adequate

diffusion of drug. Drug doses were as follows for all experiments. ilPFC: TTX (1 M in 0.5 μl); RE: NMDA (0.75 μg in 0.2 μl), TTX (1 M in 0.2 μl); vSub: TTX (1 M in 0.5 μl).

Chemical stimulation was deliberately used to enable stable, long-duration neuronal excitation without the confounds associated with current spread, activation of fibers of passage, or potential lesions during extended electrical or optical stimulation. All pharmacological agents were injected at doses reported previously to induce specific behavioral and/or neurochemical effects (Lodge and Grace, 2007; Valenti et al., 2011; Patton et al., 2013). Rats received only one injection per region and DA cell recordings were typically performed from 10 min to 2.5 hr after infusions.

Survival surgery and cannula implantation for behavioral studies. All survival surgeries were performed under general anesthesia in a sterile environment. Briefly, rats were anesthetized with isoflurane (induction: 5%, maintenance: 1-3% in oxygen) and placed in a stereotaxic apparatus using blunt, atraumatic ear bars. Bilateral cannulae (23 gauge) were implanted in RE (coordinates from bregma/skull surface in mm: AP: -2.2, ML: 2.3, DV: -7.2, 15° angle from vertical) and fixed in place with dental cement and anchor screws. Once the cement was dry, antibiotic cream was applied to the wound edge (Neosporin), and the rat was removed from the stereotaxic frame and monitored closely until conscious. Rats received postoperative analgesia (Carpofen 5 mg/kg i.p. once per day for 72 hr and Tylenol syrup in softened rat chow 5% v/w available ad libitum for 72 hr) and were allowed to recover for at least one week before behavioral experiments.

Amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion. Following surgeries, rats were housed in a reverse light/dark cycle room (lights on 7:00PM to 7:00AM) for at least one week before behavioral experiments. Baseline locomotor activity and amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion were measured by beam breaks in the x–y plane of an open field arena (Coulborn) and analyzed in 5 min epochs. Following measurement of baseline locomotor activity, NMDA (0.75 μ g in 0.2 μ l) or dPBS vehicle was injected into RE via the previously implanted guide cannula, followed immediately by D-amphetamine sulfate (0.75 mg/kg, i.p.). Amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion was then measured for 60 min.

Histology. After electrophysiology, the recording site was marked via electrophoretic ejection of Chicago Sky Blue dye from the tip of the recording electrode (-25 μ A constant current, 20-30 min). All rats were killed, decapitated and their brains removed, fixed for at least 48 hr (8% w/v paraformaldehyde in PBS), and cryoprotected (25% w/v sucrose in PBS) until saturated. Brains were sectioned (60 μ m coronal sections), mounted onto gelatin-chrom alum-coated slides, and stained with cresyl violet for histochemical verification of electrode and/or acute/chronically implanted cannula placement. All histology was performed with reference to a stereotaxic atlas (Paxinos and Watson, 1986). Only data from animals with accurate placements in all regions were included in the analysis.

Analysis. Electrophysiological analysis of DA neuron activity was performed using commercially available software (LabChart and NeuroExplorer). Locomotor behavior was recorded using TruScan software. All data are represented as the mean±SEM, unless otherwise stated. All statistics were calculated using the GraphPad Prism software program (GraphPad Software).

2.3 RESULTS

2.3.1 RE activation increases VTA DA neuron population activity

We showed previously that the vSub exerts a profound influence on VTA DA neuron activity (Floresco et al., 2003; Lodge and Grace, 2006b; 2007; Patton et al., 2013). Given the dense, excitatory projections from RE to vSub (Dolleman-Van der Weel et al., 1997; Bertram and Zhang,

1999; Vertes et al., 2006), we tested whether RE activation would also affect VTA DA neuron activity. Following infusion of vehicle into the RE (dPBS; n=8 rats and 59 neurons; Fig. 2-1A) we found an average of 1.05 ± 0.1 spontaneously active DA neurons per electrode track in the VTA (i.e. "cells/track"), with an average firing rate of 4.57 ± 0.3 Hz and $27.82\pm3.4\%$ of action potentials fired in bursts (Fig. 2-1B–F), all of which are consistent with previous findings in untreated animals (Lodge and Grace, 2007; Chang and Grace, 2014; Gill et al., 2014). In contrast, following NMDA infusion into the RE (0.75 µg in 0.2 µl; n=8 rats and 111 neurons) we observed a nearly 63% increase in VTA DA neuron population activity over controls (1.65 ± 0.2 cells/track; unpaired t-test, t(14)=2.69, p=0.02), with no significant change in firing rate (4.61 ± 0.2 Hz). Infusion of NMDA into regions adjacent to RE, including the interanteromedial, ventromedial, and paraxiphoid nuclei of the thalamus had no effect on VTA DA neuron activity (data not shown). We also observed a small but significant increase in burst firing following NMDA infusion into RE ($36.61\pm2.6\%$, unpaired t-test, t(168)=2.00, p=0.047). These data show that RE stimulation is sufficient to enhance VTA DA neuron population activity.



Figure 2-1: Activation of RE produced an enhancement of VTA DA neuron population activity.

A, *Left*, Representative image of electrode tracks (solid black arrows) and electrode tip (dashed arrow) in the VTA. *Right*, Representation of histological placements of infusion cannulae into RE (open circles). *B*, Activating the RE with NMDA enhanced the number of spontaneously active DA neurons firing in the VTA (expressed as cells/track, green bar) compared with infusion of vehicle (dPBS; blue bar). *C*, *D*, The average firing rate of spontaneously active dopamine cells was not affected by infusion of NMDA into RE, but the percentage of cells firing in bursts was increased. *E*, *F*, Distribution of firing rate and burst firing were not affected by infusion of NMDA into the RE (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test). *=p<0.05 (unpaired t-test). VEH n=8, NMDA n=8 rats/group; VEH n=59, NMDA=111 neurons/group. Data are represented as mean±SEM.

2.3.2 RE activation increases amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion

Given that VTA DA neuron population activity correlates with amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion (Moore et al., 2001; Lodge and Grace, 2007; Gill et al., 2011; Valenti et al., 2011; Chang and Grace, 2013), we measured the locomotor response to amphetamine following acute infusion of dPBS vehicle or NMDA into RE (Fig. 2-2A) in a separate group of awake, behaving rats. Rats that received an acute NMDA infusion (0.75 μ g in 0.2 μ l; n=8 rats) into RE displayed a significantly enhanced locomotor response to D-amphetamine sulfate injection (0.75 mg/kg, i.p.) compared to vehicle controls (n=13 rats), both when quantified as total distance traveled (Fig. 2-2B, unpaired t-test, t(19)=2.22, p=0.04) and ambulatory distance in discrete time bins (Fig. 2-2C, two-way RM ANOVA, main effect of treatment F(1,19)=4.9, p=0.03 and treatment x time interaction F(8,152)=2.35, p=0.04, Holm-Sidak post-hoc). Therefore, both VTA DA neuron population activity and the locomotor response to amphetamine are increased by RE activation.



Figure 2-2: Activation of RE increased amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion.

A, Representation of histological placements of infusion cannulae into RE (open circles). Damphetamine sulfate (0.75 mg/kg i.p.) was delivered immediately after acute microinjection of NMDA or dPBS vehicle into RE (both represented by dashed arrow). Baseline locomotor activity (0-30min) and amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion (35-90 min) were then measured. *B*, Pharmacological activation of RE increased total distance traveled in the 60 min post-injection period compared to controls (unpaired t-test, *=p<0.05). *C*, Pharmacological activation of RE increased ambulatory distance during the post-injection period (two-way RM ANOVA, Holm-Sidak post-hoc, *=p<0.05). VEH n=13, NMDA n=8 rats/group. Data are represented as mean±SEM.

2.3.3 The effect of RE activation on VTA DA neuron population activity requires vSub

Given evidence that the vSub potently controls VTA DA neuron activity (Floresco et al., 2003; Lodge and Grace, 2006b; 2007; Patton et al., 2013), we examined whether the enhancement of VTA DA neuron population activity following RE activation was dependent on the vSub. This was tested by pharmacologically inactivating the vSub by TTX infusion (1 μ M in 0.5 μ l dPBS) during simultaneous activation of the RE by NMDA infusion (0.75 μ g in 0.2 μ l; Fig. 2-3A). Rats receiving either vehicle infusion in both regions, or vehicle in RE and TTX in vSub, exhibited similar DA neuron firing properties (dPBS/dPBS: 0.98±0.08 cells/track, 4.40±0.3 Hz, 36.30±4.1%, n=8 rats and 40 neurons; dPBS/TTX: 0.90±0.2 cells/track, 4.46±0.3 Hz, 31.65±4.1%, n=8 rats and 54 neurons; Fig. 2-3B-F). These findings are consistent with previous data from our group in untreated animals (Lodge and Grace, 2007; Patton et al., 2013). In addition, vehicle infusion into vSub did not attenuate the enhancement of VTA DA neuron population activity observed following NMDA infusion into RE (1.56±0.2 cells/track, 4.33±0.2 Hz, 31.43±2.9%, n=10 rats and 107 neurons), which was significantly greater than in control animals (one-way ANOVA, main effect of treatment F(3,28)=5.7, p=0.004, Tukey post-hoc) and consistent with our findings above (Fig. 2-1). In contrast, infusion of TTX into the vSub completely abolished the effect of RE activation on VTA DA neuron population activity: animals in this group (n=6 rats and 41 neurons) displayed 0.98±0.08 active cells/track on average, which was not different than controls (one-way ANOVA, 95% CI of diff: -0.65-0.49). In addition, no changes in firing rate (4.55±0.2 Hz; one-way ANOVA, F(3,238)=0.12, p=0.95) or burst firing (31.32±3.6%, one-way ANOVA, F(3,237)=0.33, p=0.80) were observed in this group compared to control animals. These findings confirm that the vSub is necessary for RE stimulation to increase VTA DA neuron population activity.



Figure 2-3: Enhanced VTA DA neuron population activity following RE activation was prevented by inhibition of vSub.

A, Representation of histological placements of infusion cannulae into RE (left) and vSub (right; open circles). TTX or dPBS vehicle was injected into vSub, followed immediately by injection of NMDA or dPBS vehicle into RE. VTA DA neuron population activity, firing rate, and burst firing were then measured. *B*, Pharmacological activation of RE increased population activity, while parallel inhibition of vSub prevented this effect. *C*, *D*, The firing rate of spontaneously active dopamine cells and the percentage of cells firing in bursts were not affected by any manipulation. *E*, *F*, Distribution of firing rate and burst firing were not affected by infusion of NMDA into the RE (Kruskal-Wallis test, firing rate: H=1.70, p=0.64; bursting: H=2.15, p=0.54). *=p<0.05,

**=p<0.01 (one-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc). X-axis in panels B-D is infusions in vSub/RE. n=6-10 rats/group; n=40-107 neurons/group. Data are represented as mean±SEM.

2.3.4 ilPFC control of VTA DA neuron population activity requires RE

We have shown previously that excitation or inhibition of iIPFC bidirectionally modulates VTA DA neuron population activity. ilPFC inactivation induces an increase in population activity that does not occur following simultaneous vSub inhibition (Patton et al., 2013). Given that there is no direct projection from ilPFC to vSub (Laroche et al., 2000; Vertes, 2003), we tested whether RE could be mediating the effect of ilPFC inhibition on VTA DA neuron population activity. This was tested by pharmacologically inactivating the RE by TTX infusion (1 µM in 0.2 µl dPBS) during simultaneous inactivation of the ilPFC by TTX infusion (1 µM in 0.5 µl dPBS; Fig. 2-4A). In rats receiving either vehicle in both regions, or vehicle in ilPFC and TTX in the RE, the number of spontaneously firing DA neurons per electrode track, firing rate, and burst firing were comparable (dPBS/dPBS: 1.0±0.1 cells/track, 4.21±0.2 Hz, 28.5±3.3%, n=10 rats and 65 neurons; dPBS/TTX: 1.0±0.2, 4.2±0.2 Hz, 30.4±3.4%, n=11 rats and 68 neurons; Fig. 2-4B-F). These findings are consistent with previous data from our group in untreated animals (Patton et al., 2013). In addition, vehicle infusion in the RE did not influence the increase in VTA DA neuron population activity observed following TTX infusion into ilPFC (1.60±0.2 cells/track, 4.67±0.2 Hz, 27.15±2.8%, n=7 rats and 83 neurons), in which we observed a significant increase over controls (one-way ANOVA, main effect of treatment F(3,32)=6.7, p=0.001, Tukey post-hoc). However, infusion of TTX into RE completely prevented the effect of ilPFC inhibition on VTA DA neuron population activity (n=8 rats and 40 neurons; 0.58±0.08 cells/track) making this group statistically indistinguishable from controls (one-way ANOVA, 95% CI of diff: -0.16-0.97). In addition, combined infusion of TTX into ilPFC and RE resulted in a small but statistically significant enhancement of burst firing (one-way ANOVA, main effect of treatment F(3,251)=2.7, p=0.046, Tukey post-hoc). These findings confirm that activity in RE is necessary for the effect of ilPFC

inhibition on increasing VTA DA neuron population activity, and suggest that RE acts as a necessary intermediary between ilPFC and vSub, playing a crucial role in cortical modulation of VTA DA neuron activity.



Figure 2-4: Enhanced VTA DA neuron population activity following ilPFC inactivation was prevented by inhibition of RE.

A, Representation of histological placements of infusion cannulae into ilPFC and RE (open circles). TTX or dPBS vehicle was injected into RE, followed immediately by injection of TTX or dPBS vehicle into ilPFC. VTA DA neuron population activity, firing rate, and burst firing were then measured. *B*, Pharmacological inhibition of ilPFC increased population activity, while parallel inhibition of RE prevented this effect. *C*, *D*, The firing rate of spontaneously active dopamine cells was not affected by any manipulation, while the percentage of cells firing in bursts was significantly enhanced in the TTX/TTX group. *E*, *F*, Distribution of firing rate and burst firing were not affected by infusion of NMDA into the RE (Kruskal-Wallis test, firing rate: H=0.060, p=0.99; bursting: H=0.54, p=0.91). *=p<0.05, ***=p<0.001 (one-way ANOVA, Tukey post-hoc).

X-axis in panels B-D is infusions in RE/ilPFC. n=7–11 rats/group; n=40–83 neurons/group. Data are represented as mean±SEM.

2.4 DISCUSSION

We present evidence demonstrating that RE is a novel region involved in control of VTA DA neuron population activity. Pharmacological stimulation of RE enhances DA neuron population activity, without affecting average firing rate, and mildly enhancing burst firing. The same stimulation paradigm also enhances amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion, which strongly correlates with DA system responsivity (Moore et al., 2001; Lodge and Grace, 2007; Gill et al., 2011; Valenti et al., 2011; Chang and Grace, 2013). Furthermore, we show that the effect of RE stimulation is prevented if vSub is also inhibited, suggesting that activity in vSub is necessary for RE to drive VTA DA neuron firing. Finally, inactivation of RE prevents the increase in VTA DA neuron population activity observed following ilPFC inhibition, suggesting that the ilPFC potently regulates RE drive of VTA DA neuron activity.

We and other groups have shown previously that stimulation of the vSub increases VTA DA neuron population activity and amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion, without affecting firing rate or burst firing (Floresco et al., 2001; 2003; Hammad and Wagner, 2006; White et al., 2006). In addition, RE has been shown to drive activity in CA1 and subiculum via asymmetric synapses onto the distal dendrites of pyramidal neurons (Wouterlood et al., 1990; Dolleman-Van der Weel et al., 1997; Bertram and Zhang, 1999). Therefore, the current findings suggest that stimulation of RE enhances population activity and amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion via direct, as well as indirect (via CA1) excitation of vSub. Multiple previous studies have characterized the role of RE in mediating communication between the mPFC and hippocampus in behaviors requiring intact spatial and working memory (Hembrook and Mair, 2011; Hembrook et al., 2012; Cassel et al., 2013; Cholvin et al., 2013; Prasad et al., 2013; Duan et al., 2015; Ito et al., 2015; Layfield et al., 2015; Prasad et al., 2017), i.e. predominantly dorsal hippocampal functions.

However, the present work is one of the first to show that RE modulates ventral hippocampal functions, which is consistent with the fact that projections from RE to ventral hippocampus are the most dense of any RE efferents to hippocampus (Herkenham, 1978; Hoover and Vertes, 2007; Varela et al., 2014).

We have shown previously that the ilPFC bidirectionally modulates VTA DA neuron population activity: inhibition of ilPFC enhances VTA DA neuron population activity, and this effect is dependent on the vSub, whereas excitation of ilPFC attenuates VTA DA neuron population activity, and this effect depends on the basolateral amygdala (Patton et al., 2013). However, there are multiple potential pathways between ilPFC and vSub that could mediate the effect of ilPFC inhibition. The current findings provide strong evidence that RE constitutes the connection by which the ilPFC can control vSub drive of VTA DA neuron activity. This finding is consistent with several studies characterizing monosynaptic interconnections between ilPFC and RE (Vertes, 2002; McKenna and Vertes, 2004; Hoover and Vertes, 2007). ilPFC projections to RE are likely glutamatergic, making it apparently paradoxical that inhibition of ilPFC could lead to drive of vSub via RE. However, there is mounting evidence that cortical regions may influence excitability of thalamic circuits via feed-forward inhibition mediated by the reticular nucleus of the thalamus (Cornwall et al., 1990; Paz et al., 2011; Pratt and Morris, 2015; Wimmer et al., 2015). In this context, our findings would suggest that the ilPFC provides a potent down-modulation of RE drive of the hippocampus via the reticular thalamus. The finding that inhibition of RE alone did not alter VTA DA neuron population activity does not preclude this model, because RE likely exhibits low levels of activity at baseline in the anesthetized state. This model could explain the effects of ilPFC hyperactivity, which is proposed to play a role in models of depression (Belujon and Grace, 2014; Chang and Grace, 2014), in disrupting limbic emotional influences on memory

processes. It also implies that dysfunction in ilPFC would remove any feed-forward inhibition provided by the reticular thalamus, leading to RE-vSub hyperexcitability.

It should be noted that, despite anatomical evidence for direct connections, our manipulations are not projection-specific, and therefore we cannot completely rule out the involvement of intervening structures in these effects. However, we believe that the regions manipulated here form vital nodes in the circuit for several reasons. First, while the RE receives a diverse array of afferent inputs (McKenna and Vertes, 2004), its major projection targets are restricted primarily to hippocampus and mPFC (Vertes, 2002; Vertes et al., 2006). Given that our NMDA infusions targeted the portion of RE that contains primarily neurons projecting to ventral hippocampus, i.e. the rostral portion (Vertes et al., 2006), RE-mPFC projections are not likely involved in the responses observed. In addition, our data show a complete reversal of the effect of RE stimulation on VTA DA neuron population activity with vSub inhibition, supporting a direct RE-vSub action. Finally, although projections from mPFC to entorhinal cortex (Vertes, 2003) and from mPFC to VTA (Vertes, 2003) have been described anatomically, these circuits are unlikely to be involved in these findings given that RE inhibition completely reversed of the effect of ilPFC inhibition on VTA DA neuron population activity. It should also be noted that recordings were performed in anesthetized animals. Nonetheless, whereas anesthesia is likely to impact baseline activity, it should not qualitatively impact the effects of pathway activation. The fact that our behavioral studies in awake animals were consistent with our electrophysiological findings supports this contention.

Taken together, our findings support a model whereby inactivation of ilPFC leads to an increase in RE activity, driving vSub and enhancing VTA DA neuron population activity. We propose that RE is a novel, key modulator of subcortical/limbic circuits involved in the control of

41

VTA DA neuron firing, and as such could play a role in psychiatric illnesses involving dysfunction in these circuits. In particular, abnormally high DA tone underlies the pathophysiology of psychosis across psychiatric illnesses (Heinz and Schlagenhauf, 2010; Howes et al., 2012; Winton-Brown et al., 2014), most notably in schizophrenia (Howes et al., 2012). In addition, increased activity in the subiculum (Tregellas et al., 2007b; Allen et al., 2012; Tregellas et al., 2014) and thalamus (Silbersweig et al., 1995; Tregellas et al., 2007b) have been described in patients with schizophrenia. Our group has modeled the hippocampal hyperexcitability observed in schizophrenia using the methylazoxymethanol acetate (MAM) developmental disruption model, which exhibits enhanced VTA DA neuron population activity and aberrantly high vSub activity (Moore et al., 2006; Lodge and Grace, 2007; Modinos et al., 2015). Given that stimulation of RE was sufficient to replicate the hyperdopaminergic state observed in MAM animals, thalamic projections to hippocampus could represent a key connection that perpetuates the subcortical hyperexcitability and hyperdopaminergic state seen in patients with schizophrenia. Indeed, this idea has been proposed, but never tested experimentally (Lisman et al., 2010). In addition, these findings are particularly interesting in light of recent studies demonstrating reduced functional connectivity between the mPFC and thalamus in patients with schizophrenia (Anticevic et al., 2014), a measure that can differentiate psychotic and non-psychotic patients (Anticevic et al., 2015b). This suggests that targeting thalamic regions in humans that are interconnected with both mPFC and hippocampus could represent an effective approach for developing novel treatments for psychotic disorders, including schizophrenia.

3.0 PREFRONTAL INPUTS TO THE NUCLEUS REUNIENS OF THE MIDLINE THALAMUS MODULATE FIRING PATTERN VIA PARALELL CORTICOTHALAMIC PATHWAYS

3.1 INTRODUCTION

The thalamus has long been recognized for its role as a way station for sensory information bound for cortex, a function accomplished by its "first-order" nuclei (Sherman and Guillery, 2001; Sherman, 2016). However, the thalamus also contains subregions that facilitate information transfer between cortical areas, termed "higher-order" nuclei. This transthalamic route between cortical areas is thought to allow for enhanced modulation or gating of information not available to cortico-cortical pathways (Guillery and Sherman, 2002; Saalmann et al., 2012; Mitchell, 2015), but higher order thalamic nuclei are much less well-studied compared to first-order nuclei. In particular, it is still unclear precisely how corticothalamic input modulates thalamocortical cell firing in higher-order nuclei. Corticothalamic input to both first-order and higher-order thalamic nuclei consists of direct, monosynaptic connections, as well as feedforward inhibition from the thalamic reticular nucleus (TRN) and extrathalamic sources (Sherman and Guillery, 2001; Halassa and Acsády, 2016). This circuity is complex and corticothalamic input is functionally heterogenous across cortical areas, highlighting the importance of characterizing the circuit dynamics of these connections in different parts of the corticothalamic network (Halassa et al., 2014; Crandall et al., 2015).

The nucleus reuniens of the midline thalamus (RE) is a higher-order thalamic nucleus that represents a critical mediator of communication between the mPFC and hippocampus. Previous studies have shown that RE is involved in several different classes of behavior that share in common a dependence on the coordinated action of these two regions (Cassel et al., 2013), including spatial navigation (Jankowski et al., 2014; Ito et al., 2015), working memory (Cholvin et al., 2013; Duan et al., 2015; Layfield et al., 2015; Hallock et al., 2016), executive function (Prasad et al., 2013; Linley et al., 2016; Prasad et al., 2017) fear learning (Davoodi et al., 2011; Xu and Südhof, 2013; Sierra et al., 2017; Vetere et al., 2017), and mood regulation (Kafetzopoulos et al., 2017). RE inputs to hippocampus selectively target apical tufted dendrites and interneurons in the stratum-lacunosum moleculare of dorsal and ventral CA1, as well as the molecular layer of the subiculum, and these connections are reciprocal (Çavdar et al., 2008; Varela et al., 2014; Vertes et al., 2015). Corticothalamic projections to RE appear to follow the basic organizing principles described for other thalamic nuclei: neurons from layers 5 and 6 of the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) send monosynaptic connections to RE (McKenna and Vertes, 2004; Varela et al., 2014) and layer 6 ilPFC neurons send collaterals to the antero-medial TRN (Cornwall et al., 1990), the same TRN subregion that projects to RE (Kolmac and Mitrofanis, 1997).

Despite the well-established importance of RE in a variety of behaviors and the thorough characterization of its anatomical connections, studies examining the baseline firing properties of RE neurons and their modulation by afferent structures are sparse (Walsh et al., 2017). In particular, it is unknown how mPFC controls the firing of RE neurons, and whether corticothalamic input from mPFC to RE is similar or different to that in other parts of the thalamus. Cortical input is likely to be dynamic, and critical to gating RE output in a variety of behavioral contexts. Our goal for the current study was to assess the combined and separate contributions of direct and indirect ilPFC-RE pathways to controlling RE neuron firing. We focus on inputs to RE from the infralimbic subdivision of the mPFC (ilPFC), because we have previously demonstrated that inhibition of ilPFC enhances dopamine (DA) neuron firing in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) via the ventral subiculum, likely by disinhibiting RE (Patton et al., 2013; Zimmerman and Grace, 2016). We used in vivo, extracellular, single-unit recordings in the anesthetized rat and

manipulated neural activity using targeted pharmacological manipulations, electrical stimulation, and a projection-specific implementation of Designer Receptors Exclusively Activated by Designer Drugs (DREADDs). Our findings show that ilPFC can robustly modulate multiple aspects of RE neuron firing across diverse timescales.

3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals. All experiments were performed in accordance with the guidelines outlined in the United States Public Health Service Guide for Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Pittsburgh. All experiments were performed in adult (>65 d old) male Sprague Dawley rats (59 rats total; 300 – 500 g).

In vivo electrophysiology in anesthetized rats. Rats were anesthetized with an initial dose of chloral hydrate (400mg/kg i.p.) and supplemented periodically (i.p.) to maintain suppression of the hindlimb withdrawal reflex. Rats were placed in a stereotaxic frame and body temperature was maintained at 37° C with a temperature-controlled heating pad and rectal probe. Extracellular recordings were performed using single glass microelectrodes (impedance 6 – 8 M) filled with a 2% Chicago sky blue solution in 2 M NaCl. This impedance ensures that we are able to clearly resolve the waveform from a single neuron with a very high signal-to-noise ratio and without contamination from neighboring neurons. Following a craniotomy electrodes were lowered into the RE in vertical tracks at 0.2mm intervals in the *x-y* plane via hydraulic micropositioner. The sampling area comprised a block of tissue including the RE from bregma/dural surface (in mm) AP: -1.6 to -2.2, ML: 0.1-0.5, and DV: -5.5 to -7.5. Sampling in the AP direction was counterbalanced across animals. Every spontaneously active neuron encountered in this block of tissue was recorded for at least 3 minutes, and given the typical 1-2 Hz firing rate of RE neurons this resulted in ~270 spikes being included in the analysis of firing properties for each neuron. Individual neurons were recorded with broad filter settings (low pass, 10 Hz; high pass, 16 kHz). Immediately following recordings, the recording site was marked via electrophoretic ejection of Chicago Sky Blue from the tip of the recording electrode. All neurons included in the analysis were confirmed to be located in the RE by referencing their position to the marked recording site.

Intracranial infusions and electrical stimulation. For intracranial infusions a guide cannula (23 gauge) was placed above the iIPFC or TRN at the following coordinates from bregma/skull surface (in mm): iIPFC AP: 2.7; ML: 0.5; DV: -3.5; TRN AP: -1.6, ML: 1.6, DV: -5.0, according to the Paxinos and Watson brain atlas (Paxinos and Watson, 2013). Subsequently an infusion cannula (33 gauge) was inserted into the guide cannula, extending 2 mm beyond the tip of the guide cannula. Pharmacological agents dissolved in Dulbecco's PBS (dPBS) or dPBS vehicle only were administered through the infusion cannula at a rate of 0.5µl/min. The guide cannula was left in place for 3 min following infusions to allow for adequate diffusion of drug. Drug doses were as follows for all experiments: TTX 1M in 0.5µl; muscimol, BODIPY[®] TMR-X conjugate (Thermofisher) 0.8mM in 0.2µl. All pharmacological agents were injected at doses reported previously to induce specific behavioral and/or neurochemical effects (Lodge and Grace, 2007; Allen et al., 2008; Valenti et al., 2011; Patton et al., 2013). Rats received only one injection per region and RE cell recordings were performed from 5 m to 2.5 h after infusions.

To visualize the spread of fluorescent muscimol, animals were transcardially perfused with 0.85% saline followed by 4% paraformaldehyde. Brains were post-fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde overnight and cryoprotected (25% w/v sucrose in PBS) until saturated. Coronal sections (60µm thickness) were taken. During image acquisition exposure time was optimized for image quality.

The spread of the drug was then qualitatively assessed on several sections and if more than 30% of the area of fluorescence was outside the area of the TRN the animal was excluded from further analyses.

For electrical stimulation, a concentric bipolar stimulating electrode was lowered into ilPFC at the following coordinates from bregma/skull surface (in mm): ilPFC AP: 2.7; ML: 0.5; DV: -4.5. Single pulses (1mA, 0.25 msec pulse-width) were delivered at 0.5 hz. Spontaneously active neurons were recorded for 3 m before 5 pulses were delivered. If the neuron responded to these initial pulses, more pulses were delivered until the firing pattern of the neuron stabilized. Spontaneous activity was also recorded after stimulation to assess for persistent effects on spontaneous firing pattern. Multiple neurons were recorded in the same animal, but the effects of stimulation did not differ qualitatively in neurons recorded early vs. late in recordings.

Viral constructs. To achieve hM4Di DREADDs expression in ilPFC, we used an AAV vector (*rAAV2-hSyn-HA-hM4D(Gi)-IRES-mCitrine*) containing a synapsin promoter, as well as a N-terminal HA tag and mCitrine reporter. A vector lacking the DREADDs gene (*rAAV2-hSyn-EGFP*) was used for control experiments. Both vectors were obtained from the UNC Vector Core.

Survival surgeries for virus injections. All survival surgeries were performed under general anesthesia in a sterile environment. Briefly, rats were anesthetized with isoflurane (induction: 5%; maintenance: 1–3% in oxygen) and placed in a stereotaxic apparatus using blunt, atraumatic ear bars. Then 400nl of virus was injected unilaterally into the right ilPFC via a pulled glass pipette (38-42µm tip diameter) and pneumatic pressure over the course of 15min. The pipette was left in place for 15min after the infusion to allow for adequate diffusion. The wound was then closed and antibiotic cream was applied to the wound edge, and the rat was removed from the stereotaxic frame and monitored closely until conscious. Rats received analgesia (Medigel containing

carpofen, 5 mg/kg/day, p.o.) 24 h before and 24 h after surgery, and immediately following surgery (carpofen, 5mg/kg, s.c.). Rats were allowed 12 weeks to achieve sufficient construct expression in terminals in RE before experiments.

In vivo electrophysiology in DREADD-expressing animals. Animals were prepared for recording and the RE was sampled as described above. Extracellular recordings were performed using a single glass microelectrode glued to a pulled glass pipette (20µm tip diameter) filled with dPBS vehicle or clozapine-n-oxide (CNO; Tocris). The recording electrode tip and infusion pipette tip were separated by ~150µm. Spontaneously active neurons were recorded for 3 m before, during, and after vehicle or CNO (dissolved in dBPS; 100µM in 60nl) was delivered over the course of 30 to 60 s. Multiple cells were recorded in the same animal and separated by at least 200µm. Each cell received only one exposure to vehicle or CNO.

Localization of DREADDs expression. Immediately following electrophysiological recordings animals were transcardially perfused with 0.85% saline followed by 4% paraformaldehyde. Brains were post-fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde overnight and cryoprotected (25% w/v sucrose in PBS) until saturated. Coronal sections (10µm thickness) were taken and mounted onto glass slides. Immunohistochemistry for HA was then performed in the following manner. Tissue was blocked in a solution of 1x PBS containing 0.3% Triton X-100 and 3% normal goat serum, then incubated in primary antibody (rabbit anti-HA, 1:500, Cell Signaling, 3724) overnight at room temperature. Slides were then washed and then incubated with a secondary fluorescent antibody (goat anti-rabbit 594, 1:500, Abcam, ab150080) for 3 h. Slices were then counterstained with DAPI and coverslipped with ProLong Gold. Viral spread of DREADDs-expressing constructs was then qualitatively assessed in ilPFC on several sections using anti-HA fluorescence and if more than 30% of the area of fluorescence was outside the ilPFC the animal

was excluded from future analyses. Terminal expression in RE was also confirmed using anti-HA fluorescence. Viral spread and terminal expression were assessed in EGFP-only animals using endogenous fluorescence. During image acquisition exposure time was optimized for image quality. All antibodies were previously validated for specificity, as described on the manufacturer's websites and the *Journal of Comparative Neurology* antibody database.

Analysis parameters for RE neuron firing properties. Bursts were defined using the following interval criteria: maximum interval to start a burst: ≤ 6 ms, maximum interval to end burst: 10 ms, minimum interval between burst: 200 ms, minimum duration of burst: 2 ms, minimum number of spikes within a burst: 2 (Kim et al., 2011). We used a 6 ms interspike interval (ISI) for the maximum interval to start a burst after an examination of ISI distributions in our data revealed that some putative burst spikes were occurring at intervals >4 ms, the typical but conservative cutoff used to classify thalamic bursts (Guido et al., 1992; Lu et al., 1992; Ramcharan et al., 2005). We also verified that bursts conformed to other previously established criteria for thalamic burst firing, i.e. a preceding >100 ms of no spikes and a gradual lengthening of the ISI within a burst (Guido et al., 1992). For mean spikes per burst analysis, cells in which no bursts occurred were excluded from analysis. The average number of spontaneously active RE neurons per electrode track, i.e. "cells/track" was calculated for each individual animal.

Experimental Design and Statistical Analysis Electrophysiological analysis of RE neuron activity was performed using commercially available software (LabChart and NeuroExplorer). All statistics were calculated using the GraphPad Prism software program (GraphPad Software). Experimental design for each experiment is as follows.

<u>ilPFC Inhibition Experiment</u>: 21 total rats were included in this experiment. 138 neurons were found to lie within RE and were included in the analysis. Multiple neurons were recorded

before and after drug injection in the same animal, as described above. Control animals received only vehicle (i.e. dPBS) infusion. Therefore, neurons were recorded under four different conditions: 1) before vehicle injection, 2) after vehicle injection, 3) before drug injection, and 4) after drug injection. Note that conditions 1 and 3 are identical. Neurons exposed to the same experimental conditions were pooled across animals for statistical analyses. Reported sample sizes indicate the number of cells recorded in total from all animals. Significance testing was performed using the Mann-Whitney U test, unpaired t-test, and Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Regarding sample size determination, we are the first group to perform extracellular, single-unit recordings in the RE of anesthetized rats. In our studies, we found that burst firing propensity (i.e. percent spikes fired in bursts) in RE neurons, even recorded in the same animal in close spatial and temporal proximity, was highly variable and not normally distributed. Our statistical analyses of burst firing data were designed to account for this variability while also describing physiologically relevant changes across the population of recorded RE neurons. In addition, we found that the distribution of burst firing propensity under baseline conditions between experiments was broadly consistent, suggesting that our data reflect the population. In experiments #1 and #3, the mean spikes per burst also provides a less-variable indicator of burst firing propensity that has been shown to depend on the same intracellular mechanisms as burst firing (Guido et al., 1992).

<u>ilPFC Stimulation Experiment</u>: 3 rats were included in the experiment. 8 neurons from these rats were found to lie within RE and were included in the analysis. Each neuron was recorded before, during, and after acute electrical stimulation. All RE neurons from all animals were pooled for analyses.

<u>TRN Inhibition Experiment:</u> 17 rats were included in the experiment. 132 neurons from these rats were found to lie within RE and were included in the analysis. The experimental design

and justification of sample size here was identical to that described above in the "ilPFC Inhibition Experiment", but muscimol in TRN was used instead of TTX in ilPFC. Significance testing was performed using the Mann-Whitney U test, unpaired t-test, and Kolmogorov-Smirnov test.

DREADDs Experiment: 18 rats were included in the experiment. 75 neurons from these rats were found to lie within RE and were included in the analysis. Multiple neurons were recorded in the same animal. Each neuron was recorded before, during, and after vehicle or drug infusion, as described above. This resulted in cells exposed to 4 different manipulations as follows: animals expressing EGFP+vehicle injection (EGFP+VEH), animals expressing EGFP+CNO injection (EGFP+CNO), animals expressing hM4Di+vehicle injection (hM4Di+VEH), and animals expressing hM4Di+CNO injection (hM4Di+CNO). Significance testing was performed using the Wilcoxon matched pairs signed-rank test. The justification of sample size here was identical to that described above in the "iIPFC Inhibition Experiment".

3.3 RESULTS

3.3.1 Baseline firing properties of RE neurons

A growing body of evidence suggests that the RE performs a critical function as a relay between several subregions of both the mPFC and hippocampus. However, the baseline firing properties of RE neurons and the circuit dynamics governing their activity are at this point understudied. To begin to address this question, we performed extracellular recordings of spontaneously active RE neurons in anesthetized rats. Each neuron was recorded for 3min and firing rate and multiple burst firing parameters were measured. Burst firing was defined using previously established criteria (Guido et al., 1992; Kim et al., 2011) and based on our independent assessment of interspike intervals in the recorded sample. The majority of RE neurons recorded exhibited both tonic and

burst firing patterns, most often intermixed in the same neuron (Fig. 3-1 A-B). The mean firing rate of RE neurons was 2.16 \pm 0.36 Hz while the median firing rate was 1.60 Hz (Fig. 3-1C). Of the recorded neurons, >75% exhibited a firing rate at or below 3.0 Hz, while firing rates in the remaining minority of neurons ranged from 4-12 Hz. The mean percentage of spikes fired in bursts was 53.6 \pm 4.8%, while the median was 61.41% (Fig. 3-1D). Of the recorded neurons, 18% did not exhibit any burst firing, while the remaining neurons exhibited a percentage of spikes fired in bursts ranging from <5% to >95%. In addition, the mean spikes per burst in RE neurons was 2.9 \pm 0.1 spikes, while the median was 2.68 spikes (Fig. 3-1E). Finally, although observations suggested that neurons with higher firing rates tended to exhibit a lower percentage of spikes fired in bursts (Fig. 3-1F), these parameters were not correlated significantly (F(1,46)=3.44, p>0.05, 95% CI=-0.04—0.001; R²=0.07).



Figure 3-1: Baseline firing properties of RE neurons.

Extracellular recordings of spontaneously active RE neurons were performed in anesthetized rats under baseline conditions. *A*, Representative trace demonstrating the typical firing pattern of an RE neuron, with mixed tonic and burst (blue triangles) firing. *B*, Three representative traces demonstrating the variable amount of burst firing present in the RE neuron population, from completely absent (top), to mixed (middle), to nearly all bursting (bottom). Inset in bottom panel demonstrates typical RE burst architecture. *C-E*, Relative frequency histograms of firing rate, the percentage of spikes fired in bursts, and the mean spikes per burst for 48 recorded RE cells with group mean (dashed line) and median (solid line) indicated. *F*, Firing rate plotted against the percentage of spikes fired in bursts. These parameters were not significantly correlated in this group of recorded neurons (F(1,46)=3.44, p>0.05, 95% CI=-0.04—0.001, R²=0.07). n=48 cells for panels C-F.

3.3.2 Inhibition of iIPFC reduces burst firing in RE neurons

Previous work from our group (Zimmerman and Grace, 2016) has implicated ilPFC-RE communication in controlling VTA DA neuron population activity. However, the circuit dynamics underlying ilPFC-RE communication have not been studied in detail. To address this question we recorded spontaneous activity in RE cells in anesthetized rats before and after acute infusion of TTX into ilPFC (1µmol/L in 0.5µl), in which several neurons were recorded before and after TTX infusion in the same animal (Fig. 3-2). Data from all neurons recorded in all animals were then pooled. Firing rate and burst firing parameters were assessed in each neuron recorded. To assess for effects of time under anesthesia and prior sampling in RE, RE neurons were recorded in animals in which dPBS vehicle was infused into ilPFC. Following TTX or vehicle infusion in ilPFC no differences were observed in firing rate in RE neurons recorded after infusion compared to RE neurons recorded before infusion (Fig. 3-2C; Mann-Whitney, VEH: U=622, p=0.28, 95% CI=-0.8355-0.304, TTX: U=390.5, p=0.44, 95% CI=-29.05-7.04). However, following the same manipulation there was a reduction in burst firing propensity across the population of RE neurons sampled (Fig. 3-2D), although this difference was not statistically significant (Kolmogorov-Smirnov, D=0.18, p=0.71) In addition, the average number of spikes within a burst for each neuron was measured (Fig. 3-2E); a parameter that depends on the amplitude of low-threshold calcium spikes within a neuron (Sherman, 1996). Following TTX infusion (but not vehicle), there was a large, statistically significant decrease in the average number of spikes within a burst (median before TTX=2.91, after TTX=2.29; Mann-Whitney, U=197.5, p=0.005). Finally, no change was observed in the number of spontaneously active RE neurons per track following either vehicle or TTX infusion (Fig. 3-2F, TTX: unpaired t-test, t₍₁₂₎=1.47, p=0.17, 95% CI=-1.33-0.26). These data suggest that iIPFC contributes to the maintenance of burst firing in RE neurons.



Figure 3-2: Inhibition of ilPFC reduces burst firing in RE neurons.

Spontaneous activity was recorded in multiple RE neurons in multiple animals both before and after acute infusion of TTX (1 μ M in 0.5 μ l) or dPBS vehicle into ilPFC. *A*, Schematic of experimental design. *B*, Representation of histological placements of infusion cannulae into ilPFC. *C*, The firing rate of RE neurons plotted as "box-and-whiskers" plots, here and in subsequent figures representing highest and lowest values (highest and lowest horizontal lines), interquartile

range (rectangle), mean ("+" symbol), and median (horizontal line in rectangle). Firing rates recorded before vehicle or TTX infusion did not differ from those recorded after infusion. *D*, Relative frequency distribution histograms depicting the percentage of spikes fired in bursts in neurons recorded either before or after vehicle (top) or TTX (bottom) infusion into ilPFC. No statistically significant differences were observed following vehicle or TTX infusion. *E*, The mean spikes per burst of RE neurons recorded after TTX infusion was decreased compared to those recorded before infusion. *F*, The number of spontaneously active RE neurons per electrode track did not differ following vehicle or TTX infusion. **p<0.01 (Mann-Whitney U test). Before Vehicle n=31 cells from 12 animals, After Vehicle n=47 cells, Before TTX n=34 cells from 9 animals, After TTX n=26 cells.

3.3.3 Electrical Stimulation of ilPFC induces burst firing and reduces tonic firing in RE neurons

Direct iIPFC projections to RE are glutamatergic, but iIPFC influence on RE likely also depends on feed-forward inhibition arising from iIPFC projections to the TRN (Cornwall et al., 1990; Çavdar et al., 2008; but see Vertes, 2003). To examine the combined contribution of these pathways in controlling RE neuron firing, spontaneous activity in single RE neurons was recorded before, during, and after electrical stimulation of iIPFC (0.5 hz, 1 mA) using a concentric bipolar electrode (Fig. 3-3). Several successive trials were performed in each neuron and multiple neurons were recorded in the same animal. In 75% of neurons recorded, individual pulses to iIPFC resulted initially in a cessation of all firing, followed ~0.6 s later by rebound spiking, predominantly consisting of bursting (Fig. 3-3C-D). In responsive neurons, several successive pulses (i.e. ~15-25) resulted in a gradual loss of tonic firing and predominance of burst firing (Fig. 3-3E), in most cases leading to a complete cessation of firing altogether. This effect of stimulation subsided within 1min following cessation of stimuli. These findings suggest that iIPFC stimulation is sufficient to entrain bursting in, and even possibly silence altogether, RE neurons. Furthermore, these effects are likely mediated by feed-forward inhibition from the iIPFC-TRN pathway (Halassa et al., 2011).



Figure 3-3: Electrical Stimulation of ilPFC induces burst firing and attenuates tonic firing in RE neurons.

Spontaneously active RE neurons were recorded both before and during electrical stimulation of ilPFC (0.5 hz, 1 mA) via a concentric bipolar stimulating electrode. Several successive trials were performed in each neuron. *A*, Schematic of experimental design. *B*, Representation of histological placements of stimulating electrodes in recorded animals. *C*, Cumulative peri-event histogram of firing rate for a subset of trials in all RE neurons recorded (n=10 trials/cell, n=8 cells) demonstrating robust inhibition immediately following ilPFC stimulation (red dotted line). *D*, Cumulative peri-event histogram of burst firing plotted from the same traces as in C demonstrating inhibition immediately following ilPFC stimulation (red dotted line), followed by rebound bursting

~0.6 sec post-stimulation. *E*, Perievent raster of 30 successive trials within a single RE neuron. Electrical stimulation of ilPFC (red dotted line) in successive trials gradually converted the firing pattern of this neuron from tonic to burst firing (white vs. light pink shaded areas). After 21 trials, the neuron nearly ceased firing (darker pink area). n=8 cells from 3 animals.
3.3.4 Inhibition of TRN decreases the number of spontaneously active RE neurons

Given the likely impact of feedforward inhibition from the ilPFC-TRN pathway in RE neuron firing, the effects of manipulating TRN itself was investigated (Fig. 3-4). The TRN is a large brain region that is topographically organized, sending inhibitory inputs to nearly every thalamic subnucleus. Therefore, the portion of TRN that most strongly projects to RE was targeted (Cornwall et al., 1990; Kolmac and Mitrofanis, 1997; Çavdar et al., 2008). In addition, fluorescently-conjugated muscimol (Allen et al., 2008) was used to achieve neuronal inhibition, which 1) will not affect fibers of passage and 2) permits visualization of the extent of drug spread - a critical point given the unusual shape of TRN in the coronal plane and its close proximity to RE (Paxinos and Watson, 2013). The experimental design and analyses for these experiments were identical to those in the ilPFC inhibition experiment presented above. Following muscimol infusion into TRN no changes were observed in the firing rate of RE neurons recorded after vehicle or muscimol infusion compared to those recorded before (Fig. 3-4C). Similarly, there was no change in burst firing propensity or mean spikes within a burst (Fig. 3-4D-E). However, muscimol infusion produced a substantial and statistically significant reduction in the number of spontaneously active RE neurons encountered (Fig. 3-4F; unpaired t-test, $t_{(14)}=2.29$, p=0.04). These data suggest that, when manipulated in isolation, TRN input to RE has a qualitatively distinct role in modulating firing pattern compared to feedforward inhibition from corticothalamic inputs.



Figure 3-4: TRN inhibition decreases the number of spontaneously active RE neurons.

Spontaneous activity was recorded in multiple RE neurons in multiple animals both before and after acute infusion of fluorescently-tagged muscimol (0.8μ M in 0.2μ l) or dPBS vehicle into TRN *A*, Schematic of experimental design. *B*, Representation of histological placements of infusion cannulae for vehicle groups (black circles) and maximum extent of fluorescence for muscimol groups (red shading) in TRN. *C*, The firing rate of RE neurons recorded before vehicle or muscimol

infusion did not differ from those recorded after infusion. *D*, Relative frequency distribution histograms depicting the percentage of spikes fired in bursts in neurons recorded either before or after vehicle (top) or muscimol (bottom) infusion into TRN. No statistically significant differences were observed following vehicle or TTX infusion. *E*, The mean spikes per burst of RE neurons recorded before vehicle or muscimol infusion did not differ from those recorded after infusion. *F*, The number of spontaneously active RE neurons per electrode track recorded after muscimol infusion was decreased compared to those recorded before infusion. *p<0.05 (unpaired t-test). Before Vehicle n=28 cells from 9 animals, After Vehicle n=35 cells, Before Muscimol n=41 cells from 8 animals, After Muscimol n=28 cells.

3.3.5 Inhibition of iIPFC terminals in RE enhances burst firing in RE neurons

The findings described above are consistent with the ilPFC influencing the firing pattern of RE neurons via feedforward inhibition from the TRN. However, ilPFC also sends monosynaptic, glutamatergic projections to RE. In order to assess the role of these projections in controlling RE neuron firing, a projection-specific approach utilizing DREADDs (Mahler et al., 2014; Roth, 2016; Smith et al., 2016) was used. AAV vector constructs containing the inhibitory DREADD hM4Di fused to GFP (rAAV2-hSyn-HA-hM4Di-IRES-mCitrine) or EGFP only controls (rAAV2-hSyn-EGFP) were injected into ilPFC (Fig. 3-5). After allowing sufficient time for construct expression, individual RE neurons were recorded before and after local microinfusion of CNO (60nl of 100µM) or dPBS vehicle control (VEH) via a combined glass injection pipette-recording electrode (Fig. 3-6A). Following acute CNO or VEH application, no effect on firing rate was found in any group (Fig. 3-6B). However, following CNO application onto RE neurons in animals expressing hM4Di there was a statistically significant enhancement of the percentage of spikes fired in bursts (Fig. 3-6C-E; Wilcoxon matched pairs signed-rank test, p=0.02). This effect was observed in some individual neurons recorded in animals expressing EGFP only or following vehicle injection (Fig. 3-6D), but there were no statistically significant effects in any of these groups as a whole (Wilcoxon matched pairs signed-rank test, EGFP+VEH: p=0.38, 95% CI=-10.75-1.69; EGFP+CNO: p=0.89, 95% CI=-6.27-3.33, hM4Di+VEH: p=0.99, 95% CI=-9.86-7.30). Notably, neurons in the hM4Di+CNO group that exhibited an enhancement in bursting following CNO application did not show a consistent change in the mean number of spikes fired within a burst (Fig. 3-6F). Finally, an increase in the average number of spikes within a burst following CNO application in EGFP animals was found (Wilcoxon matched pairs signed-rank test, p=0.005) but no differences in this parameter were observed in any other group (Fig. 3-6G). Taken together,

these findings suggest that the direct ilPFC-RE projection provides an input necessary to maintain certain characteristics of burst firing in RE neurons.



Figure 3-5: Histological validation of viral vector expression in ilPFC and RE.

AAV vector constructs containing the inhibitory DREADD hM4Di (rAAV2-hSyn-HA-hM4Di-IRES-mCitrine) or GFP only controls (rAAV2-hSyn-EGFP) were infused into ilPFC. Blue = DAPI, Green = GFP, Red = anti-HA antibody throughout, as in A. A, Representative coronal section demonstrating expression restricted to ilPFC. **B**, Higher magnification image of section pictured in A. Scale bar = 300μ m. *C*, Superimposed traces of the maximal extent of EGFP expression across EGFP-only animals (green, top) and anti-HA immunoreactivity across hM4Di animals (red, bottom) from all animals recorded. *D*, Low magnification image demonstrating terminal expression throughout the midline thalamus in a EGFP animal with recording electrode tracks present in RE (white arrows). *E*, Representative image of HA+ terminal labeling in RE (white arrows). Scale bar = 150μ m.



Figure 3-6: Inhibition of ilPFC terminals in RE enhances burst firing in RE neurons.

Individual RE neurons in rats expressing hM4Di or EGFP only in ilPFC and ilPFC terminals in RE were recorded before, during, and after local microinfusion of CNO (60nl of 100µM) or dPBS vehicle control (VEH) via a combined glass injection pipette-recording electrode. For panels B,D,E,G groups as indicated in B. *A*, Schematic diagram demonstrating the virus injection site,

relevant circuitry, and combined glass injection pipette-recording electrode dimensions. B, Acute CNO or VEH application had no effect on firing rate in any group. C, Cumulative perievent histograms of firing rate (top) and burst firing (bottom) for a single RE neuron in an hM4Di animal before, during (grey box), and after CNO application. **D**, The percentage of spikes fired in bursts presented as individual neurons (grey lines) and grouped box-and-whiskers plots before and after acute CNO application. CNO application enhanced burst firing in RE neurons of animals expressing hM4Di, but this effect was not consistently observed in any other group. E, Data from D presented as the difference in percentage of spikes fired in bursts (% SIB) before and after vehicle or CNO application. Individual values plotted in black circles on left y-axis and group means+standard error of the mean plotted in bars on right y-axis, for clarity. F, Data from a subset of neurons in the hM4Di+CNO group that exhibited an increase in burst firing following CNO application, demonstrating inconsistent changes in mean spikes/burst. G, Acute CNO enhanced the mean number of spikes within a burst in the EGFP+CNO group, but not in any other group. *=p<0.05, **=p<0.01 (Wilcoxon paired signed-rank test). GFP+VEH n=15 neurons from 3 animals, GFP+CNO n=18 neurons from 4 animals, hM4Di+VEH n=12 neurons from 2 animals, hM4Di+CNO n=30 neurons from 9 animals.

3.4 DISCUSSION

Our findings characterize RE neuron firing patterns in an intact preparation and describe circuit dynamics underlying both the direct and indirect projections from ilPFC to RE. Pharmacological inhibition of ilPFC, while not affecting firing rate, was found to reduce the incidence of burst firing across the population of RE neurons and also reduce the mean number of spikes within a burst. In contrast, electrical stimulation of ilPFC acutely drove burst firing, and repeated stimulation was in many RE neurons able to silence almost all spontaneous activity. With respect to the distinct contributions of the TRN and monosynaptic ilPFC-RE projection to RE neuron firing parameters, but did reduce the number of spontaneously active RE neurons encountered in the recordings. Finally, inhibition of the direct ilPFC-RE pathway acutely enhanced burst firing in RE neurons.

The effects of acute inhibition or stimulation of iIPFC that were observed selectively affected burst firing parameters. This is consistent with prior studies that have shown that TRN-mediated feedforward inhibition is powerful, often overwhelming the monosynaptic corticothalamic projection (Swadlow and Weyand, 1987; Beierlein and Connors, 2002; Halassa et al., 2011; Paz et al., 2011; Crandall et al., 2015). Indeed, repeated stimulation of iIPFC completely silenced 75% of RE neurons after 20-22 stimuli. Following iIPFC inhibition, there was a reduction in the number of spikes within a burst, a parameter that depends on the amplitude of the T-type calcium channel-mediated current (i.e. the "low threshold spike") that underlies thalamic burst firing (Sherman, 2001b). It should be noted that the manipulations of iIPFC were not projection-specific, and therefore these effects could be mediated in part by feedforward inhibition arising from extrathalamic sources, such as the zona incerta (Sesack et al., 1989a; Halassa and Acsády,

2016). However, these manipulations provide the advantage of assessing the combined influence of both direct and indirect pathways on RE neuron activity. Thus, these findings demonstrate that the predominant influence of ilPFC on RE neuron firing is on firing pattern, likely via feedforward inhibition from TRN.

The effects of targeted manipulation of two monosynaptic inputs to RE neurons were also evaluated: the subregion of TRN known to project to RE and iIPFC terminals in RE. Surprisingly, acute pharmacological infusion of fluorescently-conjugated muscimol into TRN did not impact firing rate or any of the measured burst firing parameters in RE neurons, but did reduce the number of spontaneously active neurons encountered in RE. This finding suggests that in the anesthetized state, closed-loop TRN input to RE might predominate over the likely sparse glutamatergic input, producing pacemaker-like activity that, when removed, results in a portion of target neurons exhibiting no spontaneous firing, as opposed to a graded change in bursting propensity. Furthermore, the effect of inhibiting TRN itself was different than that of inhibiting iIPFC, possibly because iIPFC drives TRN firing in a way that is distinct from the intrinsic firing of TRN neurons themselves (Crandall et al., 2015).

In contrast to the effects of inhibiting iIPFC cell bodies on RE neuron firing, projectionspecific inhibition of monosynaptic iIPFC inputs to RE induced an acute enhancement of burst firing in a subset of RE neurons. This effect is likely attributable to the removal of a glutamatergic input causing a hyperpolarization of RE cells, leading to more de-inactivation of T-type calcium channels and a larger low-threshold spike (Sherman and Guillery, 2001). However, this manipulation did not enhance the mean number of spikes per burst, which was reduced concomitantly with a reduction in bursting seen following iIPFC inhibition. This effect suggests that the inhibition of the glutamatergic iIPFC-RE input has distinct effects on RE cell membrane properties compared to that of removing all iIPFC input, implying the potential for highly nuanced control of RE cell firing depending on the specific inputs that are engaged. It should be noted that individual neurons in other treatment groups did exhibit changes in burst firing following application of CNO or vehicle. In particular, burst firing was often modulated up or down following CNO application in the EGFP+CNO group. Several previous studies have characterized off-target effects of CNO (MacLaren et al., 2016; Roth, 2016; Saloman et al., 2016). However, in this study no effects were apparent in any group other than the hM4Di+CNO group when examined as a population, and the combined effects of hM4Di+CNO appear to be distinct from those of CNO by itself.

One factor to be considered is that all recordings were performed in anesthetized rats. Anesthesia is known to affect the firing properties of thalamic neurons (Alkire et al., 2008). However, the current findings are likely to be relevant to the awake state for several reasons. Thalamic burst firing has been described in sleep and wakefulness across species (Jeanmonod et al., 1996; Swadlow and Gusev, 2001; Nicolelis and Fanselow, 2002; Ramcharan et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2009), suggesting that it could be used as an important mode of information transfer in the brain in various states of consciousness. Therefore, the circuit dynamics described here could potentially be highly relevant, as anesthesia is likely to impact baseline activity but it should not qualitatively impact the effects of pathway activation or inhibition. In addition, higher-order thalamic relays, such as RE, have been shown to burst more than first-order relays, suggesting that burst firing might have even greater functional relevance in these thalamic nuclei (Ramcharan et al., 2005; Wei et al., 2011). Finally, the firing pattern of individual neurons recorded in higherorder thalamic relays, including RE, is highly heterogeneous across preparations (Ramcharan et al., 2005; Morales et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2012; Ito et al., 2015; Lara-Vasquez et al., 2016; Walsh et al., 2017), and the current findings reflect this, permitting an examination of the effects of these manipulations on an RE neuron sample with various baseline firing properties.

Corticothalamic input plays a key role in modulating thalamocortcial neuron firing pattern (Godwin et al., 1996; Briggs and Usrey, 2008; Crandall et al., 2015), possibly permitting higher efficiency of information transfer and nuanced population-level coding (Mukherjee and Kaplan, 1995; Wolfart et al., 2005; Behuret et al., 2015; Whitmire et al., 2016). The current findings demonstrate that the ilPFC can modulate multiple RE neuron burst firing parameters, including percent of spikes fired in bursts and the mean number of spikes within a burst, both in tandem and independently via the monosynaptic ilPFC-RE projection. The number of spikes within a burst has recently been demonstrated to be a robust, independent mode of information transfer in thalamic neuron models (Elijah et al., 2015). In addition, the firing pattern of thalamocortical neurons can determine the manner by which these neurons engage cortical principle neurons and interneurons (Swadlow and Gusev, 2001; Bruno and Sakmann, 2006; Bayazitov et al., 2013; Hu and Agmon, 2016; LeBlanc et al., 2017). In the case of RE in particular, the modulation of RE neuron firing by the ilPFC-TRN pathway could heavily influence how RE engages its downstream targets in the hippocampus, which include pyramidal neurons and interneurons (Dolleman-Van der Weel and Witter, 2000). Future studies examining the influence of firing pattern in RE on engagement of these circuits will be critical, given the unique circuit organization of the hippocampus compared to other cortical regions targeted by thalamic input.

We have previously demonstrated that ilPFC (Patton et al., 2013), via the ilPFC-RE-vSub circuit (Zimmerman and Grace, 2016), controls the proportion of DA neurons in the VTA that are spontaneously active ("population activity"), a critical signaling parameter in the DA system (Grace, 2016). Specifically, we showed that inhibition of the ilPFC paradoxically enhanced VTA

DA neuron population activity, but concomitant inhibition of RE prevented this effect. These findings suggested that inhibition of iIPFC disinhibits RE, but the paucity of studies examining the influence of iIPFC on RE neuron firing prevented any definitive conclusions. The current work helps to clarify these effects: specifically, inhibition of iIPFC shifts the firing pattern of the RE neuron population from bursting to tonic firing, while stimulation of iIPFC was capable of silencing RE neurons. The loss of this inhibition would depolarize RE neuron membrane potential, allowing for other inputs to exert more influence on RE neuron firing. Both of these effects would then lead to enhanced RE neuron output to the ventral hippocampus that also has a more tonic character, engaging CA1 and subiculum and leading to enhanced drive of VTA DA neurons via the vSub-NAc-VP pathway (Floresco et al., 2001; 2003). From a clinical perspective disruption of corticothalamic communication in these circuits, as has been observed in schizophrenia (Woodward et al., 2012; Anticevic et al., 2014; 2015a; Woodward and Heckers, 2016), could lead to deficits in prefrontal-hippocampal-dependent behaviors (Reagh et al., 2017) and a dysregulated, hyperdopaminergic state, both of which may play a role in the disease.

4.0 GENERAL DISCUSSION

4.1 SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

The studies described in this dissertation reveal a novel role for the ilPFC-RE-vSub circuit in controlling VTA DA neuron firing and confirm that corticothalamic input from ilPFC to RE, both via direct projections and the TRN, can modulate RE neuron firing pattern in nuanced and complex ways.

In Chapter 2, we presented evidence suggesting that RE is a novel region involved in control of VTA DA neuron population activity. Pharmacological stimulation of RE enhanced DA neuron population activity, without affecting average firing rate, and mildly enhanced burst firing. The same stimulation paradigm also enhanced amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion, a behavioral correlate of an over-responsive DA system. Furthermore, we showed that the effect of RE stimulation is prevented if vSub is also inhibited, suggesting that activity in vSub is necessary for RE to drive VTA DA neuron firing. Finally, inactivation of RE prevented the increase in VTA DA neuron population activity observed following ilPFC inhibition, suggesting that ilPFC inhibition disinhibits RE. Taken together, these findings support a model whereby inactivation of ilPFC leads to an increase in RE firing, driving vSub and enhancing VTA DA neuron population activity.

In Chapter 3, we presented findings that characterized the diverse array of RE neuron firing patterns in an intact preparation and described the circuit dynamics underlying both the direct and indirect projections from ilPFC to RE. We found that pharmacological inhibition of ilPFC, while not affecting firing rate, reduced the incidence of burst firing across the population of RE neurons and also reduced the mean number of spikes within a burst. In contrast, electrical stimulation of ilPFC acutely drove burst firing, and repeated stimulation was in many cells able to silence almost

74

all spontaneous activity. Next, we examined the distinct contributions of the TRN and monosynaptic ilPFC-RE projection to RE neuron firing. We found that pharmacological inhibition of TRN did not affect any of the measured RE neuron firing parameters, but did reduce the number of spontaneously active RE neurons encountered in our recordings. Finally, inhibition of the direct ilPFC-RE pathway acutely enhanced burst firing in RE neurons. Our findings show that ilPFC can modulate multiple aspects of RE neuron firing across diverse timescales.

4.2 CONTROL OF DOPAMINE NEURON FIRING BY DISTRIBUTED NETWORKS

Our findings suggest that RE drives VTA DA neuron population activity via vSub (Fig. 4-1). We have shown previously that acute infusion of NMDA into vSub also enhances VTA DA neuron population activity (Floresco et al., 2003), suggesting that RE is acting primarily by promoting ventral CA1 (vCA1)/vSub output. Previous findings support the idea that RE can increase pyramidal cell firing in vHipp (Dolleman-Van der Weel et al., 1997), but the precise manner by which this occurs is not clear. Projections from RE to the vHipp are densest in vCA1 and vSub, with almost all terminals limited to the SLM/molecular layer (Vertes et al., 2006). These fibers synapse onto apical tufted dendrites of pyramidal cells, as well as interneuron dendrites and cell bodies (Dolleman-Van der Weel and Witter, 2000). By engaging these postsynaptic targets, RE can likely modulate not only pyramidal cell firing, but also interneuron firing in a wide variety of cell types and anatomical locations in vHipp, and this has been shown experimentally (Dolleman-Van der Weel et al., 1997). In addition, afferents from perirhinal and entorhinal cortex comingle with fibers from RE in the SLM of vCA1/vSub, and RE itself projects to entorhinal and perirhinal cortex (Freund and Buzsáki, 1996; Baks-te Bulte et al., 2005; Agster and Burwell, 2013; Dolleman-Van der Weel et al., 2016). These findings suggest that the influence of RE on vHipp



Figure 4-1: Proposed circuit model for corticothalamic modulation of VTA DA neuron population activity.

Taken together, our findings suggest that inhibition of iIPFC leads to enhanced VTA DA neuron population activity via the above circuitry. A loss of feedforward inhibition from TRN would disinhibit RE cells, which would then drive vSub activity. vSub would then engage the NAc-VP pathway, disinhibiting VTA DA cells, and enhancing population activity. The manner in which different RE neuron firing patterns engage vSub is an open but intriguing question.

could be mediated by these intervening structures. In our data we are not able to definitively rule out the potential involvement of these parallel pathways (See "*Technical Considerations and Limitations*"), necessitating further study of these circuits using projection-specific techniques.

While studies on how RE engages its diverse postsynaptic targets in vCA1/vSub are sparse, a previous study has demonstrated that the manner in which RE affects firing in hippocampus might depend on the firing pattern of RE neurons (Xu and Südhof, 2013). Xu and Südof showed that stimulating RE using "tonic" or "burst-firing" patterns during fear memory encoding had opposing effects on context-dependent memory generalization. While this behavioral effect was striking, the stimuli used were not physiologically accurate and the authors did not record the electrophysiological effects of the stimuli in hippocampus. However, the manner in which firing pattern affects thalamic engagement of cortical targets has been studied in other thalamocortical projections, specifically that of the ventrobasal thalamic nucleus (VBM) to barreloids in the somatosensory cortex (Swadlow and Gusev, 2001; Swadlow, 2002; Hu and Agmon, 2016). Specifically, these studies have shown that, like RE, VBM projections can drive firing in both pyramidal neurons and interneurons. This is true whether VBM fires/is stimulated in a tonic or burst pattern. However, it was shown that burst firing is much more efficacious at driving pyramidal neurons and somatostatin-positive interneurons, but not fast-spiking interneurons (Hu and Agmon, 2016). In our experiments, we used an acute infusion of NMDA to stimulate RE neuron firing. This manipulation likely resulted in depolarization of RE neurons, theoretically promoting tonic firing, but we did not directly measure the effect of NMDA on RE neuron firing pattern. It is possible that our exogenous, non-physiological application of NMDA resulted in an enhanced, but dysregulated firing pattern in RE. However, the finding that NMDA infusion into RE resulted in enhanced VTA DA population activity suggests that this type of input is sufficient to drive vSub. Taken together, while these findings are intriguing, future studies will be necessary to determine how RE efferents engage the microcircuitry of the hippocampus and to what extent this depends on firing pattern.

Our findings suggest that RE control of DA neuron firing is gated by inputs from ilPFC. Specifically, we showed that inhibition of ilPFC enhances VTA DA neuron population activity, but this effect is prevented if RE is also inhibited. This suggests that removal of iIPFC input to RE disinhibits RE, permitting RE drive of vCA1/vSub and enhanced VTA DA neuron population activity. The findings from our RE recording experiments are broadly in line with this idea. We showed that the predominant influence of ilPFC on RE neuron firing is likely mediated by feedforward inhibition from the TRN. This is consistent with other studies of corticothalamic projections showing that the cortico-TRN synapse is much stronger than the monosynaptic corticothalamic synapse (Golshani et al., 2001; Paz et al., 2011). While this specific finding has not been shown in RE, we demonstrated that repeated stimulation of iIPFC led to predominantly burst firing in RE neurons and in many cases a complete cessation of spontaneous activity. In addition, another previous study showed that removal of GABAergic inputs to RE (the majority of which are presumably from TRN) enhances cfos expression in dCA1 (Xu and Südhof, 2013). As discussed above, the ability of differential RE firing patterns to drive activity in vSub remains an open question. However, our findings suggest that feedforward input from the ilPFC-TRN pathway causes burst firing in RE neurons, and that removal of this input is permissive for RE engagement of vCA1/vSub in a manner that promotes activity in the vSub-NAc-VP-VTA pathway.

The ilPFC-TRN-RE circuit is likely one of several pathways by which ilPFC modulates VTA DA neuron firing. Previous studies from our group have shown that acute pharmacological stimulation of ilPFC decreases VTA DA neuron population activity (Patton et al., 2013). This

78

effect depends on concomitant activity in BLA and glutamatergic input to the VP, suggesting that a ilPFC-BLA-VP circuit can downregulate VTA firing during various behavioral states, including chronic stress (Belujon and Grace, 2011; Chang and Grace, 2014; Moreines et al., 2017). Considered in the context of the current work, these findings suggest that activity in ilPFC can reduce VTA DA neuron population activity by both inhibiting RE and driving VP. These pathways are likely to be parallel but distinct, as RE inputs to BLA are weak (Su and Bentivoglio, 1990; Vertes et al., 2006). In addition to the ilPFC-BLA pathway, ilPFC also sends projections to the entorhinal and perirhinal cortices, although they are likely less influential than those from plPFC (Sesack et al., 1989b; Vertes, 2003). Finally, in addition to the polysynaptic circuits discussed thus far, ilPFC also sends monosynaptic projections to the VTA (Sesack et al., 1989b; Carr and Sesack, 2000b; Sesack and Grace, 2010). However, these efferents preferentially target corticallyprojecting DA neurons and GABAergic long-range projection neurons, making them less likely to be involved in control of firing in striatally-projecting VTA DA neurons.

While the present work is the first to implicate a specific corticothalamic projection in the control of VTA DA neuron firing, the idea that mPFC modulates the broader, network-level impact of VTA activity, often in concert with the hippocampus, has been demonstrated previously. Stimulation of the mPFC blunts the striatal BOLD response to VTA DA neuron stimulation and attenuates behavioral seeking of VTA stimulation (Ferenczi et al., 2016). In addition, it has been shown that a 4 hz oscillation, through phase coupling with theta and gamma-band rhythms, coordinates activity in the mPFC, hippocampus, and VTA (Fujisawa and Buzsáki, 2011). Intriguingly, another study showed that inhibition of RE reduces coherence between mPFC and hippocampus in the delta (i.e. 2-5 hz) band (Roy et al., 2017). Finally, a human fMRI study showed that activity in mPFC and hippocampus predict distinct, but likely interdependent and

complementary, modes of VTA activation (Murty et al., 2017). Taken together, these findings suggest that the circuits identified in the present work are likely to impact not just VTA firing, but also broader network function in the context of several different classes of behavior.

4.3 IMPLICATIONS FOR CORTICOTHALAMIC COMMUNICATION IN NUCLEUS REUNIENS AND THALAMUS IN GENERAL

Our findings suggest that ilPFC exerts a potent influence on RE neuron firing pattern, likely via feedforward inhibition from TRN (Fig. 4-1). This motif in corticothalamic communication is wellestablished in other brain areas (e.g. the visual system), but not in RE. Based on previous findings in other corticothalamic projections, it is likely that the influence of ilPFC on TRN and RE firing is complex and dynamic. It has been shown that corticothalamic projections engage not only feedforward inhibition from TRN ("CT-TRN" synapse), but also intra-TRN inhibition, feedforward inhibition from extrathalamic nuclei (e.g. zona incerta), and local interneurons (Huntsman et al., 1999; Halassa and Acsády, 2016). The strength of these connections is also likely to be determined by different mechanisms than those of thalamocortical neuron-TRN synapses ("TC-TRN" synapse), e.g. GluA4-containing AMPA receptors are more highly expressed at CT-TRN synapses than TC-TRN synapses (Golshani et al., 2001; Paz et al., 2011; Ahrens et al., 2015). This also implies that the effects of CT-TRN inputs on RE firing are likely different than those of intrinsic TRN activity or TRN activity driven by other afferent inputs. Indeed, we observed disparate effects on RE neuron firing pattern following inhibition of ilPFC vs. inhibition of TRN by itself. While our findings provide a starting point, these considerations make it clear that more precise dissection of corticothalamic inputs to RE will be required in future studies.

Our Designer Receptors Exclusively Activated by Designer Drugs (DREADDs)-based manipulations revealed an effect of the direct, monosynaptic projection from ilPFC to RE (a "CT-TC" synapse) on firing pattern in RE neurons. While the impact of these connections is likely to be weaker than those from the ilPFC-TRN pathway, our findings nonetheless demonstrated that inhibition of this projection enhanced burst firing in a subset of RE neurons. While only ~30% of recorded RE neurons were impacted by this manipulation, this could be because many of the neurons we recorded did not receive inputs from ilPFC, or from ilPFC axons expressing sufficient levels of the hM4Di protein. In addition, previous studies have highlighted the potentially potent impact of the CT-TC pathway. Following TRN lesion, inhibition, or GluA4-receptor knockout, stimulation of cortex switches from a predominantly inhibitory (as we have demonstrated) to a predominantly excitatory effect on thalamic neuron firing (Deschêenes and Hu, 1990; Hu, 1993; Paz et al., 2011). Corticothalamic inputs can also paradoxically drive thalamic neuron firing if stimulated at a high enough frequency by 1) inducing short-term depression at the TRN-TC synapse and 2) facilitation at the CT-TC synapse via NMDA receptors (Crandall et al., 2015). In fact, CT-TC and CT-TRN synapses display a larger amount of NMDA-mediated currents than TC-TRN synapses (Deleuze and Huguenard, 2016; Pinault, 2017). This suggests that corticothalamic input could exert longer-term modulation of membrane potential and plasticity via NMDA receptor activation at CT-TC synapses.

In each experiment where we manipulated iIPFC cell bodies or axon terminals and recorded in RE, we observed effects specific to burst firing parameters, with less impact on overall firing rate. While this could be a result of our recordings being performed in anesthetized animals, it suggests that a primary function of corticothalamic input is to modulate the firing pattern of thalamic cells – an idea that has been discussed previously but lacks experimental verification (Briggs and Usrey, 2008). Previous findings suggest that modulation of firing pattern might be especially important in higher-order thalamic nuclei like RE. Higher-order nuclei burst much more than first-order nuclei in the awake state, possibly due to enhanced input from extrathalamic sources of inhibition and higher levels of T-type calcium channel expression (Ramcharan et al., 2005; Wei et al., 2011). Burst firing in higher-order nuclei is not just more common than in firstorder nuclei, but is also more diverse on a cell-by-cell basis. Ramcharan and colleagues demonstrated that in the awake monkey, LGN neurons rarely exhibited more than 5% of spikes fired in bursts, while MD neurons exhibited a range of percentage of spikes fired in bursts from 5% to almost 50% (Ramcharan et al., 2005). While our data were collected in the anesthetized state and therefore were skewed towards a higher incidence of bursting, we still observed a broad range of burst firing propensity between individual RE neurons. This suggests that burst firing in higher-order relays could have more functional significance than in first-order relays, as well as a more nuanced impact on cortical targets than the "wake-up call" function proposed for bursting in sensory nuclei (Sherman, 2001a). In addition, previous studies have shown that a mixed tonic and bursting pattern makes the information transfer function in thalamocortical cells more efficacious and linear (Wolfart et al., 2005; Behuret et al., 2015). Taken together, these findings highlight the potentially profound functional significance of corticothalamic modulation of firing pattern in higher-order thalamic nuclei.

4.4 TECHNICAL CONSIDERATIONS AND LIMITATIONS

4.4.1 *Anesthesia*. All of the electrophysiological recordings described here were performed in chloral hydrate-anesthetized animals. Anesthesia has been shown to profoundly impact the activity of higher brain areas (Brown et al., 2011). However, we have used chloral hydrate anesthesia

extensively in recordings of VTA (Floresco et al., 2003; Lodge and Grace, 2007; Valenti et al., 2012), as well as several other brain regions including BLA (Rosenkranz and Grace, 2001; 2002), mPFC (Lavin et al., 2005), NAc (Belujon et al., 2014), and MD (Lavin and Grace, 1998). Chloral hydrate has been shown to exert minimal effects on DA neuron firing properties compared to the awake state (Chiodo and Bunney, 1985; Freeman and Bunney, 1987). In addition, we have repeatedly demonstrated that chloral hydrate does not obscure the effects of pathway activation or inhibition (Floresco et al., 2003; Lodge and Grace, 2007; Patton et al., 2013; Chang and Grace, 2014; Moreines et al., 2017) and that opposite manipulations in the same region can result in bidirectional effects, even in higher brain areas such as mPFC (Patton et al., 2013), which are thought to be mostly silent in the anesthetized state. These principles held in the present study, where bidirectional manipulations of iIPFC produced obvious effects on RE firing, suggesting pathway integrity and the presence of baseline levels of activity that could be up- or downmodulated. It should be noted that the firing pattern of RE in our data was biased towards more bursting than has been demonstrated in other higher-order nuclei in the awake state (Ramcharan et al., 2005). However, bursting propensity in RE was still distributed across a broad range, even in the same animal in close temporal and spatial proximity, as has been reported in awake recordings in other higher-order thalamic nuclei (Ramcharan et al., 2005; Wei et al., 2011). In fact, the predominance of bursting we observed in the anesthetized state might represent an advantage of our approach, as the impact of our manipulations on bursting might have been more apparent than would be observed in the awake state. Nonetheless, future studies utilizing recent technical innovations would allow for the manipulation of the pathways assessed in the present studies in awake, behaving animals, at rest and in various behavioral contexts, and would be illuminating.

4.4.2 *Extracellular Recording*. All of the electrophysiological recordings described here were performed in vivo and were extracellular. In the VTA, this limited our identification criteria for DA neurons to waveform characteristics and firing pattern, in the absence of more intrusive/less practical approaches such as juxtacellular labeling or pharmacology (Ungless and Grace, 2012). Despite our group's extensive experience with VTA recordings, heterogeneity in the function of TH+ VTA neurons is an ongoing area of research (Stamatakis et al., 2013; Morales and Root, 2014; Mejias-Aponte et al., 2015) However, the vast majority of midbrain DA neurons (i.e. TH+ neurons) can be reliably identified using firmly established criteria (Ungless and Grace, 2012), which we have employed in the present work. We also sampled a large number of DA neurons, limiting the impact of misidentifications.

In our RE recordings, the extracellular configuration presented the limitation that we could not monitor membrane potential, a known determinant of firing pattern in thalamic neurons (Sherman, 2001b). However, the biophysical mechanisms underlying burst firing in the thalamus have been extensively characterized, and we utilized firmly established criteria to identify burst firing (Guido et al., 1992; Sherman, 1996). In addition, given that our recordings were in an intact preparation we cannot definitively rule out the possibility that some of the neurons included in our analyses were located outside the borders of RE. However, this is likely to occur only in a minority of cases, limiting the impact of misidentifications due to our relatively large sample sizes.

4.4.3 *Manipulation of Neural Activity*. To manipulate neural activity in our studies, we used acute, local infusions of drugs, electrical stimulation, and a projection-specific, DREADDs-based approach. Major limitations of pharmacologically manipulating neural activity include uncertainty about diffusion radius, dose-dependent differences in effects on target cells, and possible effects

on fibers of passage. Using drug infusions also prevents us from making any conclusions based on the function of specific projections. For example, while infusion of NMDA into RE enhanced VTA DA neuron population activity, this effect was prevented if vSub was also inhibited, and a monosynaptic projection from RE to vSub has been described, we are limited to stating that communication between RE and vSub is necessary for the effect of NMDA in RE on VTA DA neuron population activity. Limitations of electrical stimulation include the possibility of antidromic activation and tachypylaxis, although these can be avoided by limiting stimulus intensity and careful examination of response latency, as we have done in the present studies.

DREADDs offer a powerful tool for temporally-precise, projection-specific, and multiplexed manipulation of neural activity (Roth, 2016). However, multiple off-target effects of DREADDs proteins and clozapine-n-oxide (CNO) have recently been described (MacLaren et al., 2016; Saloman et al., 2016; Smith et al., 2016). In particular, the hM4Di protein has been shown to constitutively activate Gi signaling in the absence of CNO in certain preparations (Saloman et al., 2016), and CNO has been shown to affect behavior in animals not expressing DREADDs proteins (MacLaren et al., 2016), possibly because it is metabolized to clozapine in rodents (Lin et al., 1996). Germane to our studies, serotonin receptors in higher-order thalamic nuclei can modulate membrane potential (Varela and Sherman, 2009). Indeed, we did observe effects of CNO in animals expressing only EGFP. However, these effects were inconsistent, sometimes present after vehicle infusion in EGFP-only animals, and did not result in any group-level effects when data from all recorded neurons were pooled. These effects were also distinct from the effects of CNO in the hM4Di group, which were clear and consistent at the individual neuron level and in the group data. The "within-cell" design of our DREADDs experiments also rules out the possibility of any effects of the hM4Di protein by itself in our studies, other than an effect on before-CNO firing, which was not observed as compared to EGFP-only groups. In future DREADDs-based studies, it will be useful to employ newer actuators with higher specificity for DREADDs proteins and less chemically-active metabolites, e.g. Compound 21 (Chen et al., 2015).

4.4.4 Anatomical Homologies of Cortico-Hippocampal Relays in Rodents and Primates. The anatomy of RE has been well-described in the rat (Cassel et al., 2013; Vertes et al., 2015). While its characterization in other species is not as thorough (Amaral and Cowan, 1980; Yanagihara et al., 1987; Giménez-Amaya et al., 1995; Sánchez-González et al., 2005), previous findings have provided some insight into the afferent and efferent connections of RE, as well as the diversity of pathways connecting the mPFC, thalamus, and hippocampus across species. According to the Paxinos Atlas of the Human Brain (Mai et al., 2015), RE lies anterior and ventral to the MD, bordering the third ventricle and contributing to the massa intermedia (with individual variation). Regarding thalamic efferents to hippocampus, a retrograde tracing study in primate reported projections to hippocampus from the paraventricular, paratenial, and laterodorsal nuclei, as well as the anterior nuclear complex and RE (Amaral and Cowan, 1980). The diversity of these projections is consistent with work in rodents, and notably doesn't include MD in either species (Wyss et al., 1979; Moga et al., 1995; Vertes and Hoover, 2008; Aggleton et al., 2010). In turn, projections from the hippocampus terminate in the anterior complex, laterodorsal nucleus, RE, and magnocellular portion of MD in primates and rodents (Aggleton, 2012; Pergola et al., 2015; Mathiasen et al., 2017). Medial temporal lobe afferents to MD mostly arise from the entorhinal and perirhinal cortices, while the anterior complex and RE are targeted primarily by subiculum (Russchen et al., 1987; Mitchell and Chakraborty, 2013).

The findings discussed thus far suggest that multiple subnuclei within the thalamus could potentially fulfill the anatomical criteria for a relay between cortex and hippocampus, a function often attributed to RE by itself (Cassel et al., 2013). Once again, studies in primates and rodents examining cortical efferents to the thalamus are informative. The anterior complex, one potential candidate for a cortico-hippocampal relay, is not densely targeted by Brodmann areas 25 or 32 in primates or ilPFC/plPFC in rodents (Freedman et al., 2000; Vertes, 2003), but does receive input from Brodmann area 23 (Yeterian and Pandya, 1988). In contrast, Brodmann area 25/iIPFC (Russo and Nestler, 2013; Delgado et al., 2016; Heilbronner et al., 2016a) projects to the majority of the midline thalamus, including the magnocellular MD, paraventricular nucleus, paratenial nucleus, and RE (Freedman et al., 2000; Vertes, 2003). Thus, anatomical findings to date across species suggest that RE is likely a key mediator of communication between the mPFC and hippocampus. However, other thalamic regions could play a role in this regard. In particular, it will be intriguing to examine the contributions of the paraventricular nucleus, as it has been shown to be important for various behaviors that could depend on coordinated action between mPFC and hippocampus (Do-Monte et al., 2015; Penzo et al., 2015).

4.5 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF SCHIZOPHRENIA

A large body of evidence suggests that the hyperdopaminergic phenotype observed in schizophrenia is caused by dysfunction in the afferent circuitry regulating the activity of VTA DA neurons (for review, see Grace, 2016). To this end, our group and others have focused on using preclinical rodent models to dissect this circuitry, in order to provide a circuit basis for translational and human subjects studies. In keeping with this motivation, the current work has identified a novel role for the ilPFC-RE-vSub circuit in controlling VTA DA neuron activity. In addition, our

studies have described the effects of a loss of prefrontal corticothalamic input on firing properties in RE. Therefore, we believe our findings have several important implications for future studies of circuit abnormalities in schizophrenia, especially when considered in light of functional imaging studies in patients.

4.5.1 The Thalamus as a Driver of Dopamine Neuron Activity. We have shown that pharmacological stimulation of RE is sufficient to enhance VTA DA neuron population activity and that this effect depends on activity in vSub (Fig. 4-1). This finding is somewhat difficult to interpret in light of human subjects findings, as functional imaging studies of the thalamus in patients with schizophrenia are inconsistent. While some studies report no differences in intrinsic, resting-state activity in the thalamus (Kühn and Gallinat, 2013), others report increased taskrelated activity (Silbersweig et al., 1995; Théberge et al., 2002; Tregellas et al., 2007b), with most studies being limited by the difficulty in resolving thalamic subnuclei using fMRI. However, decreased fractional anisotropy (FA) in the anterior thalamic radiation has been demonstrated in patients (McIntosh et al., 2008; Oh et al., 2009; Bernard et al., 2015). In particular, one study showed that ultra high risk patients exhibited a higher FA of the thalamo-hippocampal tract at baseline, which correlated with the emergence of symptoms one year later and decreased over time (Bernard et al., 2015). Another study reported reduced resting-state functional connectivity between the whole thalamus and anterior hippocampus in symptomatic psychotic patients across diagnostic categories (Samudra et al., 2015). While these findings leave thalamic function in schizophrenia an open question, we believe that it would be reasonable to speculate that hyperactivity of the anterior hippocampus, a well-documented phenomenon in schizophrenia (Heckers and Konradi, 2010; Schobel et al., 2013; Tregellas et al., 2014), could impact and/or

involve interconnected thalamic nuclei. In addition, the impact of thalamic inputs on anterior hippocampal circuits in patients with schizophrenia would likely be altered by the loss of PV-positive interneurons that has been described in the disease (Konradi et al., 2011), possibly further contributing to hippocampal hyperexcitability. Overall, these finding suggest that aberrant thalamo-hippocampal interactions could contribute to the hyperdopaminergic phenotype observed in schizophrenia (Lisman et al., 2010), but further studies will be needed to confirm this possibility.

4.5.2 Impact of a Loss of Cortical Input to Thalamus on Dopaminergic Function. Here we demonstrate that inhibition of iIPFC induces an increase in VTA DA neuron population activity and alters firing pattern in RE. In patients with schizophrenia, several studies have identified hypoconnectivity between the mPFC/dorsolateral PFC (DLPFC) and the anterior/MD nuclei of the thalamus, including RE (Welsh et al., 2008; Woodward et al., 2012; Anticevic et al., 2014; Pergola et al., 2015; Giraldo-Chica and Woodward, 2017). This hypoconnectivity is present in clinical high risk patients, is more severe in patients that convert to psychosis, and was also demonstrated in a separate sample of patients <2 years after their initial diagnosis (Anticevic et al., 2015a; Woodward and Heckers, 2016). While these studies did not assess DA function, previous findings support the idea that PFC dysfunction could perpetuate a hyperdopaminergic state. It has been shown that during a working memory task patients with schizophrenia exhibit lower activity in DLPFC that correlates with enhanced striatal fluorodopa uptake and SN activity (Meyer-Lindenberg et al., 2002; Yoon et al., 2013), and that markers of DLPFC dysfunction in patients predict enhanced raclopride discplacement after amphetamine challenge (Bertolino et al., 2000). In the context of the current work, these findings suggest that a loss of cortical input to thalamus could lead to dysfunction in subcortical networks that perpetuates a hyperdopaminergic state.

4.5.3 Impact of a Loss of Cortical Input to TRN on Thalamic Circuit Function. Our data suggest that the effects of inhibition/stimulation of ilPFC on RE neuron firing pattern depend heavily on feedforward inhibition from the TRN. Consistent deficits in TRN structure and function in patients with schizophrenia have been described, including interneuron loss (Smith et al., 2001; Burgess et al., 2016) and reduced sleep spindles (Ferrarelli and Tononi, 2011; Wamsley et al., 2012; Ferrarelli and Tononi, 2017). While TRN can intrinsically generate sleep spindle-like activity (Steriade et al., 1987), cortical input is necessary to synchronize sleep spindles across cortical areas (De Gennaro and Ferrara, 2003). Strikingly, patients with schizophrenia also show a decreased thalamic BOLD response to transcranial magnetic stimulation of cortex, which implies less effective cortical feedback and weakened TRN engagement (Guller et al., 2012). These findings suggest that intrinsic dysfunction within the TRN, along with cortical microcircuit abnormalities known to be present in schizophrenia (Lewis et al., 2005), could reduce the ability of cortex to regulate activity in thalamus. In addition, our findings show that this loss of corticothalamic-TRN input could lead to altered firing pattern in thalamic cells and therefore altered engagement of hippocampal targets. This deficit would likely be relevant for awake behaviors (Halassa et al., 2014; Wimmer et al., 2015; Wells et al., 2016) and for spindle-dependent memory consolidation in sleep, which is known to be disrupted in schizophrenia (De Gennaro and Ferrara, 2003; Wamsley et al., 2012; Ferrarelli and Tononi, 2017) Taken together, these findings suggest that the TRN should be examined in future studies of thalamic function and cortico-hippocampal communication in schizophrenia.

4.5.4 Corticothalamic Communication and Memory-Related Deficits in Schizophrenia. Our findings demonstrate that manipulating ilPFC can dramatically alter firing pattern in RE and

population activity in VTA. These circuit dynamics likely underlie several complex behaviors, in particular those that depend on prefrontal-hippocampal interactions. However, the behavioral relevance of the ilPFC-TRN-RE-vSub circuit is not well-described. This circuit is analogous to the ventromedial PFC (vmPFC)-TRN-RE-aCA1 circuit in humans, where vmPFC here is defined as Brodmann Area 25 and neighboring regions (Ochsner et al., 2012; Delgado et al., 2016). In this section we explore findings that suggest a unifying theory for the function of corticothalamic input to the RE-hippocampal network. In addition, we argue that dysfunction in these circuits could contribute to the psychotic symptoms of schizophrenia, in particular aberrant salience.

Emerging evidence in rodents suggests that RE is important for the encoding, consolidation, and retrieval of context-dependent fear memories (Davoodi et al., 2011; Xu and Südhof, 2013; Jin et al., 2015; Kitamura et al., 2017; Sierra et al., 2017; Vetere et al., 2017). Inhibition of RE during recall testing impairs the retrieval of extinction memories (Jin et al., 2015), while simultaneous inhibition of the ilPFC-RE and ilPFC-TRN projections during conditioning generalizes fear responding to an altered version of the training context 48hrs later (Xu and Südhof, 2013). These findings complement a robust literature demonstrating that ilPFC/vmPFC is necessary for consolidation and retrieval of context-dependent extinction memories across species (Quirk et al., 2006; Sotres-Bayon and Quirk, 2010; Milad and Quirk, 2012; Zelikowsky et al., 2009; 2012). Specifically, while patients can acquire and extinguish conditioned fear responses, they exhibit impaired extinction recall that is associated with decreased vmPFC activity compared to controls (Holt et al., 2012).

A recent fMRI study in humans has demonstrated a role for RE in the encoding of novel and familiar stimuli (Reagh et al., 2017). Subjects in the study were asked to encode stimuli presented once or repeatedly, then asked to differentiate the stimuli based on presentation frequency. Correct recognition of repeated stimuli, but not singly-presented stimuli, was associated with enhanced functional connectivity between vmPFC/ACC and RE, and reduced functional connectivity between vmPFC/RE and aCA1. These findings are in line with studies implicating vmPFC in novelty processing (Garrido et al., 2015) and those showing that anterior hippocampus is active in response to novel stimuli and habituates as stimuli become more familiar (Knight, 1996; Murty et al., 2013; Kaplan et al., 2014). Patients with schizophrenia exhibit deficits in novelty processing in a variety of task paradigms. For example, during a recognition memory task patients failed to activate the anterior hippocampus in response to new items (Weiss et al., 2004). In addition, patients exhibit a lack of habituation of hippocampal activation in response to repeated presentation of fearful faces (Holt et al., 2005) and this finding has been correlated with memory impairment in the disease (Williams et al., 2013). During fear conditioning patients with schizophrenia show reduced physiological and neural responses to the CS+ compared to controls, as well as heightened responses to the CS- that are associated with enhanced activation of the anterior hippocampus and thalamus (Holt et al., 2012)

The findings discussed above make it tempting to speculate about a general function for the ilPFC-TRN-RE-vSub (vmPFC-TRN-RE-aCA1) circuit in normal behavior and disease states. Specifically, they suggest that thalamic input to anterior hippocampus promotes associative learning and signals novelty, both processes that could also be promoted by enhanced VTA output following RE activation (Lisman and Grace, 2005; Lisman et al., 2010; Kempadoo et al., 2016; Moreno Castilla et al., 2017). This theory is in line with the known function of the anterior hippocampus in encoding the non-spatial, emotional, and affective aspects of context (Grace, 2012b; Liberzon and Abelson, 2016). In contrast, the findings discussed above suggest that corticothalamic input from vmPFC encodes safety and signals familiarity, both of which might be promoted by reduced VTA output following ilPFC/vmPFC activation (Schultz, 2007; Patton et al., 2013; Grace, 2016). This theory is in line with previous studies suggesting that vmPFC suppresses the retrieval of contextually-irrelevant memories (Depue, 2012; Navawongse and Eichenbaum, 2013; Delgado et al., 2016). Based on the current work, these proposed effects are likely to be mediated by gating of thalamo-hippocampal interactions by the ilPFC/vmPFC-TRN circuit. Taken together, these ideas suggest opposing roles for vmPFC and anterior hippocampus in memory and novelty processing, mediated by a thalamic relay.

In schizophrenia, a loss of vmPFC input to thalamus (Anticevic et al., 2014; Giraldo-Chica and Woodward, 2017) and intrinsic dysfunction in TRN (Ferrarelli and Tononi, 2011; Burgess et al., 2016) have been described. Based on the model outlined above, these circuit abnormalities would result in dysregulated thalamo-hippocampal communication. Combined with hyperactivity in anterior hippocampus (Heckers and Konradi, 2010), this could promote perpetual and/or inaccurate encoding of stimuli as novel or contextually relevant – i.e. salient (Lisman et al., 2010; Winton-Brown et al., 2014; Pinault, 2017). The experience of aberrant salience in schizophrenia is well-documented and has been described as "…an emotional and sensory overload, with a growing sense that things and events around them [patients] have a hidden important meaning" (Winton-Brown et al., 2014). These symptoms have traditionally been attributed to enhanced dopaminergic transmission (Howes et al., 2007). However, hyperdopaminergia is likely one component of a broader circuit deficit in schizophrenia. Thus, we propose that in schizophrenia, a loss of prefrontal regulation of thalamo-hippocampal communication contributes to the persistence of aberrant salience both by disrupting hippocampal function and disinhibiting DA signaling. As a whole, this section describes how dysfunction in the vmPFC-TRN-RE-aCA1 circuit could account for known behavioral deficits in schizophrenia. Of course, rigorous future studies will be needed to test these predictions. We present this theory in the hopes that it will motivate studies of psychotic symptoms in schizophrenia with a focus on corticothalamic communication, the TRN, and the other distributed circuits discussed here. Indeed, inspiration could be gained from findings in other areas of psychiatric neuroscience – in the field of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) research, the symptoms of hyperarousal, intrusive thoughts, and overgeneralization have long been linked to deficits in prefrontal-hippocampal circuits (Milad and Quirk, 2012; Maren et al., 2013; Liberzon and Abelson, 2016). Hopefully future studies incorporating these ideas will lead to more effective biomarkers and/or treatments for schizophrenia.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abi-Dargham A, Rodenhiser J, Printz D, Zea-Ponce Y, Gil R, Kegeles LS, Weiss R, Cooper TB, Mann JJ, Van Heertum RL, Gorman JM, Laruelle M (2000) Increased baseline occupancy of D2 receptors by dopamine in schizophrenia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:8104–8109.
- Adriano F, Caltagirone C, Spalletta G (2011) Hippocampal Volume Reduction in First-Episode and Chronic Schizophrenia. The Neuroscientist 18:180–200.
- Aggleton JP (2012) Multiple anatomical systems embedded within the primate medial temporal lobe: implications for hippocampal function. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 36:1579–1596.
- Aggleton JP, O'Mara SM, Vann SD, Wright NF, Tsanov M, Erichsen JT (2010) Hippocampal– anterior thalamic pathways for memory: uncovering a network of direct and indirect actions. European Journal of Neuroscience 31:2292–2307.
- Agster KL, Burwell RD (2013) Hippocampal and subicular efferents and afferents of the perirhinal, postrhinal, and entorhinal cortices of the rat. Behav Brain Res 254:50–64.
- Ahrens S, Jaramillo S, Yu K, Ghosh S, Hwang G-R, Paik R, Lai C, He M, Huang ZJ, Li B (2015) ErbB4 regulation of a thalamic reticular nucleus circuit for sensory selection. Nat Neurosci 18:104–111.
- Alkire MT, Hudetz AG, Tononi G (2008) Consciousness and Anesthesia. Science 322:876-880.
- Allen P, Luigjes J, Howes OD, Egerton A, Hirao K, Valli I, Kambeitz J, Fusar-Poli P, Broome M, McGuire P (2012) Transition to psychosis associated with prefrontal and subcortical dysfunction in ultra high-risk individuals. Schizophr Bull 38:1268–1276.
- Allen TA, Narayanan NS, Kholodar-Smith DB, Zhao Y, Laubach M, Brown TH (2008) Imaging the spread of reversible brain inactivations using fluorescent muscimol. Journal of Neuroscience Methods 171:30–38.
- Amaral DG, Cowan WM (1980) Subcortical afferents to the hippocampal formation in the monkey. J Comp Neurol 189:573–591.
- American Psychiatric Association (2013) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-5). Arlington: American Psychiatric Association.
- Andrews J, Wang L, Csernansky JG, Gado MH, Barch DM (2006) Abnormalities of thalamic activation and cognition in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 163:463–469.
- Anticevic A et al. (2015a) Association of Thalamic Dysconnectivity and Conversion to Psychosis in Youth and Young Adults at Elevated Clinical Risk. JAMA Psychiatry 72:882– 891.
- Anticevic A, Cole MW, Repovs G, Murray JD, Brumbaugh MS, Winkler AM, Savic A, Krystal JH, Pearlson GD, Glahn DC (2014) Characterizing thalamo-cortical disturbances in schizophrenia and bipolar illness. Cereb Cortex 24:3116–3130.
- Anticevic A, Savic A, Repovs G, Yang G, McKay DR, Sprooten E, Knowles EE, Krystal JH, Pearlson GD, Glahn DC (2015b) Ventral anterior cingulate connectivity distinguished nonpsychotic bipolar illness from psychotic bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 41:133–143.
- Arcelli P, Frassoni C, Regondi MC, De Biasi S, Spreafico R (1997) GABAergic neurons in mammalian thalamus: a marker of thalamic complexity? Brain Res Bull 42:27–37.
- Baks-te Bulte L, Wouterlood FG, Vinkenoog M, Witter MP (2005) Entorhinal projections terminate onto principal neurons and interneurons in the subiculum: A quantitative electron microscopical analysis in the rat. Neuroscience 136:729–739.
- Barrot M, Sesack SR, Georges F, Pistis M, Hong S, Jhou TC (2012) Braking Dopamine Systems: A New GABA Master Structure for Mesolimbic and Nigrostriatal Functions. J Neurosci 32:14094–14101.
- Bartlett EL (2013) The organization and physiology of the auditory thalamus and its role in processing acoustic features important for speech perception. Brain and Language 126:29–48.
- Bayazitov IT, Westmoreland JJ, Zakharenko SS (2013) Forward Suppression in the Auditory Cortex Is Caused by the Cav3.1 Calcium Channel-Mediated Switch from Bursting to Tonic Firing at Thalamocortical Projections. J Neurosci 33:18940–18950.
- Behuret S, Deleuze C, Bal T (2015) Corticothalamic Synaptic Noise as a Mechanism for Selective Attention in Thalamic Neurons. Frontiers in Neural Circuits 9:11633.
- Beier KT, Steinberg EE, DeLoach KE, Xie S, Miyamichi K, Schwarz L, Gao XJ, Kremer EJ, Malenka RC, Luo L (2015) Circuit Architecture of VTA Dopamine Neurons Revealed by Systematic Input-Output Mapping. Cell 162:622–634.
- Beierlein M, Connors BW (2002) Short-term dynamics of thalamocortical and intracortical synapses onto layer 6 neurons in neocortex. Journal of Neurophysiology 88:1924–1932.
- Belujon P, Grace AA (2011) Hippocampus, amygdala, and stress: interacting systems that affect susceptibility to addiction. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1216:114–121.
- Belujon P, Grace AA (2014) Restoring mood balance in depression: ketamine reverses deficit in dopamine-dependent synaptic plasticity. Biol Psychiatry 76:927–936.
- Belujon P, Jakobowski NL, Dollish HK, Grace AA (2016) Withdrawal from Acute Amphetamine Induces an Amygdala-Driven Attenuation of Dopamine Neuron Activity: Reversal by Ketamine. Neuropsychopharmacology 41:619–627.

- Belujon P, Patton MH, Grace AA (2014) Role of the prefrontal cortex in altered hippocampalaccumbens synaptic plasticity in a developmental animal model of schizophrenia. Cereb Cortex 24:968–977.
- Benes FM, Berretta S (2001) GABAergic Interneurons: Implications for Understanding Schizophrenia and Bipolar Disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology 25:1–27.
- Benes FM, Lim B, Matzilevich D, Walsh JP, Subburaju S, Minns M (2007) Regulation of the GABA cell phenotype in hippocampus of schizophrenics and bipolars. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:10164–10169.
- Bernard JA, Orr JM, Mittal VA (2015) Abnormal hippocampal-thalamic white matter tract development and positive symptom course in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis. NPJ Schizophr 1:15009.
- Bertolino A, Breier A, Callicott JH, Adler C, Mattay VS, Shapiro M, Frank JA, Pickar D, Weinberger DR (2000) The Relationship between Dorsolateral Prefrontal Neuronal N-Acetylaspartate and Evoked Release of Striatal Dopamine in Schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology 22:125–132.
- Bertram EH, Zhang DX (1999) Thalamic excitation of hippocampal CA1 neurons: a comparison with the effects of CA3 stimulation. Neuroscience 92:15–26.
- Bishop PO, Kozak W, Levick WR, Vakkur GJ (1962) The determination of the projection of the visual field on to the lateral geniculate nucleus in the cat. The Journal of Physiology 163:503–539.
- Blumenfeld H, McCormick DA (2000) Corticothalamic inputs control the pattern of activity generated in thalamocortical networks. J Neurosci 20:5153–5162.
- Bogerts B, Meertz E, Schönfeldt-Bausch R (1985) Basal Ganglia and Limbic System Pathology in Schizophrenia: A Morphometric Study of Brain Volume and Shrinkage. Arch Gen Psychiatry 42:784–791.
- Bokor H, Csáki Á, Kocsis K (2002) Cellular architecture of the nucleus reuniens thalami and its putative aspartatergic/glutamatergic projection to the hippocampus and medial septum in the rat. European Journal of Neuroscience 16:1227–1239.
- Bolkan SS, Carvalho Poyraz F, Kellendonk C (2016) Using human brain imaging studies as a guide toward animal models of schizophrenia. Neuroscience 321:77–98.
- Bolkan SS, Stujenske JM, Parnaudeau S, Spellman TJ, Rauffenbart C, Abbas AI, Harris AZ, Gordon JA, Kellendonk C (2017) Thalamic projections sustain prefrontal activity during working memory maintenance. Nat Neurosci.
- Briggs F, Usrey WM (2008) Emerging views of corticothalamic function. Current Opinion in Neurobiology 18:403–407.

- Brischoux F, Chakraborty S, Brierley DI, Ungless MA (2009) Phasic excitation of dopamine neurons in ventral VTA by noxious stimuli. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:4894–4899.
- Brown EN, Purdon PL, Van Dort CJ (2011) General Anesthesia and Altered States of Arousal: A Systems Neuroscience Analysis. Annu Rev Neurosci 34:601–628.
- Bruno RM, Sakmann B (2006) Cortex is driven by weak but synchronously active thalamocortical synapses. Science.
- Burgess M, Rothmond D, Webster M, Weickert CS (2016) Glutamate decarboxylase, somatostatin, and parvalbumin expression in the thalamic reticular nucleus in patients with schizophrenia and mood disorders. SIRS Meeting, Florence, Italy.
- Butts KA, Weinberg J, Young AH, Phillips AG (2011) Glucocorticoid receptors in the prefrontal cortex regulate stress-evoked dopamine efflux and aspects of executive function. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108:18459–18464.
- Carr DB, Sesack SR (2000a) GABA-containing neurons in the rat ventral tegmental area project to the prefrontal cortex. Synapse 38:114–123.
- Carr DB, Sesack SR (2000b) Projections from the rat prefrontal cortex to the ventral tegmental area: target specificity in the synaptic associations with mesoaccumbens and mesocortical neurons. J Neurosci 20:3864–3873.
- Carreno FR, Donegan JJ, Boley AM, Shah A, DeGuzman M, Frazer A, Lodge DJ (2016) Activation of a ventral hippocampus-medial prefrontal cortex pathway is both necessary and sufficient for an antidepressant response to ketamine. Mol Psychiatry 21:1298–1308.
- Cassel J-C, Pereira de Vasconcelos A, Loureiro M, Cholvin T, Dalrymple-Alford JC, Vertes RP (2013) The reuniens and rhomboid nuclei: neuroanatomy, electrophysiological characteristics and behavioral implications. Progress in Neurobiology 111:34–52.
- Chakos MH, Schobel SA, Gu H, Gerig G, Bradford D, Charles C, Lieberman JA (2005) Duration of illness and treatment effects on hippocampal volume in male patients with schizophrenia. The British Journal of Psychiatry 186:26–31.
- Chang C-H, Grace AA (2013) Amygdala β-noradrenergic receptors modulate delayed downregulation of dopamine activity following restraint. J Neurosci 33:1441–1450.
- Chang C-H, Grace AA (2014) Amygdala-ventral pallidum pathway decreases dopamine activity after chronic mild stress in rats. Biol Psychiatry 76:223–230.
- Chen X, Choo H, Huang X-P, Yang X, Stone O, Roth BL, Jin J (2015) The First Structure– Activity Relationship Studies for Designer Receptors Exclusively Activated by Designer Drugs. ACS Chem Neurosci 6:476–484.
- Chergui K, Akaoka H, Charléty PJ, Saunier CF, Buda M, Chouvet G (1994) Subthalamic nucleus modulates burst firing of nigral dopamine neurones via NMDA receptors.

Neuroreport 5:1185.

- Chergui K, Charléty PJ, Akaoka H, Saunier CF, Brunet JL, Buda M, Svensson TH, Chouvet G (1993) Tonic Activation of NMDA Receptors Causes Spontaneous Burst Discharge of Rat Midbrain Dopamine Neurons In Vivo. European Journal of Neuroscience 5:137–144.
- Chiodo LA, Bunney BS (1985) Possible mechanisms by which repeated clozapine administration differentially affects the activity of two subpopulations of midbrain dopamine neurons. J Neurosci 5:2539–2544.
- Cholvin T, Loureiro M, Cassel R, Cosquer B, Geiger K, De Sa Nogueira D, Raingard H, Robelin L, Kelche C, Pereira de Vasconcelos A, Cassel J-C (2013) The ventral midline thalamus contributes to strategy shifting in a memory task requiring both prefrontal cortical and hippocampal functions. J Neurosci 33:8772–8783.
- Clemente-Perez A, Makinson SR, Higashikubo B, Brovarney S, Cho FS, Urry A, Holden SS, Wimer M, Dávid C, Fenno LE, Acsády L, Deisseroth K, Paz JT (2017) Distinct Thalamic Reticular Cell Types Differentially Modulate Normal and Pathological Cortical Rhythms. Cell Reports 19:2130–2142.
- Corcoran KA, Quirk GJ (2007) Recalling safety: cooperative functions of the ventromedial prefrontal cortex and the hippocampus in extinction. CNS Spectr 12:200–206.
- Cornwall J, Cooper JD, Phillipson OT (1990) Projections to the rostral reticular thalamic nucleus in the rat. Exp Brain Res 80:157–171.
- Crabtree JW (1992) The Somatotopic Organization Within the Cat's Thalamic Reticular Nucleus. European Journal of Neuroscience 4:1352–1361.
- Crandall SR, Cruikshank SJ, Connors BW (2015) A corticothalamic switch: controlling the thalamus with dynamic synapses. Neuron 86:768–782.
- Crick F (1984) Function of the thalamic reticular complex: the searchlight hypothesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 81:4586–4590.
- Crossley NA, Constante M, McGuire P, Power P (2010) Efficacy of atypical v. typical antipsychotics in the treatment of early psychosis: meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 196:434–439.
- Cuthbert BN, Insel TR (2010) Toward new approaches to psychotic disorders: the NIMH Research Domain Criteria project. Schizophr Bull 36:1061–1062.
- Çavdar S, Onat FY, Çakmak YÖ, Yananli HR, Gülçebi M, Aker R (2008) The pathways connecting the hippocampal formation, the thalamic reuniens nucleus and the thalamic reticular nucleus in the rat. Journal of Anatomy 212:249–256.
- Davoodi FG, Motamedi F, Akbari E, Ghanbarian E, Jila B (2011) Effect of reversible inactivation of reuniens nucleus on memory processing in passive avoidance task. Behav

Brain Res 221:1–6.

- De Gennaro L, Ferrara M (2003) Sleep spindles: an overview. Sleep Medicine Reviews 7:423–440.
- Decot HK, Namboodiri VMK, Gao W, McHenry JA, Jennings JH, Lee S-H, Kantak PA, Kao Y-CJ, Das M, Witten IB, Deisseroth K, Shih Y-YI, Stuber GD (2017) Coordination of Brain-Wide Activity Dynamics by Dopaminergic Neurons. Neuropsychopharmacology 42:615– 627.
- Deleuze C, Huguenard JR (2016) Two classes of excitatory synaptic responses in rat thalamic reticular neurons. Journal of Neurophysiology 116:995–1011.
- Delgado MR, Beer JS, Fellows LK, Huettel SA, Platt ML, Quirk GJ, Schiller D (2016) Viewpoints: Dialogues on the functional role of the ventromedial prefrontal cortex. Nat Neurosci 19:1545–1552.
- Depue BE (2012) A neuroanatomical model of prefrontal inhibitory modulation of memory retrieval. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 36:1382–1399.
- Deschêenes M, Hu B (1990) Electrophysiology and Pharmacology of the Corticothalamic Input to Lateral Thalamic Nuclei: an Intracellular Study in the Cat. European Journal of Neuroscience 2:140–152.
- Di Prisco GV, Vertes RP (2006) Excitatory actions of the ventral midline thalamus (rhomboid/reuniens) on the medial prefrontal cortex in the rat. Synapse 60:45–55.
- Do KQ, Cuenod M, Hensch TK (2015) Targeting Oxidative Stress and Aberrant Critical Period Plasticity in the Developmental Trajectory to Schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 41:835–846.
- Do-Monte FH, Quiñones-Laracuente K, Quirk GJ (2015) A temporal shift in the circuits mediating retrieval of fear memory. Nature 519:460–463.
- Dolleman-Van der Weel MJ, Lopes da Silva FH, Witter MP (1997) Nucleus reuniens thalami modulates activity in hippocampal field CA1 through excitatory and inhibitory mechanisms. J Neurosci 17:5640–5650.
- Dolleman-Van der Weel MJ, Lopes da Silva FH, Witter MP (2016) Interaction of nucleus reuniens and entorhinal cortex projections in hippocampal field CA1 of the rat. Brain Struct Funct. 222:2421-2438.
- Dolleman-Van der Weel MJ, Witter MP (2000) Nucleus reuniens thalami innervates gamma aminobutyric acid positive cells in hippocampal field CA1 of the rat. Neuroscience Letters 278:145–148.
- Dorph-Petersen K-A, Lewis DA (2017) Postmortem structural studies of the thalamus in schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 180:28–35.

- Duan AR, Varela C, Zhang Y, Shen Y, Xiong L, Wilson MA, Lisman J (2015) Delta frequency optogenetic stimulation of the thalamic nucleus reuniens is sufficient to produce working memory deficits: relevance to schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 77:1098–1107.
- Egerton A, Chaddock CA, Winton-Brown TT, Bloomfield MAP, Bhattacharyya S, Allen P, McGuire PK, Howes OD (2013) Presynaptic Striatal Dopamine Dysfunction in People at Ultra-high Risk for Psychosis: Findings in a Second Cohort. Biol Psychiatry 74:106–112.
- Eichenbaum H (2017) Prefrontal-hippocampal interactions in episodic memory. Nat Rev Neurosci 21:1720.
- Elijah DH, Samengo I, Montemurro MA (2015) Thalamic neuron models encode stimulus information by burst-size modulation. Front Comput Neurosci 9:369.
- Eyding D, Macklis JD, Neubacher U, Funke K, Wörgötter F (2003) Selective Elimination of Corticogeniculate Feedback Abolishes the Electroencephalogram Dependence of Primary Visual Cortical Receptive Fields and Reduces Their Spatial Specificity. J Neurosci 23:7021– 7033.
- Fabre M, Rolls ET, Ashton JP, Williams G (1983) Activity of neurons in the ventral tegmental region of the behaving monkey. Behav Brain Res 9:213–235.
- Ferenczi EA, Zalocusky KA, Liston C, Grosenick L, Warden MR, Amatya D, Katovich K, Mehta H, Patenaude B, Ramakrishnan C, Kalanithi P, Etkin A, Knutson B, Glover GH, Deisseroth K (2016) Prefrontal cortical regulation of brainwide circuit dynamics and rewardrelated behavior. Science 351:9698–9698.
- Ferrarelli F, Tononi G (2011) The thalamic reticular nucleus and schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 37:306–315.
- Ferrarelli F, Tononi G (2017) Reduced sleep spindle activity point to a TRN-MD thalamus-PFC circuit dysfunction in schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 180:36–43.
- Finlay JM, Zigmond MJ (1997) The Effects of Stress on Central Dopaminergic Neurons: Possible Clinical Implications. Neurochemical Research 22:1387–1394.
- Floresco SB, Todd CL, Grace AA (2001) Glutamatergic afferents from the hippocampus to the nucleus accumbens regulate activity of ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons. J Neurosci 21:4915–4922.
- Floresco SB, West AR, Ash B, Moore H, Grace AA (2003) Afferent modulation of dopamine neuron firing differentially regulates tonic and phasic dopamine transmission. Nat Neurosci 6:968–973.
- Freedman LJ, Insel TR, Smith Y (2000) Subcortical projections of area 25 (subgenual cortex) of the macaque monkey. J Comp Neurol 421:172–188.

Freeman AS, Bunney BS (1987) Activity of A9 and A10 dopaminergic neurons in unrestrained

rats: further characterization and effects of apomorphine and cholecystokinin. Brain research 405:46–55.

Freund TF, Buzsáki G (1996) Interneurons of the hippocampus. Hippocampus 6:347–470.

- Fujisawa S, Buzsáki G (2011) A 4 Hz Oscillation Adaptively Synchronizes Prefrontal, VTA, and Hippocampal Activities. Neuron 72:153–165.
- Gabbott P, Headlam A, Busby S (2002) Morphological evidence that CA1 hippocampal afferents monosynaptically innervate PV-containing neurons and NADPH-diaphorase reactive cells in the medial prefrontal cortex (Areas 25/32) of the rat. Brain research 946:314–322.
- Garrido MI, Barnes GR, Kumaran D, Maguire EA, Dolan RJ (2015) Ventromedial prefrontal cortex drives hippocampal theta oscillations induced by mismatch computations. NeuroImage 120:362–370.
- Garris PA, Wightman RM (1994) Different kinetics govern dopaminergic transmission in the amygdala, prefrontal cortex, and striatum: an in vivo voltammetric study. J Neurosci 14:442–450.
- Gill KM, Cook JM, Poe MM, Grace AA (2014) Prior antipsychotic drug treatment prevents response to novel antipsychotic agent in the methylazoxymethanol acetate model of schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 40:341–350.
- Gill KM, Lodge DJ, Cook JM, Aras S, Grace AA (2011) A novel α5GABA(A)R-positive allosteric modulator reverses hyperactivation of the dopamine system in the MAM model of schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology 36:1903–1911.
- Giménez-Amaya JM, McFarland NR, Las Heras De S, Haber SN (1995) Organization of thalamic projections to the ventral striatum in the primate. J Comp Neurol 354:127–149.
- Giraldo-Chica M, Woodward ND (2017) Review of thalamocortical resting-state fMRI studies in schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 180:58–63.
- Godwin DW, Vaughan JW, Sherman SM (1996) Metabotropic glutamate receptors switch visual response mode of lateral geniculate nucleus cells from burst to tonic. Journal of Neurophysiology 76:1800–1816.
- Golshani P, Liu XB, Jones EG (2001) Differences in quantal amplitude reflect GluR4- subunit number at corticothalamic synapses on two populations of thalamic neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:4172–4177.
- Goto Y, Grace AA (2005) Dopaminergic modulation of limbic and cortical drive of nucleus accumbens in goal-directed behavior. Nat Neurosci 8:805–812.
- Grace AA (2012a) Dopamine system dysregulation by the hippocampus: implications for the pathophysiology and treatment of schizophrenia. Neuropharmacology 62:1342–1348.

- Grace AA (2012b) Dopamine system dysregulation by the hippocampus: Implications for the pathophysiology and treatment of schizophrenia. Neuropharmacology 62:1342–1348.
- Grace AA (2016) Dysregulation of the dopamine system in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and depression. Nat Rev Neurosci 17:524–532.
- Grace AA, Bunney BS (1983) Intracellular and extracellular electrophysiology of nigral dopaminergic neurons—1. Identification and characterization. Neuroscience 10:301–315.
- Grace AA, Bunney BS (1984a) The control of firing pattern in nigral dopamine neurons: single spike firing. J Neurosci 4:2866–2876.
- Grace AA, Bunney BS (1984b) The control of firing pattern in nigral dopamine neurons: burst firing. J Neurosci 4:2877–2890.
- Grace AA, Bunney BS (1985) Opposing effects of striatonigral feedback pathways on midbrain dopamine cell activity. Brain research 333:271–284.
- Grace AA, Onn SP (1989) Morphology and electrophysiological properties of immunocytochemically identified rat dopamine neurons recorded in vitro. J Neurosci 9:3463–3481.
- Guido W, Lu SM, Sherman SM (1992) Relative contributions of burst and tonic responses to the receptive field properties of lateral geniculate neurons in the cat. Journal of Neurophysiology 68:2199–2211.
- Guillery RW (1967) Patterns of fiber degeneration in the dorsal lateral geniculate nucleus of the cat following lesions in the visual cortex. J Comp Neurol 130:197–221.
- Guillery RW, Sherman SM (2002) Thalamic Relay Functions and Their Role in Corticocortical Communication. Neuron 33:163–175.
- Guller Y, Ferrarelli F, Shackman AJ, Sarasso S, Peterson MJ, Langheim FJ, Meyerand ME, Tononi G, Postle BR (2012) Probing thalamic integrity in schizophrenia using concurrent transcranial magnetic stimulation and functional magnetic resonance imaging. Arch Gen Psychiatry 69:662–671.
- Haber SN (2014) The place of dopamine in the cortico-basal ganglia circuit. Neuroscience 282:248–257.
- Haber SN, Calzavara R (2009) The cortico-basal ganglia integrative network: The role of the thalamus. Brain Res Bull 78:69–74.
- Halassa MM, Acsády L (2016) Thalamic Inhibition: Diverse Sources, Diverse Scales. Trends in Neurosciences 39:680–693.
- Halassa MM, Chen Z, Wimmer RD, Brunetti PM, Zhao S, Zikopoulos B, Wang F, Brown EN, Wilson MA (2014) State-Dependent Architecture of Thalamic Reticular Subnetworks. Cell

158:808-821.

- Halassa MM, Siegle JH, Ritt JT, Ting JT, Feng G, Moore CI (2011) Selective optical drive of thalamic reticular nucleus generates thalamic bursts and cortical spindles. Nat Neurosci 14:1118–1120.
- Hallock HL, Wang A, Griffin AL (2016) Ventral Midline Thalamus Is Critical for Hippocampal–Prefrontal Synchrony and Spatial Working Memory. J Neurosci 36:8372– 8389.
- Hammad H, Wagner JJ (2006) Dopamine-mediated disinhibition in the CA1 region of rat hippocampus via D3 receptor activation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 316:113–120.
- Harrisberger F, Buechler R, Smieskova R, Lenz C, Walter A, Egloff L, Bendfeldt K, Simon AE, Wotruba D, Theodoridou A, Rössler W, Riecher-Rössler A, Lang UE, Heekeren K, Borgwardt S (2016) Alterations in the hippocampus and thalamus in individuals at high risk for psychosis. NPJ Schizophr 2:16033.
- Harrison JM, Warr WB (1962) A study of the cochlear nuclei and ascending auditory pathways of the medulla. J Comp Neurol 119:341–379.
- Heckers S, Konradi C (2010) Hippocampal pathology in schizophrenia. Curr Top Behav Neurosci 4:529–553.
- Heilbronner SR, Rodriguez-Romaguera J, Quirk GJ, Groenewegen HJ, Haber SN (2016a) Circuit-Based Corticostriatal Homologies Between Rat and Primate. Biol Psychiatry 80:509– 521.
- Heilbronner U, Samara M, Leucht S, Falkai P, Schulze TG (2016b) The Longitudinal Course of Schizophrenia Across the Lifespan. Harvard Review of Psychiatry 24:118–128.
- Heinz A, Schlagenhauf F (2010) Dopaminergic dysfunction in schizophrenia: salience attribution revisited. Schizophr Bull 36:472–485.
- Hembrook JR, Mair RG (2011) Lesions of reuniens and rhomboid thalamic nuclei impair radial maze win-shift performance. Hippocampus 21:815–826.
- Hembrook JR, Onos KD, Mair RG (2012) Inactivation of ventral midline thalamus produces selective spatial delayed conditional discrimination impairment in the rat. Hippocampus 22:853–860.
- Herkenham M (1978) The connections of the nucleus reuniens thalami: Evidence for a direct thalamo-hippocampal pathway in the rat. J Comp Neurol 177:589–609.
- Hikosaka O (2010) The habenula: from stress evasion to value-based decision-making. Nat Rev Neurosci 11:503–513.
- Holt DJ, Coombs G, Zeidan MA, Goff DC, Milad MR (2012) Failure of neural responses to

safety cues in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 69:893–903.

- Holt DJ, Lebron-Milad K, Milad MR, Rauch SL, Pitman RK, Orr SP, Cassidy BS, Walsh JP, Goff DC (2009) Extinction Memory Is Impaired in Schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 65:455–463.
- Holt DJ, Weiss AP, Rauch SL, Wright CI, Zalesak M, Goff DC, Ditman T, Welsh RC, Heckers S (2005) Sustained activation of the hippocampus in response to fearful faces in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 57:1011–1019.
- Hoover WB, Vertes RP (2007) Anatomical analysis of afferent projections to the medial prefrontal cortex in the rat. Brain Struct Funct 212:149–179.
- Hoover WB, Vertes RP (2012) Collateral projections from nucleus reuniens of thalamus to hippocampus and medial prefrontal cortex in the rat: a single and double retrograde fluorescent labeling study. Brain Struct Funct 217:191–209.
- Howes OD, Kambeitz J, Kim E, Stahl D, Slifstein M, Abi-Dargham A, Kapur S (2012) The Nature of Dopamine Dysfunction in Schizophrenia and What This Means for Treatment: Meta-analysis of Imaging Studies. Arch Gen Psychiatry 69:776–786.
- Howes OD, Kapur S (2009) The dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia: version III--the final common pathway. Schizophr Bull 35:549–562.
- Howes OD, Montgomery AJ, Asselin M-C, Murray RM, Grasby PM, McGuire PK (2007) Molecular imaging studies of the striatal dopaminergic system in psychosis and predictions for the prodromal phase of psychosis. Br J Psychiatry Suppl 51:s13–s18.
- Hu B (1993) Membrane potential oscillations and corticothalamic connectivity in rat associational thalamic neurons in vitro. Acta Physiol Scand 148:109–113.
- Hu H, Agmon A (2016) Differential Excitation of Distally versus Proximally Targeting Cortical Interneurons by Unitary Thalamocortical Bursts. J Neurosci 36:6906–6916.
- Huntsman MM, Porcello DM, Homanics GE, DeLorey TM, Huguenard JR (1999) Reciprocal Inhibitory Connections and Network Synchrony in the Mammalian Thalamus. Science 283:541–543.
- Ito HT, Zhang S-J, Witter MP, Moser EI, Moser M-B (2015) A prefrontal-thalamo-hippocampal circuit for goal-directed spatial navigation. Nature 522:50–55.
- Jackson ME, Frost AS, Moghaddam B (2001) Stimulation of prefrontal cortex at physiologically relevant frequencies inhibits dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens. Journal of neurochemistry 78:920–923.
- Jankowski MM, Islam MN, Wright NF, Vann SD, Erichsen JT, Aggleton JP, O'Mara SM (2014) Nucleus reuniens of the thalamus contains head direction cells. eLife Sciences 3:1304.

- Janowsky DS, El-Yousef MK, Davis JM, Sekerke HJ (1973) Provocation of Schizophrenic Symptoms by Intravenous Administration of Methylphenidate. Arch Gen Psychiatry 28:185– 191.
- Jeanmonod D, Magnin M, Morel A (1996) Low-threshold calcium spike bursts in the human thalamus. Common physiopathology for sensory, motor and limbic positive symptoms. Brain 119 (Pt 2):363–375.
- Jin J, Maren S (2015) Prefrontal-Hippocampal Interactions in Memory and Emotion. Front Syst Neurosci 9:1082–1088.
- Jin J, Wang Q, Maren S (2015) Reversible inactivation of the nucleus reuniens of the midline thalamus disrupts fear suppression after extinction. SFN Meeting, Chicago, IL.
- Jo YS, Lee J, Mizumori SJY (2013) Effects of prefrontal cortical inactivation on neural activity in the ventral tegmental area. J Neurosci 33:8159–8171.
- Kafetzopoulos V, Kokras N, Sotiropoulos I, Oliveira JF, Leite-Almeida H, Vasalou A, Sardinha VM, Papadopoulou-Daifoti Z, Almeida OFX, Antoniou K, Sousa N, Dalla C (2017) The nucleus reuniens: a key node in the neurocircuitry of stress and depression. Mol Psychiatry 21:815.
- Kaplan R, Horner AJ, Bandettini PA, Doeller CF, Burgess N (2014) Human hippocampal processing of environmental novelty during spatial navigation. Hippocampus 24:740–750.
- Kapur S (2003) Psychosis as a state of aberrant salience: a framework linking biology, phenomenology, and pharmacology in schizophrenia. American Journal of Psychiatry 160:13.
- Karreman M, Moghaddam B (1996) The Prefrontal Cortex Regulates the Basal Release of Dopamine in the Limbic Striatum: An Effect Mediated by Ventral Tegmental Area. Journal of neurochemistry 66:589–598.
- Kempadoo KA, Mosharov EV, Choi SJ, Sulzer D, Kandel ER (2016) Dopamine release from the locus coeruleus to the dorsal hippocampus promotes spatial learning and memory. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 113:14835–14840.
- Kim J, Woo J, Park Y-G, Chae S, Jo S, Choi JW, Jun HY, Yeom YI, Park SH, Kim KH, Shin H-S, Kim D (2011) Thalamic T-type Ca²+ channels mediate frontal lobe dysfunctions caused by a hypoxia-like damage in the prefrontal cortex. J Neurosci 31:4063–4073.
- Kim JH, Ohara S, Lenz FA (2009) Mental Arithmetic Leads to Multiple Discrete Changes From Baseline in the Firing Patterns of Human Thalamic Neurons. Journal of Neurophysiology 101:2107–2119.
- Kitamura T, Ogawa SK, Roy DS, Okuyama T, Morrissey MD, Smith LM, Redondo RL, Tonegawa S (2017) Engrams and circuits crucial for systems consolidation of a memory. Science 356:73–78.

- Knight R (1996) Contribution of human hippocampal region to novelty detection. Nature 383:256–259.
- Kolmac CI, Mitrofanis J (1997) Organisation of the reticular thalamic projection to the intralaminar and midline nuclei in rats. J Comp Neurol 377:165–178.
- Konradi C, Yang CK, Zimmerman EI, Lohmann KM, Gresch P, Pantazopoulos H, Berretta S, Heckers S (2011) Hippocampal interneurons are abnormal in schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 131:165–173.
- Kühn S, Gallinat J (2013) Resting-State Brain Activity in Schizophrenia and Major Depression: A Quantitative Meta-Analysis. Schizophr Bull 39:358–365.
- Lara-Vasquez A, Espinosa N, Dur n E, Stockle M, Fuentealba P (2016) Midline thalamic neurons are differentially engaged during hippocampus network oscillations. Sci Rep 6:575.
- Laroche S, Davis S, Jay TM (2000) Plasticity at hippocampal to prefrontal cortex synapses: dual roles in working memory and consolidation. Hippocampus 10:438–446.
- Laruelle M, Abi-Dargham A (1999) Dopamine as the wind of the psychotic fire: new evidence from brain imaging studies. Journal of Psychopharmacology 13:358–371.
- Laruelle M, Abi-Dargham A, Gil R, Kegeles L, Innis R (1999) Increased dopamine transmission in schizophrenia: relationship to illness phases. Biol Psychiatry 46:56–72.
- Lavin A, Grace AA (1998) Response of the ventral pallidal/mediodorsal thalamic system to antipsychotic drug administration: involvement of the prefrontal cortex. Neuropsychopharmacology 18:352–363.
- Lavin A, Moore HM, Grace AA (2005) Prenatal Disruption of Neocortical Development Alters Prefrontal Cortical Neuron Responses to Dopamine in Adult Rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 30:1426–1435.
- Layfield DM, Patel M, Hallock H, Griffin AL (2015) Inactivation of the nucleus reuniens/rhomboid causes a delay-dependent impairment of spatial working memory. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory 125:163–167.
- LeBlanc BW, Cross B, Smith KA, Roach C, Xia J, Chao Y-C, Levitt J, Koyama S, Moore CI, Saab CY (2017) Thalamic Bursts Down-regulate Cortical Theta and Nociceptive Behavior. Sci Rep 7:721.
- Lecca S, Melis M, Luchicchi A, Muntoni AL, Pistis M (2012) Inhibitory Inputs from Rostromedial Tegmental Neurons Regulate Spontaneous Activity of Midbrain Dopamine Cells and Their Responses to Drugs of Abuse. Neuropsychopharmacology 37:1164–1176.
- Lerner TN, Shilyansky C, Davidson TJ, Evans KE, Beier KT, Zalocusky KA, Crow AK, Malenka RC, Luo L, Tomer R, Deisseroth K (2015) Intact-Brain Analyses Reveal Distinct Information Carried by SNc Dopamine Subcircuits. Cell 162:635–647.

- Lewis DA, Hashimoto T, Volk DW (2005) Cortical inhibitory neurons and schizophrenia. Nat Rev Neurosci 6:312–324.
- Li L, Ebner FF (2007) Cortical modulation of spatial and angular tuning maps in the rat thalamus. J Neurosci 27:167–179.
- Liberzon I, Abelson JL (2016) Context Processing and the Neurobiology of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. Neuron 92:14–30.
- Lieberman JA, Stroup TS, McEvoy JP, Swartz MS, Rosenheck RA, Perkins DO, Keefe RSE, Davis SM, Davis CE, Lebowitz BD, Severe J, Hsiao JK, Clinical Antipsychotic Trials of Intervention Effectiveness (CATIE) Investigators (2005) Effectiveness of antipsychotic drugs in patients with chronic schizophrenia. N Engl J Med 353:1209–1223.
- Lin G, McKay G, Midha KK (1996) Characterization of metabolites of clozapine N-oxide in the rat by micro-column high performance liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry with electrospray interface. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis 14:1561–1577.
- Linley SB, Gallo MM, Vertes RP (2016) Lesions of the ventral midline thalamus produce deficits in reversal learning and attention on an odor texture set shifting task. Brain research 1649:110–122.
- Lisman JE, Grace AA (2005) The Hippocampal-VTA Loop: Controlling the Entry of Information into Long-Term Memory. Neuron 46:703–713.
- Lisman JE, Pi HJ, Zhang Y, Otmakhova NA (2010) A thalamo-hippocampal-ventral tegmental area loop may produce the positive feedback that underlies the psychotic break in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 68:17–24.
- Lodge DJ (2011) The medial prefrontal and orbitofrontal cortices differentially regulate dopamine system function. Neuropsychopharmacology 36:1227–1236.
- Lodge DJ, Grace AA (2006a) The laterodorsal tegmentum is essential for burst firing of ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:5167–5172.
- Lodge DJ, Grace AA (2006b) The Hippocampus Modulates Dopamine Neuron Responsivity by Regulating the Intensity of Phasic Neuron Activation. Neuropsychopharmacology 31:1356– 1361.
- Lodge DJ, Grace AA (2007) Aberrant hippocampal activity underlies the dopamine dysregulation in an animal model of schizophrenia. J Neurosci 27:11424–11430.
- Lohani S, Poplawsky AJ, Kim S-G, Moghaddam B (2016) Unexpected global impact of VTA dopamine neuron activation as measured by opto-fMRI. Mol Psychiatry 22:585–594.
- Lokwan SJA, Overton PG, Berry MS, Clark D (1999) Stimulation of the pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus in the rat produces burst firing in A9 dopaminergic neurons. Neuroscience 92:245–254.

- Loughlin SE, Fallon JH (1984) Substantia nigra and ventral tegmental area projections to cortex: topography and collateralization. Neuroscience 11:425–435.
- Lu SM, Guido W, Sherman SM (1992) Effects of membrane voltage on receptive field properties of lateral geniculate neurons in the cat: contributions of the low-threshold Ca2+ conductance. Journal of Neurophysiology 68:2185–2198.
- MacLaren DAA, Browne RW, Shaw JK, Radhakrishnan SK, Khare P, España RA, Clark SD (2016) Clozapine N-Oxide Administration Produces Behavioral Effects in Long–Evans Rats: Implications for Designing DREADD Experiments. eNeuro 3.
- Mahler SV, Vazey EM, Beckley JT, Keistler CR, McGlinchey EM, Kaufling J, Wilson SP, Deisseroth K, Woodward JJ, Aston-Jones G (2014) Designer receptors show role for ventral pallidum input to ventral tegmental area in cocaine seeking. Nat Neurosci 17:577–585.
- Mai JK, Majtanik M, Paxinos G (2015) Atlas of the human brain (4th Edition), 4 ed. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Malaspina D, Harkavy-Friedman J, Corcoran C, Mujica-Parodi L, Printz D, Gorman JM, Van Heertum R (2004) Resting neural activity distinguishes subgroups of schizophrenia patients. Biol Psychiatry 56:931–937.
- Maren S, Phan KL, Liberzon I (2013) The contextual brain: implications for fear conditioning, extinction and psychopathology. Nat Rev Neurosci 14:417–428.
- Maslowski-Cobuzzi RJ, Napier TC (1994) Activation of dopaminergic neurons modulates ventral pallidal responses evoked by amygdala stimulation. Neuroscience 62:1103–1119.
- Mathiasen ML, Dillingham CM, Kinnavane L, Powell AL, Aggleton JP (2017) Asymmetric cross-hemispheric connections link the rat anterior thalamic nuclei with the cortex and hippocampal formation. Neuroscience 349:128–143.
- McBain CJ, Mayer ML (1994) N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor structure and function. Physiological Reviews 74:723–761.
- McGhie A, Chapman J (1961) Disorders of attention and perception in early schizophrenia. Br J Med Psychol 34:103–116.
- McHugo M, Rogers BP, Talati P, Woodward ND, Heckers S (2015) Increased Amplitude of Low Frequency Fluctuations but Normal Hippocampal-Default Mode Network Connectivity in Schizophrenia. Front Psychiatry 6:92.
- McIntosh AM, Maniega SM, Lymer GKS, McKirdy J, Hall J, Sussmann JED, Bastin ME, Clayden JD, Johnstone EC, Lawrie SM (2008) White Matter Tractography in Bipolar Disorder and Schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 64:1088–1092.
- McKenna JT, Vertes RP (2004) Afferent projections to nucleus reuniens of the thalamus. J Comp Neurol 480:115–142.

- Medoff DR, Holcomb HH, Lahti AC, Tamminga CA (2001) Probing the human hippocampus using rCBF: Contrasts in schizophrenia. Hippocampus 11:543–550.
- Mejias-Aponte CA, Ye C, Bonci A, Kiyatkin EA, Morales M (2015) A subpopulation of neurochemically-identified ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons is excited by intravenous cocaine. J Neurosci 35:1965–1978.
- Meyer-Lindenberg A, Miletich RS, Kohn PD, Esposito G, Carson RE, Quarantelli M, Weinberger DR, Berman KF (2002) Reduced prefrontal activity predicts exaggerated striatal dopaminergic function in schizophrenia. Nat Neurosci 5:267–271.
- Meyer-Lindenberg AS, Olsen RK, Kohn PD, Brown T, Egan MF, Weinberger DR, Berman KF (2005) Regionally Specific Disturbance of Dorsolateral Prefrontal–Hippocampal Functional Connectivity in Schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:379–386.
- Milad MR, Quirk GJ (2012) Fear Extinction as a Model for Translational Neuroscience: Ten Years of Progress. Annu Rev Psychol 63:129–151.
- Millan MJ et al. (2016) Altering the course of schizophrenia: progress and perspectives. Nat Rev Drug Discov 15:485–515.
- Minzenberg MJ, Laird AR, Thelen S, Carter CS, Glahn DC (2009) Meta-analysis of 41 functional neuroimaging studies of executive function in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 66:811–822.
- Mitchell AS (2015) The mediodorsal thalamus as a higher order thalamic relay nucleus important for learning and decision-making. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 54:76–88.
- Mitchell AS, Chakraborty S (2013) What does the mediodorsal thalamus do? Front Syst Neurosci 7:37.
- Mitchell AS, Sherman SM, Sommer MA, Mair RG, Vertes RP, Chudasama Y (2014) Advances in understanding mechanisms of thalamic relays in cognition and behavior. J Neurosci 34:15340–15346.
- Modinos G, Allen P, Grace AA, McGuire P (2015) Translating the MAM model of psychosis to humans. Trends in Neurosciences 38:129–138.
- Moga MM, Weis RP, Moore RY (1995) Efferent projections of the paraventricular thalamic nucleus in the rat. J Comp Neurol 359:221–238.
- Moore H, Jentsch JD, Ghajarnia M, Geyer MA, Grace AA (2006) A neurobehavioral systems analysis of adult rats exposed to methylazoxymethanol acetate on E17: implications for the neuropathology of schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 60:253–264.
- Moore H, Rose HJ, Grace AA (2001) Chronic cold stress reduces the spontaneous activity of ventral tegmental dopamine neurons. Neuropsychopharmacology 24:410–419.

- Moorman DE, Aston-Jones G (2010) Orexin/Hypocretin Modulates Response of Ventral Tegmental Dopamine Neurons to Prefrontal Activation: Diurnal Influences. 30:15585– 15599.
- Morales GJ, Ramcharan EJ, Sundararaman N, Morgera SD, Vertes RP (2007) Analysis of the actions of nucleus reuniens and the entorhinal cortex on EEG and evoked population behavior of the hippocampus. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2007:2480–2484.
- Morales M, Root DH (2014) Glutamate neurons within the midbrain dopamine regions. Neuroscience 282C:60–68.
- Moreines JL, Owrutsky ZL, Grace AA (2017) Involvement of Infralimbic Prefrontal Cortex but not Lateral Habenula in Dopamine Attenuation After Chronic Mild Stress. Neuropsychopharmacology 42:904–913.
- Moreno Castilla P, Pérez Ortega R, Violante Soria V, Balderas I, Bermúdez Rattoni F (2017) Hippocampal release of dopamine and norepinephrine encodes novel contextual information. Hippocampus 27:547–557.
- Mori F, Okada K-I, Nomura T, Kobayashi Y (2016) The Pedunculopontine Tegmental Nucleus as a Motor and Cognitive Interface between the Cerebellum and Basal Ganglia. Front Neuroanat 10:2169.
- Mukherjee P, Kaplan E (1995) Dynamics of neurons in the cat lateral geniculate nucleus: in vivo electrophysiology and computational modeling. Journal of Neurophysiology 74:1222–1243.
- Murty VP, Ballard IC, Adcock RA (2017) Hippocampus and Prefrontal Cortex Predict Distinct Timescales of Activation in the Human Ventral Tegmental Area. Cereb Cortex 27:1660– 1669.
- Murty VP, Ballard IC, Macduffie KE, Krebs RM, Adcock RA (2013) Hippocampal networks habituate as novelty accumulates. Learning & Memory 20:229–235.
- Navawongse R, Eichenbaum H (2013) Distinct pathways for rule-based retrieval and spatial mapping of memory representations in hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci 33:1002–1013.
- Nicolelis MAL, Fanselow EE (2002) Dynamic shifting in thalamocortical processing during different behavioural states. Phil Trans R Soc B 357:1753–1758.
- Ochsner KN, Silvers JA, Buhle JT (2012) Functional imaging studies of emotion regulation: a synthetic review and evolving model of the cognitive control of emotion. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1251:E1–E24.
- Oh JS, Kubicki M, Rosenberger G, Bouix S, Levitt JJ, McCarley RW, Westin C-F, Shenton ME (2009) Thalamo-frontal white matter alterations in chronic schizophrenia. Hum Brain Mapp 30:3812–3825.
- Ortuño T, Grieve KL, Cao R, Cudeiro J, Rivadulla C (2014) Bursting thalamic responses in

awake monkey contribute to visual detection and are modulated by corticofugal feedback. Front Behav Neurosci 8:198.

- Overton P, Clark D (1992) Iontophoretically administered drugs acting at the N-methyl-Daspartate receptor modulate burst firing in A9 dopamine neurons in the rat. Synapse 10:131– 140.
- Pakkenberg B (1990) Pronounced Reduction of Total Neuron Number in Mediodorsal Thalamic Nucleus and Nucleus Accumbens in Schizophrenics. Arch Gen Psychiatry 47:1023–1028.
- Pan W-X, Hyland BI (2005) Pedunculopontine Tegmental Nucleus Controls Conditioned Responses of Midbrain Dopamine Neurons in Behaving Rats. J Neurosci 25:4725–4732.
- Patton MH, Bizup BT, Grace AA (2013) The Infralimbic Cortex Bidirectionally Modulates Mesolimbic Dopamine Neuron Activity via Distinct Neural Pathways. J Neurosci 33:16865– 16873.
- Paxinos G, Watson C (2013) The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates, 7 ed. New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Paz JT, Bryant AS, Peng K, Fenno L, Yizhar O, Frankel WN, Deisseroth K, Huguenard JR (2011) A new mode of corticothalamic transmission revealed in the Gria4(-/-) model of absence epilepsy. Nat Neurosci 14:1167–1173.
- Penzo MA, Robert V, Tucciarone J, De Bundel D, Wang M, Van Aelst L, Darvas M, Parada LF, Palmiter RD, He M, Huang ZJ, Li B (2015) The paraventricular thalamus controls a central amygdala fear circuit. Nature 519:455–459.
- Pergola G, Selvaggi P, Trizio S, Bertolino A, Blasi G (2015) The role of the thalamus in schizophrenia from a neuroimaging perspective. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 54:57–75.
- Pergola G, Trizio S, Di Carlo P, Taurisano P, Mancini M, Amoroso N, Nettis MA, Andriola I, Caforio G, Popolizio T, Rampino A, Di Giorgio A, Bertolino A, Blasi G (2017) Grey matter volume patterns in thalamic nuclei are associated with familial risk for schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 180:13–20.

Petersen CCH (2007) The Functional Organization of the Barrel Cortex. Neuron 56:339–355.

- Pinault D (2004) The thalamic reticular nucleus: structure, function and concept. Brain Research Reviews 46:1–31.
- Pinault D (2017) A Neurophysiological Perspective on a Preventive Treatment against Schizophrenia Using Transcranial Electric Stimulation of the Corticothalamic Pathway. Brain Sci 7:34.
- Prasad JA, Abela AR, Chudasama Y (2017) Midline thalamic reuniens lesions improve executive behaviors. Neuroscience 345:77–88.

- Prasad JA, Macgregor EM, Chudasama Y (2013) Lesions of the thalamic reuniens cause impulsive but not compulsive responses. Brain Struct Funct 218:85–96.
- Pratt JA, Morris BJ (2015) The thalamic reticular nucleus: a functional hub for thalamocortical network dysfunction in schizophrenia and a target for drug discovery. J Psychopharmacol (Oxford) 29:127–137.
- Przybyszewski AW, Gaska JP, Foote W, Pollen DA (2000) Striate cortex increases contrast gain of macaque LGN neurons. Visual Neuroscience 17:485–494.
- Quirk GJ, Garcia R, González-Lima F (2006) Prefrontal Mechanisms in Extinction of Conditioned Fear. Biol Psychiatry 60:337–343.
- Rajasethupathy P, Sankaran S, Marshel JH, Kim CK, Ferenczi E, Lee SY, Berndt A, Ramakrishnan C, Jaffe A, Lo M, Liston C, Deisseroth K (2015) Projections from neocortex mediate top-down control of memory retrieval. Nature 526:653–659.
- Ramcharan EJ, Gnadt JW, Sherman SM (2005) Higher-order thalamic relays burst more than first-order relays. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:12236–12241.
- Rasetti R, Mattay VS, White MG, Sambataro F, Podell JE, Zoltick B, Chen Q, Berman KF, Callicott JH, Weinberger DR (2014) Altered hippocampal-parahippocampal function during stimulus encoding: a potential indicator of genetic liability for schizophrenia. JAMA Psychiatry 71:236–247.
- Reagh ZM, Murray EA, Yassa MA (2017) Repetition reveals ups and downs of hippocampal, thalamic, and neocortical engagement during mnemonic decisions. Hippocampus 27:169–183.
- Rosenkranz JA, Grace AA (2001) Dopamine attenuates prefrontal cortical suppression of sensory inputs to the basolateral amygdala of rats. J Neurosci 21:4090–4103.
- Rosenkranz JA, Grace AA (2002) Dopamine-mediated modulation of odour-evoked amygdala potentials during pavlovian conditioning. Nature 417:282–287.
- Roth BL (2016) DREADDs for Neuroscientists. Neuron 89:683-694.
- Roy A, Svensson FP, Mazeh A, Kocsis B (2017) Prefrontal-hippocampal coupling by theta rhythm and by 2–5 Hz oscillation in the delta band: The role of the nucleus reuniens of the thalamus. Brain Struct Funct:1–12.
- Russchen FT, Amaral DG, Price JL (1987) The afferent input to the magnocellular division of the mediodorsal thalamic nucleus in the monkey, Macaca fascicularis. J Comp Neurol 256:175–210.
- Russo SJ, Nestler EJ (2013) The brain reward circuitry in mood disorders. Nat Rev Neurosci 14:609–625.

- Saalmann YB (2014) Intralaminar and medial thalamic influence on cortical synchrony, information transmission and cognition. Front Syst Neurosci 8:83.
- Saalmann YB, Pinsk MA, Wang L, Li X, Kastner S (2012) The pulvinar regulates information transmission between cortical areas based on attention demands. Science 337:753–756.
- Saloman JL, Scheff NN, Snyder LM, Ross SE, Davis BM, Gold MS (2016) Gi-DREADD Expression in Peripheral Nerves Produces Ligand-Dependent Analgesia, as well as Ligand-Independent Functional Changes in Sensory Neurons. J Neurosci 36:10769–10781.
- Samudra N, Ivleva EI, Hubbard NA, Rypma B, Sweeney JA, Clementz BA, Keshavan MS, Pearlson GD, Tamminga CA (2015) Alterations in hippocampal connectivity across the psychosis dimension. Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging 233:148–157.
- Sánchez-González MÁ, García-Cabezas MÁ, Rico B, Cavada C (2005) The Primate Thalamus Is a Key Target for Brain Dopamine. J Neurosci 25:6076–6083.
- Schobel SA, Chaudhury NH, Khan UA, Paniagua B, Styner MA, Asllani I, Inbar BP, Corcoran CM, Lieberman JA, Moore H, Small SA (2013) Imaging patients with psychosis and a mouse model establishes a spreading pattern of hippocampal dysfunction and implicates glutamate as a driver. Neuron 78:81–93.
- Schultz W (2007) Behavioral dopamine signals. Trends in Neurosciences 30:203-210.
- Sesack SR, Deutch AY, Roth RH, Bunney BS (1989a) Topographical organization of the efferent projections of the medial prefrontal cortex in the rat: An anterograde tract-tracing study with Phaseolus vulgaris leucoagglutinin. J Comp Neurol 290:213–242.
- Sesack SR, Deutch AY, Roth RH, Bunney BS (1989b) Topographical organization of the efferent projections of the medial prefrontal cortex in the rat: an anterograde tract-tracing study with Phaseolus vulgaris leucoagglutinin. J Comp Neurol 290:213–242.
- Sesack SR, Grace AA (2010) Cortico-Basal Ganglia reward network: microcircuitry. Neuropsychopharmacology 35:27–47.
- Sesack SR, Hawrylak VA, Matus C, Guido MA, Levey AI (1998) Dopamine axon varicosities in the prelimbic division of the rat prefrontal cortex exhibit sparse immunoreactivity for the dopamine transporter. J Neurosci 18:2697–2708.
- Sherman SM (1996) Dual response modes in lateral geniculate neurons: Mechanisms and functions. Visual Neuroscience 13:205–213.
- Sherman SM (2001a) A wake-up call from the thalamus. Nat Neurosci 4:344–346.
- Sherman SM (2001b) Tonic and burst firing: dual modes of thalamocortical relay. Trends in Neurosciences 24:122–126.
- Sherman SM (2004) Interneurons and triadic circuitry of the thalamus. Trends in Neurosciences

27:670-675.

Sherman SM (2016) Thalamus plays a central role in ongoing cortical functioning. Nat Neurosci 16:533–541.

Sherman SM, Guillery RW (2001) Exploring the thalamus. Boston, MA: MIT Press.

- Sierra RO, Pedraza LK, Zanona QK, Santana F, Boos FZ, Crestani AP, Haubrich J, de Oliveira Alvares L, Calcagnotto ME, Quillfeldt JA (2017) Reconsolidation-induced rescue of a remote fear memory blocked by an early cortical inhibition: Involvement of the anterior cingulate cortex and the mediation by the thalamic nucleus reuniens. Hippocampus 27:596–607.
- Silbersweig DA, Stern E, Frith C, Cahill C, Holmes A, Grootoonk S, Seaward J, McKenna P, Chua SE, Schnorr L (1995) A functional neuroanatomy of hallucinations in schizophrenia. Nature 378:176–179.
- Smith KS, Bucci DJ, Luikart BW, Mahler SV (2016) DREADDS: Use and application in behavioral neuroscience. Behavioral neuroscience 130:137–155.
- Smith RE, Haroutunian V, Davis KL, Meador-Woodruff JH (2001) Expression of excitatory amino acid transporter transcripts in the thalamus of subjects with schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 158:1393–1399.
- Sotres-Bayon F, Quirk GJ (2010) Prefrontal control of fear: more than just extinction. Current Opinion in Neurobiology 20:231–235.
- Spellman T, Rigotti M, Ahmari SE, Fusi S, Gogos JA, Gordon JA (2015) Hippocampalprefrontal input supports spatial encoding in working memory. Nature 522:309–314.
- Stamatakis AM, Jennings JH, Ung RL, Blair GA, Weinberg RJ, Neve RL, Boyce F, Mattis J, Ramakrishnan C, Deisseroth K, Stuber GD (2013) A Unique Population of Ventral Tegmental Area Neurons Inhibits the Lateral Habenula to Promote Reward. Neuron 80:1039–1053.
- Steriade M (2001) To burst, or rather, not to burst. Nat Neurosci 4:671–671.
- Steriade M, Domich L, Oakson G, Deschenes M (1987) The deafferented reticular thalamic nucleus generates spindle rhythmicity. Journal of Neurophysiology 57:260–273.
- Steriade M, McCormick DA, Sejnowski TJ (1993) Thalamocortical oscillations in the sleeping and aroused brain. Science 262:679–685.
- Su HS, Bentivoglio M (1990) Thalamic midline cell populations projecting to the nucleus accumbens, amygdala, and hippocampus in the rat. J Comp Neurol 297:582–593.
- Swadlow HA (2002) Thalamocortical control of feed-forward inhibition in awake somatosensory "barrel" cortex. Phil Trans R Soc B 357:1717–1727.

- Swadlow HA, Gusev AG (2001) The impact of "bursting" thalamic impulses at a neocortical synapse. Nat Neurosci 4:402–408.
- Swadlow HA, Weyand TG (1987) Corticogeniculate neurons, corticotectal neurons, and suspected interneurons in visual cortex of awake rabbits: receptive-field properties, axonal properties, and effects of EEG arousal. Journal of Neurophysiology 57:977–1001.
- Talati P, Rane S, Kose S, Gore J, Heckers S (2014) Anterior–posterior cerebral blood volume gradient in human subiculum. Hippocampus 24:503–509.
- Théberge J, Bartha R, Drost DJ (2002) Glutamate and Glutamine Measured With 4.0 T Proton MRS in Never-Treated Patients With Schizophrenia and Healthy Volunteers. American Journal of Psychiatry 159:1944–1946.
- Tregellas JR, Davalos DB, Rojas DC, Waldo MC, Gibson L, Wylie K, Du YP, Freedman R (2007a) Increased hemodynamic response in the hippocampus, thalamus and prefrontal cortex during abnormal sensory gating in schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 92:262–272.
- Tregellas JR, Davalos DB, Rojas DC, Waldo MC, Gibson L, Wylie K, Du YP, Freedman R (2007b) Increased hemodynamic response in the hippocampus, thalamus and prefrontal cortex during abnormal sensory gating in schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 92:262–272.
- Tregellas JR, Smucny J, Harris JG, Olincy A, Maharajh K, Kronberg E, Eichman LC, Lyons E, Freedman R (2014) Intrinsic hippocampal activity as a biomarker for cognition and symptoms in schizophrenia. American Journal of Psychiatry 171:549–556.
- Ungless MA, Argilli E, Bonci A (2010) Effects of stress and aversion on dopamine neurons: Implications for addiction. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 35:151–156.
- Ungless MA, Grace AA (2012) Are you or aren't you? Challenges associated with physiologically identifying dopamine neurons. Trends in Neurosciences 35:422–430.
- Valenti O, Gill KM, Grace AA (2012) Different stressors produce excitation or inhibition of mesolimbic dopamine neuron activity: response alteration by stress pre-exposure. European Journal of Neuroscience 35:1312–1321.
- Valenti O, Lodge DJ, Grace AA (2011) Aversive stimuli alter ventral tegmental area dopamine neuron activity via a common action in the ventral hippocampus. J Neurosci 31:4280–4289.
- van Kammen DP, van Kammen WB, Mann LS, Seppala T, Linnoila M (1986) Dopamine metabolism in the cerebrospinal fluid of drug-free schizophrenic patients with and without cortical atrophy. Arch Gen Psychiatry 43:978–983.
- Varela C, Kumar S, Yang JY, Wilson MA (2014) Anatomical substrates for direct interactions between hippocampus, medial prefrontal cortex, and the thalamic nucleus reuniens. Brain Struct Funct 219:911–929.

- Varela C, Sherman SM (2009) Differences in response to serotonergic activation between first and higher order thalamic nuclei. Cereb Cortex 19:1776–1786.
- Vertes RP (2002) Analysis of projections from the medial prefrontal cortex to the thalamus in the rat, with emphasis on nucleus reuniens. J Comp Neurol 442:163–187.
- Vertes RP (2003) Differential projections of the infralimbic and prelimbic cortex in the rat. Synapse 51:32–58.
- Vertes RP (2006) Interactions among the medial prefrontal cortex, hippocampus and midline thalamus in emotional and cognitive processing in the rat. Neuroscience 142:1–20.
- Vertes RP, Hoover WB (2008) Projections of the paraventricular and paratenial nuclei of the dorsal midline thalamus in the rat. J Comp Neurol 508:212–237.
- Vertes RP, Hoover WB, Do Valle AC, Sherman A, Rodriguez JJ (2006) Efferent projections of reuniens and rhomboid nuclei of the thalamus in the rat. J Comp Neurol 499:768–796.
- Vertes RP, Linley SB, Hoover WB (2015) Limbic circuitry of the midline thalamus. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 54:89–107.
- Vetere G, Kenney JW, Tran LM, Xia F, Steadman PE, Parkinson J, Josselyn SA, Frankland PW (2017) Chemogenetic Interrogation of a Brain-wide Fear Memory Network in Mice. Neuron 94:363–374.e364.
- Walsh DA, Brown JT, Randall AD (2017) In vitro characterization of cell-level neurophysiological diversity in the rostral nucleus reuniens of adult mice. The Journal of Physiology 595:3549–3572.
- Wamsley EJ, Tucker MA, Shinn AK, Ono KE, McKinley SK, Ely AV, Goff DC, Stickgold R, Manoach DS (2012) Reduced sleep spindles and spindle coherence in schizophrenia: Mechanisms of impaired memory consolidation? Biol Psychiatry 71:154–161.
- Watabe-Uchida M, Zhu L, Ogawa SK, Vamanrao A, Uchida N (2012) Whole-Brain Mapping of Direct Inputs to Midbrain Dopamine Neurons. Neuron 74:858–873.
- Wei H, Bonjean M, Petry HM, Sejnowski TJ, Bickford ME (2011) Thalamic Burst Firing Propensity: A Comparison of the Dorsal Lateral Geniculate and Pulvinar Nuclei in the Tree Shrew. J Neurosci 31:17287–17299.
- Weinstein JJ, Chohan MO, Slifstein M, Kegeles LS, Moore H, Abi-Dargham A (2017) Pathway-Specific Dopamine Abnormalities in Schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 81:31–42.
- Weiss AP, Goff D, Schacter DL, Ditman T, Freudenreich O, Henderson D, Heckers S (2006) Fronto-Hippocampal Function During Temporal Context Monitoring in Schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 60:1268–1277.

Weiss AP, Zalesak M, DeWitt I, Goff D, Kunkel L, Heckers S (2004) Impaired hippocampal

function during the detection of novel words in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 55:668-675.

- Wells MF, Wimmer RD, Schmitt LI, Feng G, Halassa MM (2016) Thalamic reticular impairment underlies attention deficit in Ptchd1Y/– mice. Nature 532:58–63.
- Welsh RC, Chen AC, Taylor SF (2008) Low-Frequency BOLD Fluctuations Demonstrate Altered Thalamocortical Connectivity in Schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 36:713–722.
- White IM, Whitaker C, White W (2006) Amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion in rats: Hippocampal modulation of the nucleus accumbens. Hippocampus 16:596–603.
- Whitmire CJ, Waiblinger C, Schwarz C, Stanley GB (2016) Information Coding through Adaptive Gating of Synchronized Thalamic Bursting. Cell Reports 14:795–807.
- Williams LE, Blackford JU, Luksik A, Gauthier I, Heckers S (2013) Reduced habituation in patients with schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 151:124–132.
- Wimmer RD, Schmitt LI, Davidson TJ, Nakajima M, Deisseroth K, Halassa MM (2015) Thalamic control of sensory selection in divided attention. Nature 526:705–709.
- Winton-Brown TT, Fusar-Poli P, Ungless MA, Howes OD (2014) Dopaminergic basis of salience dysregulation in psychosis. Trends in Neurosciences 37:85–94.
- Wolfart J, Debay D, Le Masson G, Destexhe A, Bal T (2005) Synaptic background activity controls spike transfer from thalamus to cortex. Nat Neurosci 8:1760–1767.
- Woodward ND, Heckers S (2016) Mapping Thalamocortical Functional Connectivity in Chronic and Early Stages of Psychotic Disorders. Biol Psychiatry 79:1016–1025.
- Woodward ND, Karbasforoushan H, Heckers S (2012) Thalamocortical dysconnectivity in schizophrenia. American Journal of Psychiatry 169:1092–1099.
- Wouterlood FG, Saldana E, Witter MP (1990) Projection from the nucleus reuniens thalami to the hippocampal region: light and electron microscopic tracing study in the rat with the anterograde tracer Phaseolus vulgaris-leucoagglutinin. J Comp Neurol 296:179–203.
- Wurtz RH (2009) Recounting the impact of Hubel and Wiesel. The Journal of Physiology 587:2817–2823.
- Wyss JM, Swanson LW, Cowan WM (1979) A study of subcortical afferents to the hippocampal formation in the rat. Neuroscience 4:463–476.
- Xu W, Südhof TC (2013) A neural circuit for memory specificity and generalization. Science 339:1290–1295.
- Yanagihara M, Niimi K, Ono K (1987) Thalamic projections to the hippocampal and entorhinal areas in the cat. J Comp Neurol 266:122–141.

Yeterian EH, Pandya DN (1988) Corticothalamic connections of paralimbic regions in the rhesus

monkey. J Comp Neurol 269:130-146.

- Yetnikoff L, Lavezzi HN, Reichard RA, Zahm DS (2014) An update on the connections of the ventral mesencephalic dopaminergic complex. Neuroscience 282:23–48.
- Yoon JH, Minzenberg MJ, Raouf S, D'Esposito M, Carter CS (2013) Impaired prefrontal-basal ganglia functional connectivity and substantia nigra hyperactivity in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 74:122–129.
- Young KA, Manaye KF, Liang C-L, Hicks PB, German DC (2000) Reduced number of mediodorsal and anterior thalamic neurons in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 47:944–953.
- Zelikowsky M, Bissiere S, Hast TA, Bennett RZ, Abdipranoto A, Vissel B, Fanselow MS (2013) Prefrontal microcircuit underlies contextual learning after hippocampal loss. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 110:9938–9943.
- Zhan XJ, Cox CL, Rinzel J, Sherman SM (1999) Current clamp and modeling studies of lowthreshold calcium spikes in cells of the cat's lateral geniculate nucleus. Journal of Neurophysiology 81:2360–2373.
- Zhang Y, Yoshida T, Katz DB, Lisman JE (2012) NMDAR antagonist action in thalamus imposes δ oscillations on the hippocampus. Journal of Neurophysiology 107:3181–3189.
- Zhang ZJ, Reynolds GP (2002) A selective decrease in the relative density of parvalbuminimmunoreactive neurons in the hippocampus in schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 55:1–10.
- Zhou Y, Shu N, Liu Y, Song M, Hao Y, Liu H, Yu C, Liu Z, Jiang T (2008) Altered resting-state functional connectivity and anatomical connectivity of hippocampus in schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 100:120–132.
- Zimmerman EC, Grace AA (2016) The Nucleus Reuniens of the Midline Thalamus Gates Prefrontal-Hippocampal Modulation of Ventral Tegmental Area Dopamine Neuron Activity. J Neurosci 36:8977–8984.